Technische Universität München

Fakultät für Maschinenwesen Lehrstuhl für Fahrzeugtechnik

Automated Development of Modular Systems for the Vehicle Front of Passenger Cars Matthias Frank Felgenhauer, M. Sc.

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der Fakultät für Maschinenwesen der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades eines

Doktor-Ingenieurs

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitzender:

Prüfer der Dissertation:

Prof. Dr. Markus Zimmermann

- 1. Prof. Dr.-Ing. Markus Lienkamp
- Prof. Dr. Warren Seering, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Boston, USA

Die Dissertation wurde am 20.02.2019 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die Fakultät für Maschinenwesen am 12.07.2019 angenommen

Acknowledgment

This work was carried out in the years 2015 to 2019, during my occupation as a research assistant at the Institute of Automotive Technology of the Technical University of Munich and in cooperation with the Vehicle Concept Development Department of the AUDI AG. Further collaboration was during two research visits, with Professor Warren Seering from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology in the USA and with the IMVS Team of TUMCREATE in Singapore. I want to express my gratitude to all the people, without whom this work would not have been possible.

Foremost, I want to thank my advisor Professor Markus Lienkamp for the numerous discussions in which he continuously challenged my topic with valuable feedback and gave guidance. This helped me to strive for the best possible results. Also, I appreciate the freedom he gave me, thus making possible the research visits to MIT and TUMCREATE in the first place.

I also owe my deepest gratitude to Professor Warren Seering, who gave me the opportunity to work with him for over five months at MIT. The multitude of meetings in which we discussed my research gave me the chance to review my work from a general product development perspective.

It is an honor for me to thank my supervisors Frank Züge, Frank Schöpe, and Alois Stauber of the Vehicle Concept Development Department at the AUDI AG. They gave me the chance to work on this challenging research field and supported me with their incredible experience during uncountable hours of discussions. I am also grateful to my colleagues at the AUDI AG, namely Maximilian Heinrich and Thomas Meier, who helped me with various questions and problems during my research.

Besides, this research would not have been possible without the A2Mac1 benchmarking database. Therefore, I am thankful for the access to this database granted by Wilhelm König and Markus Enk of A2Mac1.

Furthermore, I want to thank my colleagues at the Institute of Automotive Technology, especially Christian Angerer, Ganesh Sethuraman, Ferdinand Schockenhoff, and Johannes Stocker for the three years in which we supported each other within our research projects and personal development. It is amazing that most of our collaborative work resulted in publications.

I am also grateful for the three months I could spend at the IMVS Team in Singapore. It was a pleasure to work on the future of mobility in megacities with this fantastic team.

In addition, I want to acknowledge all the students who supported this work with their bachelor's-, term-, and master's theses. This work would not have been possible without your contributions.

Moreover, I am thankful to my friends for always supporting and motivating me during ups as well as downs.

Last but not least, I want to express my deepest gratitude to my parents Martina and Hans-Peter as well as my brothers Markus and Christian. Since day one of my life, my parents supported me in all possible ways, so that I could focus on fulfilling my dreams. Therefore, this work would not have been possible without their lifelong support. My brothers and I always challenge and trigger each other with new ideas and projects. Without them, I would have missed out on some of the greatest adventures of my life.

Ottobrunn, February 2019

Matthias Frank Felgenhauer

.

Table of Contents

Li	ist of Abl	breviations	III			
Li	ist of Def	finitions	V			
Li	ist of Syr	nbols	VII			
1	Introd	Introduction				
	1.1	Research Motivation	1			
	1.2	Research Objective	4			
	1.3	Thesis Structure	4			
2	State	of the Art	7			
	2.1	Overview of Vehicle Concept Development	7			
	2.1.1	Position in the overall vehicle development process	7			
	2.1.2	Main objective of vehicle concept development	8			
	2.1.3	General process of vehicle concept development	10			
	2.1.4	Process of the development of multiple vehicle concepts	12			
	2.2	Development of Modular Systems	15			
	2.2.1	Modular systems development process	15			
	2.2.2	Challenges of the modular systems development process	16			
	2.3	Existing Methods Related to Modular Systems Development	17			
	2.4	Research Gap	22			
3	Metho	od	23			
	3.1	Requirements and Boundaries of the Method	23			
	3.2	Overview of the Method	24			
	3.3	Requirement Definition	26			
	3.3.1	Input of requirements				
	3.3.2	Conversion of requirements	28			
	3.4	Architecture Generation	35			
	3.4.1	Geometric substitute models				
	3.4.2	Synthesis of vehicle architectures	47			
	3.4.3	Derivation of the available installation space				

	3.4.4	Comparison of the required and the available installation space	52
	3.5	Derivation of Modular Systems	57
	3.5.1	Identification of modules	59
	3.5.2	Derivation of architectural standards	64
	3.6	Application of the Method	68
4	Evalu	ation	71
	4.1	Evaluation of Vehicle Architectures	71
	4.1.1	Database for the evaluation	71
	4.1.2	Procedure for the evaluation	73
	4.1.3	First stage of the evaluation	75
	4.1.4	Second stage of the evaluation	
	4.1.5	Discussion of the architecture generation	
	4.2	Evaluation of Modular Systems	
	4.2 4.2.1	Evaluation of Modular Systems Database of the evaluation	
	4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2	Evaluation of Modular Systems Database of the evaluation Procedure for the evaluation	
	4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3	Evaluation of Modular Systems Database of the evaluation Procedure for the evaluation Results of the evaluation	
	4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4	Evaluation of Modular Systems Database of the evaluation Procedure for the evaluation Results of the evaluation Discussion of the Derivation of Modular Systems	87 87 87 87 87 88 88 89
5	4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 Discu	Evaluation of Modular Systems Database of the evaluation Procedure for the evaluation Results of the evaluation Discussion of the Derivation of Modular Systems Ssion	87 87 88 88 89 92 92
5 6	4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 Discu Concl	Evaluation of Modular Systems Database of the evaluation Procedure for the evaluation Results of the evaluation Discussion of the Derivation of Modular Systems ssion usion and Outlook	87 87 88 88 89 92 92 95 99
5 6 Li:	4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 Discu Concl st of Fig	Evaluation of Modular Systems Database of the evaluation Procedure for the evaluation Results of the evaluation Discussion of the Derivation of Modular Systems ssion usion and Outlook ures	87 87 88 88 89 92 92 95 99
5 6 Li:	4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 Discu Concl st of Fig	Evaluation of Modular Systems Database of the evaluation Procedure for the evaluation Results of the evaluation Discussion of the Derivation of Modular Systems ssion usion and Outlook ures	87 87 88 88 99 92 95 99
5 6 Li: Re	4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 Discu Concl st of Fig st of Tak	Evaluation of Modular Systems Database of the evaluation Procedure for the evaluation Results of the evaluation Discussion of the Derivation of Modular Systems ssion usion and Outlook ures	87 87 88 88 99 92 95 99
5 6 Li: Re Li:	4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2 4.2.3 4.2.4 Discu Concl st of Fig st of Tak eference st of Pul	Evaluation of Modular Systems Database of the evaluation Procedure for the evaluation Results of the evaluation Discussion of the Derivation of Modular Systems ssion usion and Outlook ures bles.	87 87 88 89 92 92 95 99

List of Abbreviations

ADAC	Allgemeine Deutsche Automobil-Club
AIS	Available Installation Space
AMS	Auto Motor und Sport
ASM	Asynchronous Machine
BEV	Battery Electric Vehicle
BOF	Ball-of-Foot
CAD	Computer-Aided Design
DC	Length of the Dimensional Chain
FCEV	Fuel Cell Electric Vehicle
GCIE	Global Car Manufacturers Information Exchange
GUI	Graphical User Interface
HEV	Hybrid Vehicle
ICEV	Internal Combustion Engine Vehicle
LDS	Longitudinal Dynamics Simulation
MLB	"Modularer Längsbaukasten"
MLBevo	"Modularer Längsbaukasten" in the second generation
MSM	Modular Systems Matrix
MVCDP	Multiple Vehicle Concept Development Process
nMAE	Normalized Mean Absolute Error
OOST	Out-of-Sample Test
PACE	Parametric Automotive Concept Engineer
PHEV	Plug-In Hybrid Vehicle
PSM	Permanent Synchronous Machine
RCAR	Research Council for Automobile Repairs
SgRP	Seating Reference Point
SOP	Start of Production

VCDP Vehicle Concept Development Process

List of Definitions

The following provides a list of the most important terms of this thesis and the authors definition and use of them.

Cross-vehicle module	Component variant, which finds application in multiple vehicle mod- els and vehicle variants
Dimensional chain	Chain of component sizes and distances between ambient compo- nents within a start and end point along a defined coordinate direction
External variance	Total number of vehicle models and vehicle variants offered by an automotive manufacturer
Geometric substitute model	Empirical and semi-physical model, which converts requirements into component sizes and distances between components
Internal variance	Total number of component variants and position variants used by an automotive manufacturer
Method and tool	Development approach/procedure and the implementation in a soft- ware tool
Modular system	Set of different vehicle models with various vehicle variants, that share unified architectural standards and use cross-vehicle modules
Unified architectural standard	Element of the vehicle architecture standardized among multiple ve- hicle models and vehicle variants
Vehicle architecture	Body structure as well as dimensions and installation positions of the largest and for the functionality most important components
Vehicle concept	Preliminary representation of a vehicle which fulfills the require- ments demanded
Vehicle model	A vehicle, as one combination of vehicle segments and body types
Vehicle variant	Variant of a vehicle model with one combination of performance classes, drive types, and drivetrain types

List of Symbols

Symbol	Unit	Description
α		Constant term
A_A	m²	Vehicle front surface
$AIS_{EC/X}$	mm	Available installation space of the engine compartment in the x-direction
$a_{max,T}$	m/s²	Maximum acceleration due to traction limit
a_{min}	m/s²	Minimum acceleration
$a_{V,t}$	m/s²	Acceleration at the current time step
eta_i		Gradient term
b	mm	Bore diameter
γ_i		Gradient term
CS	mm	Cylinder spacing
c_W	-	c _w -value
C _{RR}	-	Rolling resistance
δ_i		Gradient term
D		Dependent variable (dimension)
$d_{BB-CS/x}$	mm	Distance between the bumper beam and the cooling system in the x-direction
$d_{CS-E/x}$	mm	Distance between the cooling system and the engine in the x- direction
$d_{E-BW/x}$	mm	Distance between the engine and the bulk wall in the x- direction
$DC_{EC/X}$	mm	Length of the dimensional chain over the engine in the engine compartment
$d_{PP/x}$	mm	Pedestrian protection distance in the x-direction
ОН	mm	Front overhang of the vehicle
g	m/s²	Force of gravity
i_{G_1}	-	Transmission ratio of the first gear speed
i_{G_a}	-	Minimum transmission ratio for minimum acceleration
i _{Gcl}	-	Minimum transmission ratio for climbing

i _{Gcr}	-	Minimum transmission ratio for creep velocity
i_{G_n}	-	Transmission ratio of the engaged gear speed (with differential)
i_{G_p}	-	Maximum transmission ratio for producibility
i_{G_t}	-	Maximum transmission ratio for traction limit
λ	-	Rotational inertia factor
L _{CB}	mm	Cylinder block length
L _{OH}	mm	Engine overhang length
L_E	mm	Engine length
$m_{V,L}$	kg	Loaded vehicle weight (varies according to scenario)
$m_{V,0}$	kg	Vehicle curb weight
η_{dr}	-	Efficiency of the drivetrain
η_{Mod}	-	Level of modularization
n_{C}	-	Number of cylinders
n _{c,Max}	-	Maximum number of components
$n_{E,Min}$	1/min	Idle speed of the engine
n_{Mod}	-	Actual number of modules
$n_{Mod,Min}$	-	Minimum number of components
$ ho_A$	kg/m³	Air density
PM	mm	Prestige measure
$P_{v_{max}}$	kW	Required engine power for maximum velocity
q	٥	Slope angle (varies according to scenario)
r_{dyn}	m	Dynamic rolling radius
r_{SB}	-	Stroke-bore ratio
S	mm	Stroke
$S_{BB/x}$	mm	Bumper beam thickness in the x-direction
$S_{BW/x}$	mm	Bulk wall thickness in the x-direction
s _{cs/x}	mm	Cooling system thickness in the x-direction
$S_{E/x}$	mm	Engine length in the x-direction
$S_{LCP/x}$	mm	License plate thickness in the x-direction
$S_{PE/x}$	mm	Pedal system size in the x-direction
$T_{E,Max}$	Nm	Maximum torque of the engine
$T_{E,t}$	Nm	Engine torque at the current time step

CM ³	Optimal cylinder swept volume
cm ³	Cylinder swept volume
m/s	Creep velocity
	1 to j binary explanatory variables
cm ³	Engine displacement volume
cm ³	Engine displacement volume of gas naturally aspirated en- gines
cm³	Engine displacement volume of diesel supercharged engines
cm ³	Engine displacement volume of gas supercharged engines
m/s	Maximum velocity
	1 to i metric explanatory variables
m/s	Lower/upper tolerance velocity
m/s	Velocity at the current time step
	cm ³ cm ³ cm ³ cm ³ cm ³ cm ³ m/s m/s

1 Introduction

1.1 Research Motivation

The automotive industry has come a long way since FORD said in 1922 "Any customer can have a car painted any color that he wants so long as it is black" [1, p. 72]. Following the megatrends of globalization, mass customization, and environmental protection, automotive manufacturers nowadays offer their customers a high number of product variants [2, p. 2, 3, p. 115, 4, p. 12, 5, pp. 19-20]. The vehicles, for example, differ in their segments and body types, performance classes as well as drivetrains (Figure 1.1).



Figure 1.1: Examples of different segments and body types, performance classes, and drivetrain types (Image Sources: [6–12])

The offered products and the global revenue share of the AUDI AG exemplify these trends and the increase in variance (Figure 1.2). While in 2006, only 13 vehicle models were available as a combination of a segment and body type, the number rose to 25 in 2016 [13, p. 145, 14, p. 152, 15, p. 112]. Comparing the revenue shares of the company within the same period shows the increasing globalization, as the revenue share decreased in Europe and increased in other regions such as North America and Asia [13, p. 202, 14, p. 245, 15, p. 241]. In a previous publication [16], the author provides further details about the product variants in the automotive industry.



Figure 1.2: Transformation of the global revenue share and the number of vehicle models of the AUDI AG, based on [16, p. 2]

While the growing number of product variants attracts more customers and increases revenues, it also enhances the complexity in the development and production of vehicles. This ultimately leads to an increase in development and production costs [17, p. 156, 18, p. 284].

To overcome the high complexity as the downside of the variance, automotive manufacturers avoid the individual design of vehicles. Instead, they use methods which build different vehicles on the same foundation. This, on the one hand, allows a high external variance [18, p. 285, 19, p. 12, 20, pp. 22-23], meaning the variance selectable by the customers, such as the vehicle segment, the body type, the performance class, and the drivetrain type. On the other hand, it reduces the internal variance and thus the complexity in terms of the variance of components and installation positions not relevant to the customer.

A modular system is an approach used by most automotive manufacturers with a large number of product variants [21, p. 53]. It has the potential to cover a wide external variance while reducing the internal variance. Within a modular system, various vehicles of different segments have vehicle architectures that share unified architectural standards, such as the drive type, the engine installation position, and the chassis type [3, p. 120]. In this context, a vehicle architecture defines the body structure as well as dimensions and installation positions of the components [19, p. 18] most important for the overall vehicle functionality and with the largest dimensions. Examples of these components are the engine, the gearbox, the chassis, and the cooling system. Also within a modular system, some components such as engines are used across almost all vehicles as modules [19, p. 11]. However, other components and installation positions may vary between the different vehicles. An example of a modular system is the "*Modularer Längsbaukasten*" (MLB) lead developed by the AUDI AG. In the second generation (MLBevo), this modular system uses unified architectural standards, such as the longitudinal engine installation, the multi-link chassis, and the front- or all-wheel drive type. Modules exist as for example within the engines and gearboxes. The modular system covers over ten vehicles across three segments and five brands (Figure 1.3) [22, p. 15]. Hereby, the vehicle segments follow the designation of the AUDI AG and LIENKAMP [31, 1.0-58]

		B-Segment	C-Segment	D-Segment
AUDI		A4, A5, Q5	A6, A7, Q7, Q8	A8
Bentley	BENTLEY		Bentayga	
Lamborg	ghini	E State	Urus	
Porsche			Cayenne	
Volkswa	igen		Touareg	

Figure 1.3: Vehicles of the "*Modularer Längsbaukasten*" in the second generation (MLBevo) [22, pp. 4-5, 23, p. 10, 24] (Image Sources: [6, 25, 26])

The development of modular systems is part of the vehicle concept development and one of the earliest phases of the overall vehicle development process. Hereby, the task is to generate for multiple vehicles the vehicle architectures with unified architectural standards and cross-vehicle modules.

The first step of the process for the development of a modular system is, therefore, generating conceivable vehicle architectures for each vehicle [27, p. 2]. It is important to note that at this early stage, the solution space for the architectures is high. For each component, a multitude of alternatives is available, as for example, the in-line and V-type combustion engines. Similarly, there are various alternatives for the installation positions of components. Alternatives for engine installation positions are longitudinal and transversal installations. This leads to a large number of possible vehicle architectures. In the second step, concept engineers analyze whether, within the feasible architectures of the individual vehicles, unified architectural standards and cross-vehicle modules exist [27, p. 2]. If none are available, it is possible that the generated architectures did not contemplate any suitable component and position alternatives. Besides, there are conflicts of interests between the requirements, such as demanding performance requirements and limited exterior dimensions or between the external and internal variance. Solving these problems requires iterations with adjusted dimensions, vehicle architectures, requirements as well as a reduced variability of the vehicles.

In practice, the holistic development of modular systems is too complicated and time-consuming. Due to the large number of vehicles as well as the numerous component and position alternatives, concept engineers would need to generate hundreds of thousands of architectures. Consequently, automotive manufacturers limit the solution space of the modular system. Based on predecessor vehicles and benchmarks, some architectural standards and modules are predefined [27, p. 3]. This reduces the complexity as well as the required time for the development of the modular system. However, the process still requires time-consuming iterations to solve conflicts of interests. Furthermore, it is possible that with the limited solution space and the considered component or position alternatives only an inferior or no solution is available for the modular system.

In addition to the development of a modular system, automotive manufacturers make a financial assessment based on expected production and sales figures. However, this is not within the scope of this thesis.

1.2 Research Objective

Automotive manufacturers are only able to offer an increasing number of product variants due to the limitation of the internal variance with modular systems. However, the current process for the development of modular systems is time-consuming due to many iterations. Also, the process is not holistic, as it is too complex to consider all conceivable solutions.

The research objective of this thesis is to enable the rapid and holistic development of modular systems. Therefore, this thesis focuses on the development of a method and its implementation in a software tool to automatically generate hundreds of thousands of architectures and to identify unified architectural standards and cross-vehicle modules for multiple vehicle variants of different vehicle models. If no solution is available, fast iterations are possible.

The method is requirement-based and holistic, due to the use of continuous scalable geometric substitute models and the permutation of all conceivable component and installation position alternatives. In addition, it is systematic and transparent due to the use of dimensional chains. The author illustrates the method using the example of the vehicle front of passenger cars.

Applying the method, concept engineers can develop modular systems under holistic consideration of the solution space and with fast iterations. This allows the identification of the best solution as well as the reduction of development times.

This thesis also contributes to the systematization of the vehicle concept development and the modular systems development. Notably, the development of geometric substitute models and the structuring of dimensional chains enable a holistic and yet systematic as well as transparent concept development. Therefore, this lays the foundation for further research into vehicle concept development and modular systems development.

1.3 Thesis Structure

This thesis is divided into six chapters (Figure 1.4). The first chapter outlines the need for a method for the automated development of modular systems. Afterward, the author describes the state of the art regarding vehicle concept development and modular systems development in the

second chapter. Moreover, the presentation of existing methods in this chapter leads to the derivation of a research gap. Based on the research gap, the third chapter presents the method for the automated development of modular systems within the vehicle front of passenger cars. The fourth chapter evaluates the functionality of the method using existing series vehicles and modular systems. Afterward, in chapter 5, the author discusses the overall method and its application. Finally, chapter 6 provides the conclusion and outlook.



Figure 1.4: Overview of the thesis structure

2 State of the Art

The development of modular systems is part of the vehicle concept development. Therefore, this chapter at first gives an overview of the vehicle concept development and the vehicle concept development process. Afterward, the author provides detailed information about the process of developing modular systems. Subsequently, a description of related methods and tools as well as the identification of a research gap follows.

It is important to note that the following chapter intends to give an overview of the vehicle development processes for passenger cars. The terminologies and description focus on the development of new vehicles and may vary with other development projects such as face-lifts. Furthermore, the exact scope and implementation vary depending on the automotive manufacturer. However, the author's project experience and discussions with experts at the Vehicle Concept Development Department of the AUDI AG [28, 29] lay the foundation for the following descriptions.

2.1 Overview of Vehicle Concept Development

The main objective of the vehicle concept development is the development of geometric vehicle concepts. In the following the author describes the position of the vehicle concept development in the overall vehicle development process and the general process for the development of one vehicle concept. Subsequently, this section outlines the approach for the development of multiple vehicles concepts with modular systems and platforms.

2.1.1 Position in the overall vehicle development process

The vehicle development process describes the phases from the product idea to the start of production (SOP). One partition is into the planning-, the definition-, the realization- and the production-phases (Figure 2.1) [30, 1.1-3]. Beginning with the project start, the planning phase includes the refinement of the product idea and the derivation of requirements [17, p. 1140]. Another task is the development of initial vehicle concepts as a preliminary representation of the product. This phase ends with a technical and financial feasibility check of the product idea and the vehicle concepts [17, p. 1143]. Depending on the feasibility checks the development of the vehicle concepts continues with an increasing degree of detail, during the definition phase. With the design freeze, the development transitions into the realization phase. In this series development, the vehicle concepts are described in detail and tested to finally arrive at manufacturable vehicles. Due to the ramp-up of the production, the production phase starts with a pilot series before the realization phase ends with the official SOP.



Figure 2.1: Vehicle development process and positioning of the vehicle concept development, based on [19, p. 5, 30, p. 3, 31, p. 9]

According to the overall process, the vehicle concept development takes place during the planning and definition phases. It is one of the first stages of the development as it starts almost in parallel to the development of the product idea [17, p. 1143]. After continuously increasing the level of detail of the vehicle concepts, the vehicle concept development ends with the design freeze.

2.1.2 Main objective of vehicle concept development

The primary objective of the vehicle concept development is the creation of vehicle concepts. A vehicle concept is a preliminary representation of the product which fulfills the requirements demanded. It includes the dimensions and positions of all components of the vehicle as illustrated in Figure 2.2. During this phase, the representation is usually virtual using computer-aided design (CAD) programs [17, p. 1143]. In the automotive industry, the term vehicle package is an alternative designation for the vehicle concept [17, p. 130].



Figure 2.2: Exemplary illustration of a vehicle concept/package within the vehicle front

Manifold requirements and component, as well as installation position alternatives, exist for a vehicle concept. A more detailed objective of the vehicle concept development is therefore to create a vehicle concept by dimensioning and selection of the component and installation position alternatives which represent the best fulfillment of the requirements [17, p. 1143].

Figure 2.3 shows examples of requirements on the vehicle concept, which originate from the product idea and further development within the planning phase.



Figure 2.3: Examples of requirements for the vehicle concept, based on [17, p. 131]

Examples of component alternatives are in-line and V-type combustion engines. However, component alternatives may vary not only in their component type but also in component performance, such as engines of 200 N m and 600 N m torque. Examples of installation positions of

combustion engines are the longitudinal and the transversal installation. In general, an alternative is another possibility to a component or installation position.

2.1.3 General process of vehicle concept development

To achieve the objective of the vehicle concept development, concept engineers, i.e. experts of different departments responsible for concept development, carry out the vehicle concept development process (VCDP). As illustrated in Figure 2.4, the process is divided into the vehicle dimensions design, the vehicle architecture design, and the vehicle package design [16, pp. 4-5].

In the following, the process will refer to the development of one vehicle concept. The application of the approach to multiple vehicles with different variants is described in the subsequent sections. The following explanation is based on a previous publication of the author [16].



Figure 2.4: Overview of the vehicle concept development process [16, p. 5]

The process begins with the vehicle dimensions design, which aims to define the available installation space. Based on requirements of the vehicle segment and type, as well as on the ergonomics, the task at this stage is the definition of the passengers' positions and the specification of overall vehicle dimensions, like the front and rear overhang, the wheelbase, and the track width [17, p. 132, 32, pp. 14-15, 33, pp. 39-40, 34, pp. 97-129]. The SAE J1100 defines most of these dimensions [35]. If available, predecessor and competitor vehicles are used as orientation for the vehicle dimensions as well as the required installation space of components [36, p. 913]. The defined available installation space serves as an additional requirement for the following stages.

Afterward, the process continues with the definition of the vehicle architecture during the vehicle architecture design. In this context, the vehicle architecture consists of the body structure and the dimensions and positions of the most essential components, such as engine, gearbox, chassis, and cooling. This is an intermediate stage to the vehicle package design because the number of components considered is smaller. At this stage, it is not meaningful to consider all components, as some, like the engine, the chassis, or the energy storage have a strong impact on the vehicle, while the influence of other components like control units or cables is comparably low.

For the generation of the architecture during the vehicle architecture design, concept engineers first define the dimensions of the components based on the input requirements [16, p. 4]. For example, the engine length, width, and height are dimensioned based on the required vehicle

performance. Second, they position the dimensioned components within the available installation space defined by the vehicle dimensions design. This is repeated several times with variations in the component and installation positions alternatives, thus generating different architecture alternatives. However, it is not possible to consider all component and position alternatives as this would result in an extremely high number of architecture alternatives. Subsequently, within each of the architecture alternatives, the concept engineers analyze required distances between components, as for example for crash safety or assembly, using dimensional chains. As illustrated in Figure 2.5, dimensional chains consist of the minimum distances between adjacent components and the effective component sizes measured between two ambient distance measurements. Hereby, all dimensions are oriented along a defined coordinate direction. In addition, the concept engineers compare the required installation space of the architecture with the available installation space.



Figure 2.5: Example of a dimensional chain, based on [37, p. 194]

If none of the architecture alternatives is feasible, a first iteration attempts to optimize the component dimensions and the required distances of the components. If this does not make sense, within a second iteration, the concept engineers create further architecture alternatives by varying of so far unconsidered component and position alternatives. Finally, it may be necessary to adjust the input requirements and the available installation space during a third iteration.

For technical and financial reasons, the concept development team selects one architecture out of the feasible architectures. Technical reasons mainly concern the fulfillment of the requirements, while economic reasons depend on the costs of the alternatives.

The vehicle package design represents the third and last stage of the VCDP. Thereby, concept engineers integrate all remaining components (including cables and hoses) into the selected vehicle architecture [16, p. 4]. Moreover, within this stage, the level of detail of the components increases. There are different alternatives available for the additional components, which result

in several package alternatives. The analysis of the package alternatives uses more detailed dimensional chains. Therewith, concept engineers examine the distances and collisions as well as the conformity of the required installation space with the available installation space. The vehicle architecture design might also require iterations with refined dimensions, selection of other component and position alternatives, or the adjustment of requirements.

All three stages of the VCDP require iterations. Besides, iterations between the stages may be necessary. If no package alternative complies with the available installation space or other requirements, the process may need to be restarted from the vehicle architecture design or even the vehicle dimensions design [16, p. 4]. To avoid time-consuming iterations, the concept engineers must anticipate aspects of the following stages as best they can.

After the VCDP, the entire vehicle development process continues with the selection of one package alternative and the series development. During this realization phase, the vehicle concepts are ascertained based on more detailed simulations and tests [16, p. 5]. In addition, the assignment of suppliers and the preparation of production takes place.

2.1.4 Process of the development of multiple vehicle concepts

In the previous section, the author described the VCDP for a single vehicle concept. However, automotive manufacturers are developing and offering multiple vehicle models with further variations. To avoid the individual design of all vehicles and variants, an enhanced development process is necessary.

In this context, the term vehicle model defines a combination of the vehicle segment and body type. For each vehicle model, there are further vehicle variants with different performance classes, drive types, and drivetrain types. Table 2.1 gives an overview of possible combinations. In this, the vehicle segments and body types follow the designations of LIENKAMP [30, 1.0-58] and BRAESS [17, p. 136]. The different combinations of the vehicle models and variants offered by an automotive manufacturer are referred to as external or product variance [18, p. 285, 19, p. 12, 20, pp. 22-23] since the customer can directly influence it.

Vehicle segment	Body Type	Performance	Drive Type	Drivetrain Type	
A000	Sedan	dan Entry Two-Wheel		Gas	
A00	Hatchback	Medium	All-Wheel	Diesel	
A0	Coupe	Sport		Natural Gas	
A	Convertible			Hybrid	
В	MPV			Electric	
С	SUV			Hydrogen	
D	Pickup				
F					

Table 2.1:	Possible combinations for vehicle models and their variants [17, p. 136, 30), 1.0-58]

In the case of individual concept development, all vehicle models and variants could consist of different component and position alternatives, overall resulting in a large number of component

and position variants within the automotive manufacturer. The total number of component variants and position variants selected from the alternatives is referred to as internal or technical variance [18, p. 285, 19, p. 12, 20, pp. 22-23]. The high internal variance would lead to high development times and production costs as synergies and quantities decrease [17, p. 156, 18, pp. 293-296, 38, p. 227].

Vehicle concept development, therefore, avoids the individual design of vehicle concepts. In addition to the selection of component and position alternatives based on the best fulfillment of the requirements, the aim is to minimize the internal variance [20, p. 5]. However, it should be noted that there is a conflict of interest between the external variance and the internal variance [19, p. 12]. The higher the external variance, the less chance of reducing the internal variance. As for example, high external variance with different performance classes and drivetrain types requires different engines and thus limits the reduction in internal variance. Consequently, the vehicle concept development develops multiple vehicles and vehicle variants in parallel, while reducing the internal variance at different levels of external variance.

This leads to the multiple vehicle concept development process (MVCDP), as illustrated in Figure 2.6. The first stage is the definition of the available installation spaces. In the following, the author does not further describe this stage because it is the exact application of the VCDP vehicle dimensions design to multiple vehicles and does not affect the variance. Stages two through four are the development of modular systems, platforms, and vehicle models that apply variations in the vehicle architecture design and vehicle package design. These three stages build on each other and reduce the internal variance with different levels of external variance. Together, these facilitate an overall minimal internal variance [17, p. 155]. The foundation of these development stages is standardization, which means the overarching use of the same element [3, pp. 118-119, 39, p. 57]. Similar to the VCDP, iterations can exist within and between the different stages of the MVCDP.



Figure 2.6: Illustration of the multiple vehicle concept development process and the top-down relation between the modular system, platforms, and vehicle models, based on [22, p. 13]

In this context, modular systems and platforms relate exclusively to the vehicle level. Further approaches exist at the component level. A more detailed definition of different terminologies can be found in the literature [3, pp. 134-138, 17, pp. 154-155, 20, pp. 51-53, 40, p. 18, 41, p. 17, 42, pp. 662-667].

Based on the vehicle requirements and the available installation space, the development of the modular system takes place as the second stage of the MVCDP. For multiple variants of various vehicle models of different segments, concept engineers define vehicle architectures with unified architectural standards and cross-vehicle modules [3, p. 119]. Architectural standards are standardized elements of the vehicle architecture, such as longitudinal or transversal engine installlation [43, p. 954]. Further examples are the drive type and the chassis type [24]. Cross-vehicle modules are component variants such as a specific engine variant which finds application in multiple vehicles. This stage is based on a variation of the vehicle architecture design.

For modular systems, there is the single- and the multi-drivetrain approach. Within the singledrivetrain approach, the modular system includes either vehicles with combustion drivetrains or vehicles with electric drivetrains. The advantage of this procedure is the individual adaptation to the drivetrain characteristics [44]. In the multi-drivetrain approach, the modular system takes all drivetrain types into account [45]. The advantage here is the flexible response to customer demand within the production [27, p. 2].

Based on the modular system, concept engineers derive multiple platforms [22, p. 13]. While the modular system includes vehicles of different segments, one platform bundles the vehicle models and variants of the same segment [2, p. 6]. With the unified architectural standards as the foundation, platform development aims to increase the standardization of the architecture [46, p. 30]. This leads to fully standardized architectures. Also, a platform standardizes some components and installation positions which belong to the vehicle package. With the standardization of architectures and package components, the development of platforms is based on both vehicle architecture design and the vehicle package design.

Finally, the platforms provide the foundation for the derivation of vehicle models [22, p. 13]. Within each vehicle model, there are different vehicle variants with varying performance classes and drivetrain types. The aim is therefore to standardize the vehicle variants of a vehicle model with not yet considered components and installation positions. The development of the vehicle models and variants is solely a variation of the vehicle package design.

The modular systems, platforms, and vehicle models differ in the external variance covered, the reduced internal variance, and the overall effects on the internal variance.

Regarding variance, the modular system with a multitude of vehicle models and variants from different segments covers the highest external variance. However, this does not necessarily include the overall external variance, as automotive manufacturers can develop multiple modular systems. There may also be individual platforms or vehicle models besides the modular system. With the high external variance, the possibilities for reducing the internal variance are small. Within the platform, the external variance decreases as only vehicles of the same segment are considered. Therefore, within the smaller external variance covered, the internal variance decreases with the standardization of more components and positions. Finally, within the vehicle models, the external variance consists only of multiple vehicle variants with different performance classes and drivetrain types. Within this scope, the vehicle standardization reduces the internal variance the most.

It is important to note that while the internal variance within the modular system is the highest, it allows the minimum overall internal variance of the automotive manufacturers. Without the modular system, the variance across vehicles of different segments would be much higher. In contrast, the impact of the platform and the vehicle models on the overall internal variance is lower because they cover fewer vehicles.

Table 2.2 gives an overview of the differences between modular systems, platforms, and vehicle models in terms of the external variance covered, the reduced internal variance, and the overall effects on the internal variance.

		External Variance Covered	Reduction of Internal Variance	Impact on overall Internal Variance		
	Modular System	High	Low	High		
	Platform	Medium	Medium	Medium		
	Vehicle Model	Low	High	Low		

Table 2.2: Differences between modular systems, platforms and vehicle models

2.2 Development of Modular Systems

Within the MVCDP, the development of a modular system is most complex, as the external variance is high, and the solution space is almost unlimited. Therefore, this section describes the process for developing modular systems and the current challenges in detail.

Instead of developing an architecture for one vehicle, the objective of the modular systems development is to develop vehicle architectures with unified architectural standards and cross-vehicle modules for multiple vehicles.

In the description, the focus is solely on the development of modular systems. This thesis does not cover the financial assessment of modular systems based on production and sales figures.

2.2.1 Modular systems development process

The aim of the modular systems development is the development of vehicle architectures with unified architectural standards and cross-vehicle modules for multiple vehicles. The process starts around five years ahead of the SOP of the first vehicle [27, p. 2].

The initial situation is a high external variance with multiple vehicles and vehicle variants. This means that the vehicles differ in their segments and types. Besides, each vehicle has variants with different performance classes and possibly drivetrain types. For each of the vehicle models and variants, the requirements must be known. Also, the vehicle dimensions design defines the available installation space of each vehicle ahead of the modular system development.

Based on these inputs, the modular system development process begins. The process is a variation of the vehicle architecture design described in section 2.1.3. At first and in parallel, several vehicle architectures alternatives are defined and dimensioned separately for the different vehicle models' variants, depending on their requirements [27, p. 2]. This means that the development is done bottom-up with the vehicle variants as the smallest subdivision of the modular system with impact on the architectures. The maximum amount of component and installation position alternatives that concept engineers can consider limits the number of architecture alternatives. The selection of these alternatives is based primarily on assumptions and experiences as, for example, from predecessor vehicles. The concept engineers then compare the required installation space with the available installation space of each vehicle. In a second step, the feasible architectures of all vehicle variants are aligned to determine whether there are architectures with the same architectural standards within all of them [24, 27, p. 2]. In addition, concept engineers analyze whether components with the same types and properties exist within the feasible architectures to form cross-vehicle modules.

If no modular system is possible, up to four iteration loops are necessary, within all or only particular vehicle variants and vehicle models [27, p. 2]. Within the first two iterations, concept engineers try to optimize the architectures to increase the number of architectures complying with the available installation space. In the first iteration, the target is to refine and reduce the component sizes and distances between components and thus the required installation space. During the second iteration, concept engineers create further architecture alternatives with not yet considered component and installation position alternatives. Within the third and fourth iterations, it is necessary to adjust the inputs. The third iteration reduces the requirements or increases the available installation space. Finally, the fourth iteration reduces the external variance by the exclusion of vehicle variants or models that are not suitable for the modular system. A particular case within the fourth iteration would be the reduction of the internal variance, thus building the modular system on fewer architectural standards. However, this is not common as different drive types and chassis types would significantly affect the standardization of platforms and vehicle models.

Figure 2.7 illustrates the modular system development process.



Figure 2.7: Process for the development of modular systems

2.2.2 Challenges of the modular systems development process

In the previous sections, the process for the development of architectures (2.1.3) and modular systems (2.2.1) has been abstractly described. In reality, however, the processes are complex and demanding. Therefore, this section outlines the challenges within today's vehicle architecture and modular system development. The author has already explained parts of the following description in an earlier publication [27].

The development of one vehicle architecture is already complex, time-consuming, and requires the cooperation of concept engineers from different departments. One problem is the definition of a large number of dimensions, while another problem arises from conflicts of interests. For one architecture, hundreds of component dimensions and distances between components have to be defined [27, p. 2]. The dimensions depend on the requirements and vary with the component and position alternatives. For example, the engine length depends on the required torque but also on the engine type. Since there is a multitude of requirements and alternatives, the correlations between the requirements and the dimensions are often unknown at this early stage of the development [47, p. 262]. To avoid high uncertainty, it is possible to assume the dimensions based on predecessor or competitor vehicles. However, this is only possible in case the requirements and the alternatives do not significantly vary. Otherwise, more detailed investigations and simulations are necessary [27, p. 2]. In addition to the dimensioning, the requirements, such as crash safety, are steadily increasing and lead to higher required installation space. However, the overall limitations of the vehicle size also limit the available installation space. This leads to conflicts of interests and iterations to find trade-offs.

Development is even more difficult for a modular system because concept engineers need to generate and compare vehicle architectures for multiple vehicles. The holistic development of a modular system would require the generation and comparison of hundreds of thousands of vehicle architectures [27, p. 2]. This is unpracticable due to the considerable time spent on the generation and dimensioning of the architectures and the high complexity of comparing the feasible architectures to determine unified architectural standards and cross-vehicle modules.

Consequently, automotive manufacturers limit the solution space of the modular system. Based on predecessor vehicles and benchmarks, some of the architectural standards and modules are predefined [27, p. 3]. This reduces the number of available component and position alternatives and thus the number of conceivable architecture alternatives. However, the process still requires time-consuming iterations to resolve conflicts of interests between the requirements, the required and the available installation space, and the external variance.

Besides, it is possible that the best solution is precluded due to the limited solution space and the considered component or position alternatives [27, p. 3]. This means that a modular system was only possible with the adaptation of the requirements or the external variance. The consideration of other architectural standards and modules could have avoided these adaptations. In worst-case, it is impossible to cover the external variance at all with the predefined architectural standards.

2.3 Existing Methods Related to Modular Systems Development

There are multiple approaches and algorithms in the literature for solving packaging problems, that is, the integration of components into an available installation space [48–57]. Although these methods and tools often use vehicles as a field of application, the focus is on the development and evaluation of algorithms and not on the generation of vehicle architectures. MATZ [31, pp. 14-15] gives an extensive overview of these approaches.

In the following, the focus is solely on methods immediately related to modular systems. These are approaches that generate vehicle architectures and identify architectural standards and modules. While this thesis is aimed at passenger cars, the review also includes two methods within the field of commercial vehicles. The author already gave an overview of these methods in previous publications [27, 47].

For the generation of vehicle architectures of passenger cars, several approaches are available. Besides the consideration of only hybrid and electric drivetrains, the four methods of J. FUCHS [19], KUCHENBUCH [58], MATZ [31], and RIED [59] have in common the generation of architectures for one individual vehicle. The order of description is based on the degree of automatization of the methods and tools.

J. FUCHS [19] created a method for generating vehicle architectures for battery electric vehicles (BEV) and fuel cell electric vehicles (FCEV). For the generation of the architectures, he uses physical and empirical correlations within geometric substitute models for the electric machine, the hydrogen tank, and the high-voltage electrical system. Furthermore, he assesses the geometry of the battery and the fuel cell stack based on reference geometries and an analytical determination of the required number of modules/stacks. The remaining modeling of the components is done either in low-detail or with existing components as a reference. With his model, J. FUCHS can analyze the solution space of the architectures to identify their degrees of freedom and effects on the overall vehicle. However, the tool does not automatically create all solutions. Instead, it requires a manual configuration of the architecture as input. Figure 2.8 illustrates the vehicle architecture of the method and tool of J. FUCHS.



Figure 2.8: Vehicle architecture within the method and tool of J. FUCHS, based on [60, P. 135]

RIED [59] developed a method and tool for the generation of vehicle architectures of plug-in hybrid vehicles (PHEV). The objective hereby is the automated analysis of the overall solution space of PHEV based on the available battery volume and the resulting capacity as well as the cost-benefit ratio of the customer. By varying the underbody battery topology, he can create different architectures. Due to the limitation to underbody batteries, however, only three different architectures are possible. Based on the available battery volume of each architecture, he uses a geometric substitute model of the battery to calculate the battery capacity. Therefore, the model uses a factor for the volumetric energy density and the volume utilization. Different architectures within the vehicle front and rear are not taken into consideration, as he derives the PHEV from existing vehicles with combustion drivetrains. The cost-benefit ratio depends on the costs of additional components of PHEV, e.g. the battery, and savings due to reduced fuel consumption. Finally, he assesses the architectures in terms of the feasible battery capacity and the cost-

benefit ratio. In a previous publication, RIED also mentioned the creation of geometric substitute models for components, such as the combustion engine and the electric machine [61, p. 28]. However, he did not explain the models and their use.

KUCHENBUCH [58] explicitly focused on the generation of vehicle architectures for BEV. His goal is to analyze the solution space of architectures with electric drivetrains. Instead of automatically considering the overall solution space, he uses a multi-criteria optimization. With only two optimization criteria, he searches for architectures and battery topologies that represent the best compromise between energy consumption and battery range. He uses a geometric substitute model for the battery, to calculate the battery capacity based on reference battery cells. A database contains the remaining components.

MATZ [31] also worked on the generation of vehicle architectures for BEV (Figure 2.9). With his multi-criteria optimization algorithm, he identifies the best architectures under consideration of the vehicle requirements as well as the modal split of the customers, i.e. the availability and use of public transportation systems. For the battery, he uses a geometric substitute model, based on physical equations and reference cells. His tool selects the remaining components from a database.



Figure 2.9: Vehicle architecture within the method and tool of MATZ [31, P. 84]

In addition to the consideration of either hybrid or electric drivetrains and the limited use of geometric substitute models, all the methods presented generate architectures for only one vehicle at a time.

For passenger cars, the author is unaware of any approaches to generating of architectures of multiple vehicles and comparisons to identify unified architectural standards and modules. In the field of commercial vehicles, however, FÖRG [62] and STOCKER [63] generate and align architectures of multiple vehicles to identify architectural standards at different levels of automatization. Hereby, both only contemplate combustion drivetrains.

FÖRG [62] created a method and tool to support the generation and standardization of vehicle architectures for multiple commercial vehicles. Within the tool, a concept engineer manually defines the architecture of the first vehicle (Figure 2.10) by selecting components from a database and defining the installation positions. If possible, this architecture sets the architectural standards for subsequent vehicles. During the architecture definition for the other vehicles, the tool proposes component types and installation positions based on the architectural standards of the

predefined architecture. If it is not possible to build a new architecture based on the existing architectural standards, the user can define a new architecture. After generation of all vehicles architectures, the tool rates the overall degree of standardization and suggests areas of improvement. The tool supports the manual generation of architectures and identification of architectural standards. However, the degree of standardization depends heavily on the initially defined architecture. Also, the automated identification of the best solution is not possible.



Figure 2.10: Vehicle architecture within the method and tool of Förg [62, p. 9]

Based on the method and tool of FÖRG, STOCKER [63] continues the research on vehicle architectures and architectural standards within commercial vehicles. Unlike FÖRG, he focuses on the frame-mounted parts of commercial vehicles and neglects the vehicle front. He fully automates the generation of all conceivable vehicle architectures and the identification of architectural standards and modules. The tool initially generates all architectures for all considered vehicles. The selection of components is based on a database. Within the feasible architectures, the tool identifies architectural standards and modules. The final selection of the architectural standards and modules also considers costs and production volumes. Based on these factors, the tool can define architectural standards and modules for all or groups of vehicles.

Table 2.3 summarizes the description of the existing methods that are related to the development of modular systems.

Degree of Fulfillr				58]				
• 100 % • [·]	• 100 % • 75 % • 50 %					_		[63]
• 25 % 0 0)%	UCHS	[59] c	CHENB	rz [31	kG [62]	CKER	
				RIEI	Kuc	MAT	För	STC
Vehicle Type and Area		Front		0	●	●	0	0
	Passenger Cars	Middle	•	●	●	●	0	0
		Rear	•	0	•	•	0	0
	Commercial	Front	0	0	0	0	•	0
	Vehicles	Frame	0	0	0	0	•	•
Drivetrain Types	ICEV HEV/PHEV		0	0	0	0	•	•
			0	●	0	0	0	0
	BEV		•	0	●	●	0	0
FCEV			•	0	0	0	0	0
Objective	Architecture Gene	eration	•	•	•	•	•	•
	Architecture Stand	dardization	0	0	0	0	•	•
Level of Automatization	Manual Configura	tion	•	0	0	0	•	0
	Automated – Permutation		0	•	0	0	0	•
	Automated – Optimization		0	0	•	•	0	0
Level of Modelling	Component Datat	base	D	D	•	•	•	•
	Geometric Substitute Models		D	D	O	O	0	0

 Table 2.3:
 Overview of existing methods related to the development of modular systems

2.4 Research Gap

Modular systems set the foundation for the development of multiple vehicles with a minimum of internal variance. With the steadily increasing variance, they are of great importance for the economic success of an automotive manufacturer. However, the current process for developing modular systems is time-consuming and complicated. This makes a holistic consideration of the solution in practice impossible.

Despite the high importance of modular systems and their difficult development, none of the existing methods can adequately address this issue. As shown in Table 2.3, the related methods lack either the consideration of multiple vehicles, different drivetrains, or scalable substitute models. All these aspects, however, are essential for the holistic development of modular systems.

Related methods within passenger cars only involve the generation of architectures for one vehicle at a time. Hence, none of the methods can identify architectural standards and modules within multiple vehicles. In addition, none include all combustion, hybrid and electric drivetrains. However, all these drivetrains currently play an important role in the automotive industry and are necessary for the analysis of multi-drivetrain modular systems. Moreover, the methods only use a limited number of substitute models and select many components from a database. This limits the adjustment to alterations of the input requirements and thus the holistic development of modular systems.

Within commercial vehicles, there are already two methods that take into account vehicle architectures of multiple vehicles. Therefore, the architecture standardization is possible by identifying architectural standards and modules. However, these methods mainly focus on the frame-mounted parts and are not applicable to passenger cars. While the methods consider multiple architecture alternatives, they are not fully holistic due to the lack of geometric substitute models for continuous scaling.

Consequently, no method for the holistic development of modular systems for passenger cars, with architecture generation and standardization by consideration of multiple vehicles, different drivetrains, and scalable substitute models exists. However, such a method would allow the identification of the best solution and the reduction of development times. It would also set the foundation for further research into the development of modular systems.
3 Method

Based on the research gap, this thesis describes a method for the automated development of modular systems. A software tool makes the method applicable, using MATLAB and CATIA. This tool is also referred to as "Parametric Automotive Concept Engineering" (PACE). The following uses the terms method, tool, and PACE synonymously.

The primary objective of PACE is the automated, rapid and holistic development of modular systems. With the requirements as inputs, the method generates hundreds of thousands of vehicle architectures for multiple vehicle variants of different vehicle models. The generation includes the permutation of all conceivable component and installation position alternatives and the requirement-based dimensioning with continuously scaling geometric substitute models. Furthermore, it involves the analysis of the feasibility with dimensional chains. Subsequently, the method identifies unified architectural standards and cross-vehicle modules forming the modular system for all vehicle variants and vehicle models.

Applying this method, concept engineers can develop modular systems under holistic consideration of the solution space. Moreover, it is possible to resolve conflicts of interest during fast iterations. This allows the identification of the best solution as well as the reduction of development times.

At the beginning of the chapter, the author describes the requirements and boundaries of the method. The subsequent sections provide an overview of the method as well as a detailed description of the individual stages and steps. The chapter closes with an explanation of the application of the method. Previous publications by the author have already dealt with some aspects of the following [27, 47].

3.1 Requirements and Boundaries of the Method

The requirements of the method can be clustered into three categories:

- Applicability: At the beginning of the modular systems development, there is a high degree of uncertainty, with only limited requirements being known and defined. Therefore, the tool must operate with a limited amount of input parameters. In contrast, this early stage also requires a lower level of detail, so that full detailing of the components is not necessary.
- Holism: To identify the best solution, it is essential to consider the solution space holistically. Therefore, it is necessary to generate all conceivable architectures with combustion, hybrid, and electric drivetrains. The tool must also be adjustable to different requirements.

• Transparency: The solution space of modular systems is extensive. To ensure the reliability of the tool, the process and the results must be transparent and replicable. Therefore, PACE is based on dimensional chains and excludes the identification of entirely new solutions.

In addition to the requirements, there are several boundaries within the method and its application:

The focus of the method within the development of modular systems is on the generation of the architectures and the identification of architectural standards. Though included, the tool covers the modularization only briefly. Furthermore, a financial assessment of the resulting architectures and modular systems is out of the scope.

The tool covers combustion, hybrid, and electric drivetrains and thus currently the most important ones. However, it does not include natural gas and hydrogen as possible energy sources and drivetrain types, because, at this time, the demand is limited [64, p. 183]. In addition, the focus within the hybrids is on the parallel topology, as their application is already more common today and will increase in future as the efficiency is higher than with serial or power split hybrids [65, 66, 67, pp. 347-494]. Also, in combustion and electric drivetrains, the focus is on topologies with widespread and not niche applications such as combustion engines in between the axles or electric wheel hubs.

The field of application for the method is passenger cars. The author also demonstrates the method only within the vehicle front. This reduces the complexity that is already high for the vehicle front with its numerous components and dimensional chains as well as hundreds of thousands of conceivable vehicle architectures. However, with the current mix of drivetrains, the vehicle front is the most important area of the vehicle. Nevertheless, the method partly considers the interior and the occupant cell of the vehicle. It only excludes the rear of the vehicle. However, the extension of the method to the overall vehicle would be possible.

In the following, the architecture of the vehicle front will still be referred to as vehicle architecture.

3.2 Overview of the Method

The method for developing modular systems is divided into three consecutive stages: definition of requirements (3.3), generation of architectures (3.4), and derivation of modular systems (3.5). These are mainly implemented in MATLAB.

In the first step of the first stage, the user defines the requirements for the modular system and multiple platforms/vehicle models and vehicle variants as inputs (3.3.1). Within the tool, platforms and vehicle models are equivalent because, at this early stage, the only distinction of the body type is by low- and high-ground. Therefore, the vehicle models do not yet need a detailed definition of the body type. Moreover, a modular system does not necessarily need to consist of platforms. Therefore, the author refers to vehicle models in the following. For each vehicle model, several vehicle variants with different performances are possible. By limiting the inputs to an early stage, the user only specifies the performance requirements such as the acceleration, but not the engine power or the number of gear speeds. Therefore, the second step (3.3.2) of the first stage is a longitudinal dynamics simulation. It converts the inputs of each vehicle variant into the engine power/torque. For each set of inputs, there are multiple solutions for the engine

power/torque due to different drivetrain types as well as a varying number of gear speeds. Therefore, the result of this step is multiple instances of fully specified requirements, including the engine power/torque, the transmission ratios, and the number of gear speeds. These instances are also referred to as engine-gearbox combinations.

The second stage focuses on the generation of feasible vehicle architectures for the different vehicle variants of each vehicle model. The foundation hereby is empirical and semi-physical geometric substitute models (3.4.1). These convert the requirements into component sizes and distances between components. Using the models, the tool synthesizes and dimensions all conceivable vehicle architecture alternatives by permuting the engine-gearbox combinations with all component and position alternatives (3.4.2). The subsequent step (3.4.3) derives the available installation space based on the exterior dimensions of each vehicle model. In the last step of this stage, the comparison of the installation space required by each architecture alternative with the available installation space leads to the identification of feasible architecture alternatives (3.4.4).

Until this stage, the tool developed the architectures separately for all vehicle variants of the different models. However, to derive the modular system, this stage considers all feasible architectures together. Hereby, the first step is the identification of cross-vehicle modules (3.5.1). Afterward, the resulting architectures of all vehicle variants are outputted to the user in the modular systems matrix (MSM) to derive architectural standards (3.5.2). In addition, a parametric CATIA model is available to visualize the resulting architectures in CAD.

If no modular system is feasible, the user can iterate with adjusted inputs. Figure 3.1 gives an overview of the developed method.



Figure 3.1: Overview of the method for the development of modular systems

Within the following description, the author refers to the vehicle coordinate system defined within the SAE standard J1100 (Figure 3.2) [35, p. 31].



Figure 3.2: Vehicle coordinate system defined within the SAE standard J1100 [35, p. 31] (Image Source: [68])

3.3 Requirement Definition

In the beginning, concept engineers need to define requirements for the modular system, the vehicle models, and the vehicle variants (3.3.1). The early stage of the development of a modular system limits the availability of inputs. Therefore, the method includes a longitudinal dynamics simulation (LDS) to fully determine all performance requirements (3.3.2).

3.3.1 Input of requirements

First of all, the concept engineer defines the input requirements. The selection of the following requirements as inputs is based on the information available from product planning and the necessity for the modular system development. It is possible to divide the requirements into three groups: the modular systems requirements, the vehicle model requirements, and the vehicle variant requirements.

The modular system requirements consist of the number of vehicle models included as well as the type of modular system. The latter input distinguishes between single- and multi-drivetrain modular systems.

For up to five vehicle models, the user specifies more detailed vehicle requirements. These are the number of included vehicle variants, the body type, the exterior, and additional dimensions as well as the drivetrain types. The body type can be either low-ground or high-ground. Low-ground represents most of the body types, such as sedans and hatchbacks, while high-ground is for SUVs. The exterior dimensions are the overall vehicle length, the wheelbase, the front overhang, the prestige measure (distance between the front axle and the drivers' ball-of-foot (BOF)), and the vehicle width (Figure 3.3). Another exterior dimension is the curvature of the front bumper.

Additional dimensions are the H30-measure, which defines the seat height, as well as the minimum rim size. As drivetrains, combustion (ICEV), parallel full- or plug-in hybrid (HEV/PHEV), and electric (BEV) ones are available. In this context, HEV will refer to both full- and pluginhybrids. Within the drivetrains, further selection or exclusion is possible for the engine types, such as gas or diesel engines, and the gearbox types. Additional requirements on vehicle level are the headlight and battery type.



Figure 3.3: Exterior dimensions required as inputs (Image Source: [68])

For each of the vehicle models, it is necessary to define the requirements of up to three vehicle variants separately. This includes the allocation of performance classes (entry, medium, and sports level). The entry level applies for vehicle variants with low performance (maximum velocity lower than 200 km/h), the medium level to the ones with average performance (maximum velocity between 200 and 230 km/h), and the sports level to high-performance variants (maximum velocity faster than 230 km/h). This serves to distinguish the vehicle variants and influences the engine and gearbox design in the following. In addition, the drive type (two-wheel or four-wheel drive) must be defined. Also, the user distinguishes between regulatory or insurance classification as design types. The second design type usually applies only to one vehicle variant of a vehicle model. Within this variant, the distance between the bumper beam and the cooling system needs to be higher to avoid damages during the low-speed RCAR Structure Test [69]. High damages consequently would lead to a higher insurance class. Further inputs are the reduced curb weight, the weight of extra equipment, the load capacity, the maximum trailer load (at 12% inclination), the acceleration time, the maximum velocity as well as the tank volume and the battery capacity. The reduced curb weight represents the vehicle weight without the weight of the driver and his luggage, defined in the EU directive EWG 92/21 [70], and without the weight of fuel and high-voltage batteries. This simplifies the input for the concept engineer because he does not need to know the different energy densities and weights. Furthermore, it is important to note that within the last inputs the method allows for the separate definition for ICEV/HEV and BEV.

Within the requirements, there is a high dependency between the exterior dimensions, the drivetrain type, and the reduced curb weight of the vehicle. Therefore, in addition to the manual input of the weight, the method provides the option to use an empirical model for weight estimation. Using regression functions, the model estimates the vehicle weight based on the substitute volume of the vehicle, the drivetrain type, and performance requirements such as the acceleration time. This is particularly useful for vehicles without predecessors or benchmarks. The author described the model and its development in [71].

Table 3.1 gives an overview of the different requirements, which are all adapted to the early stage of the modular systems development.

Modular Systems Requirements	Vehicle Model Requirements	Vehicle Variant Requirements
Number of Vehicles	Number of Vehicle Variants	Performance Class
Modular System Type	Body Type	Drive Type
	Exterior Dimensions	Design Type
	Additional Dimensions	Reduced Curb Weight
	Drivetrain Type	Equipment Weight
	Engine Type	Load Capacity
	Gearbox Type	Trailer Load
	Headlight Type	Acceleration Time
	Battery Type	Maximum Velocity
		Tank Volume
		Battery Capacity

 Table 3.1:
 Overview of the requirements for the modular system, the vehicle models, and the vehicle variants

In addition to the requirements, the concept engineer can define optimization parameters within the Graphic User Interface (GUI). These allow concept engineers to use advanced technologies and to adjust the dimensions. With discrete parameters for the technologies, for example, it is possible to switch from tires of normal load to extra load, or from a passive hood to an active hood. Regarding the dimensions, it is possible to switch from the default robust design option to the progressive design option. The progressive design option decreases the required distances between components, such as the distance between the cooling system and the engine. Besides, the user can reduce the size of components and distances by defining continuous optimization parameters. The progressive design option and the continuous optimization parameters are primarily intended for use during iterations of the tool and only when necessary, as the advanced technologies and decreased dimensions usually come with higher costs.

Appendix A displays the GUI of the tool for the input of the requirements and the optimization parameters.

3.3.2 Conversion of requirements

Especially for new vehicles without any predecessors, the engine power and the number of gear speeds are unknown at this early stage of the development. Therefore, the user input does not include engine and gearbox requirements. Consequently, it is necessary to calculate the engine power/torque as well as the gear speeds and transmission ratios based on input parameters such as the curb weight and the acceleration time to complete the stage of the requirements definition. However, this problem is underdetermined as neither the engine nor the gearbox is known.

The tool performs a longitudinal dynamics simulation for all vehicle variants and drivetrain types, including further subdivisions, separately. The process of the LDS is divided into three steps, the scaling of engine load curves, the gearbox design, and the acceleration time simulation (Figure 3.4). Due to the underdetermined problem, the scaling of the engine load curves and the gearbox design are required to create and design all engine-gearbox combinations. The acceleration time simulation filters the engine-gearbox combination by the achieved and required acceleration time of 0 to 100 km/h.



Figure 3.4: Overview of the LDS

Prior to the first step of the LDS, the method includes calculating the curb weight by adding the weight of the driver and his luggage as well as the weight of the fuel tank and/or the high-voltage battery to the reduced curb weight. The calculation of the latter weights is based on the tank volume and energy densities for gas and diesel as well as the battery capacities and different energy densities for the different battery technologies.

Within the scaling of engine load curves, the LDS scales to 100 kW normalized load curves of existing engines with factors from 0.4 to 4 in steps of 0.05, to arrive at multiple load curves from 40 to 400 kW. For the three combustion, parallel hybrid, and electric drivetrain types, the LDS includes a total of twelve different load curves (Figure 3.5). The three combustion engines are the gas naturally aspirated, the gas supercharged, and the diesel supercharged engines. The three hybrids are a combination of each combustion engine with a permanent synchronous electric machine (PSM). In practice, asynchronous machines (ASM) do not find application within parallel hybrids. A complex operating strategy for the hybrid drivetrains is not necessary, as the LDS targets the acceleration from 0 to 100 km/h and therefore fully exploits the power of both engines. For the electric vehicles, the electric machines are either PSM or ASM. For each of them, there are three load curves with low, medium, and high rotational speeds. References for the load curves are engines of prototype or series vehicles of the AUDI AG. However, the tool offers the possibility to exchange the load curves, as needed.



Figure 3.5: Normalized load curves of the different drivetrains and engines used for the scaling of the engine load curves

To reduce the number of engine characteristics created by the scaling, the LDS calculates the power required to drive at maximum velocity, overcoming the rolling and the air resistance (Equation 3.1, Table 3.2). Normally, the definition of the maximum speed does not include any slope. Considering a lower and upper tolerance, the LDS eliminates all instances below and much higher than the required power [72, p. 48]. Here, the upper tolerance varies with the performance

class to ensure that enough power reserve remains at the sports level. However, these coherences do not apply to the electric drivetrains because, in most load curves, the maximum power is not available at the rotational speed required for the maximum velocity. For further information regarding vehicle's longitudinal dynamics, and driving resistances, the author refers to the literature [73, 74].

$$P_{v_{\text{max}}} = m_{V,0} g c_{\text{RR}} \left(v_{\text{max}} \pm v_{\text{tol},\text{L/U}} \right) + \frac{1}{2} c_{\text{W}} A_A \rho_A \left(v_{\text{max}} \pm v_{\text{tol}} \right)^3$$
 3.1

Table 3.2: Explanation of the parameters required for calculating the required engine power

Symbol	Unit	Description
A _A	m²	Vehicle front surface
c _{RR}	-	Rolling resistance
c_{W}	-	c _w -value
g	m/s²	Force of gravity
$m_{V,0}$	kg	Vehicle curb weight
$ ho_A$	kg/m³	Air density
$P_{v_{\max}}$	kW	Required engine power for maximum velocity
$v_{ m max}$	m/s	Maximum velocity
$v_{ m tol,L/U}$	m/s	Lower/upper tolerance velocity

Afterward, the remaining engine characteristics permute with the alternatives of the number of gear speeds. For the gearboxes of combustion or hybrid drivetrains, the number of gear speeds ranges from five to nine. The gearboxes of electric drivetrains contain only one gear speed. This creates a multitude of engine-gearbox combinations.

For each of the engine-gearbox combinations, the LDS designs the gearboxes, i.e. the transmission ratios. This varies between combustion/hybrid and electric drivetrains. In the combustions/ hybrids, the design of the transmission ratio of the first gear speed is the most complex. It has to be high enough to fulfill the climbing ability, the starting acceleration, and the creep velocity [72, p. 48, 75, pp. 46-47].

The climbing ability ensures that the vehicle can drive uphill (Equation 3.2, Table 3.3). Hereby, different scenarios with different slope and different vehicle and trailer setups exist.

$$i_{G_{cl}} = \frac{m_{V,L} g r_{dyn}(c_{RR} \cos q + \sin q)}{T_{E,Max} \eta_{dr}}$$
3.2

The starting acceleration defines the lowest acceleration of the vehicle (Equation 3.3, Table 3.3), based on the performance class. For the entry and medium classes, the targeted starting acceleration is moderate. For the sports class, it is as high as possible, thus limited only by the traction limit.

$$i_{G_a} = \frac{m_{V,0} \ r_{\rm dyn} \ (\lambda \ a_{\rm min} + g \ c_{\rm RR})}{T_{\rm E,Max} \ \eta_{\rm dr}}$$
 3.3

The creep velocity (\approx 7 - 9 km/h) is the lowest speed at which the vehicle can drive [75, p. 42], due to the idling speed of the combustion engines and the transmission ratio. It must be small enough to avoid uncoupling in low-speed roads and during traffic congestion (Equation 3.4, Table 3.3).

$$i_{G_{\rm cr}} = \frac{n_{\rm E,min} \ 2 \ \pi \ r_{\rm dyn}}{\nu_{\rm Cr}}$$

$$3.4$$

While these design criteria define the minimum required transmission ratio of the first speed, the traction limits the transmission ratios to prevent the tires from slipping (Equation 3.5, Table 3.3). The acoustics and manufacturability define another maximum for the transmission ratio [75, p. 50].

$$i_{G_t} = \frac{m_{V,0} \lambda a_{\max,T} r_{dyn}}{T_{E,Max} \eta_{dr}}$$
3.5

The LDS only considers engine-gearbox combinations where the transmission ratios of the first gear lie between these boundaries (Equation 3.6, Table 3.3).

$$\max(i_{G_{cl}}, i_{G_{a}}, i_{G_{cr}}) < i_{G_1} < \min(i_{G_t}, i_{G_p})$$
3.6

After the first gear, the LDS designs the transmission ratio of the second to last gear taking into account the maximum velocity [72, p. 50]. The last gear is not considered as this is usually a fuel-efficient overdrive. The transmission ratios of the intermediate gear speeds are then determined based on a progressive grading between the first and the second last gear speed [72, p. 50], leading to an even distribution of the velocity intervals of the gear speeds.

Symbol	Unit	Description
q	0	Slope angle (varies according to scenario)
a_{\min}	m/s²	Minimum acceleration
a _{max,T}	m/s²	Maximum acceleration due to traction limit
i_{G_1}	-	Transmission ratio of the first gear speed
i _{Ga}	-	Minimum transmission ratio for minimum acceleration
i _{Gcl}	-	Minimum transmission ratio for climbing
i _{Gcr}	-	Minimum transmission ratio for creep velocity
i_{G_p}	-	Maximum transmission ratio for producibility
i_{G_t}	-	Maximum transmission ratio for traction limit
λ	-	Rotational inertia factor
$m_{V,L}$	kg	Loaded vehicle weight (varies according to scenario)
$\eta_{ m dr}$	-	Efficiency of the drivetrain
$n_{\rm E,Min}$	1/min	Idle speed of the engine
$r_{ m dyn}$	m	Dynamic rolling radius
$T_{\rm E,Max}$	Nm	Maximum torque of the engine
$v_{\rm Cr}$	m/s	Creep velocity

 Table 3.3:
 Explanation of the parameters required for the gearbox design

In the electric drivetrains, the gearbox design varies because the tool only considers gearboxes with one gear speed. Additional gear speeds are not required because the electric machine provides high power and torque in most areas of the engine speed range. Therefore, almost all existing electric vehicles have gearboxes with only one gear speed. With only one gear speed, the tool calculates the transmission ratio solely based on the maximum engine speed and the desired maximum velocity. Afterward, with the calculated transmission ratio, the LDS eliminates the engine-gearbox combinations whose machine power is too low for the required climbing ability and the starting acceleration, and too high for the traction limit. The creep velocity is not relevant to electric machines because the idle speed of the machine is zero. Further information about the design of gearboxes is given by [76, pp. 95-136].

Finally, for the remaining engine-gearbox combinations, the LDS simulates the time to accelerate from 0 to 100 km/h. This is the central part of the LDS. At each time step of the simulation, the LDS uses the current velocity and the transmission ratio of the engaged gear to calculate the engine speed. With the engine speed, it is possible to look up the torque and power of the engine available at that time in the corresponding engine load curve. By comparing the engine torque with the driving resistances, the LDS calculates the possible acceleration at that time step (Equation 3.7) [72, p. 11]. The driving resistances do not include the climbing resistance because, for

maximum acceleration, the slope is zero. Integrating the acceleration leads to the velocity at the next time step.

$$a_{\rm V,t} = \frac{T_E \,\eta_{\rm dr} \, \frac{i_{\rm G_n}}{r_{\rm dyn}} - m_{\rm V,0} \, \mathrm{g} - \frac{1}{2} c_{\rm W} \, \mathrm{A}_{\rm A} \, \rho_A \, v_{\rm V,t}^2}{\lambda \, m_{\rm V,0}}$$
3.7

Table 3.4: Explanation of the parameters required for simulating the acceleration time

Symbol	Unit	Description		
a _{v,t}	m/s²	Acceleration at the current time step		
i_{G_n}	-	Transmission ratio of the engaged gear speed (with differential)		
$T_{E,t}$	Nm	Engine torque at the current time step		
v _{v,t}	m/s	Velocity at the current time step		

Since the goal is to accelerate as fast as possible, the LDS can also shift at each time step to always engage the gear speed with the highest power. This analysis of the gear speeds is based on the current velocity of the vehicle and, with the different transmission ratios, the various engine speeds and load points in the load curves.

The time steps increase incrementally until the vehicle reaches 100 km/h. Finally, the LDS compares the time of each engine-gearbox combination with the acceleration time required by the concept engineer and eliminates the ones out of tolerance.

The required parameters for the LDS are calculated either using a geometric substitute model (3.4.1), like tire diameter based on the vehicle weight, or derived from empirical valuations such as the c_w -values or the load distribution for different drive types. The use of dimensional chains of the vehicle dimensions design also determines the vehicle height (3.4.3) which is required to calculate the vehicle front surface.

The LDS runs on all possible vehicle variants as well as the different drivetrain types, including the variation of the fuel type, the charging type, and in the case of the electric machines, the engine type (ASM or PSM). If the selected drive type is not all-wheel drive within a vehicle variant, the LDS also iterates for the front- and rear-drive types. The result of the LDS is a variety of possible engine-gearbox combinations for each of the vehicle variants of the different vehicle models. The different engine-gearbox combinations fulfill the same input requirements and only vary in the power/torque and the number of gear speeds. In the following, each engine-gearbox combinations (Figure 3.6).

	Engine-Gearbox Combination 1	Engine-Gearbox Combination 2	 Engine-Gearbox Combination 15	Engine-Gearbox Combination 16	 Engine-Gearbox Combination 25	Engine-Gearbox Combination 26
Vehicle	1	1	 1	1	 1	1
Vehicle Variant	1	1	 1	1	 1	1
Performance Class	Entry	Entry	 Entry	Entry	 Entry	Entry
Drive Type	Front	Front	 Front	Front	 Front	Front
Drivetrain Type	ICEV	ICEV	 HEV	HEV	 BEV	BEV
Fuel Type	Gas	Gas	 Gas	Gas	 Electric	Electric
Charging	Nat. Aspir.	Nat. Aspir.	 Nat. Aspir.	Nat. Aspir.	 High Speed	High Speed
Engine Type	-	-	 -	-	 ASM	PSM
Engine Power Combustion in kW	140	130	 120	130	 -	-
Engine Power Electric in kW	-	-	 30	20	 70	60
Engine Torque Combustion in N m	230	210	 190	210	 -	-
Engine Torque Electric in N m	-	-	 110	70	 120	100
Number of Gear Speeds	6	7	 9	9	 1	1

MALKIC [72], gives a more detailed description and evaluation of LDS. Besides, S. FUCHS [77] uses a similar acceleration time simulation for his weight estimation tool. However, he does not design the gearboxes and only simulates one engine-gearbox combination at a time.

3.4 Architecture Generation

The main stage of the modular systems development (2.2.1) and thus the method is the generation of architectures. The foundation is geometric substitute models for the requirement-based, continuous scaling of components and distances between components (3.4.1). With the requirements as input, the method uses the geometric substitute models to synthesize and dimension all conceivable vehicle architecture alternatives (3.4.2) for all variants of the different vehicle models. Afterward, the method derives the available installation space (3.4.3). Finally, it is possible to identify feasible architecture alternatives by comparing the required and the available installation space with dimensional chains (3.4.4).

3.4.1 Geometric substitute models

A primary element of the architecture generation is the dimensioning of component sizes and distances between components. One option for dimensioning is the use of discrete datasets for a component. This allows the use of existing components. However, the discrete scaling restricts the adaptation to alterations of the input requirements and thus the holistic consideration of modular systems.

To enable the requirement-based, adjustable scaling of component sizes and the distances between them, this method uses geometric substitute models. The following describes the geometric substitute models that the method mainly applies during the synthesis of architectures (3.4.2). However, some of the models also find application during other stages and steps of the method. The following description is based in part on a publication of the author [47].

A geometric substitute model converts one or more requirements as model inputs into component sizes and distances as outputs (Figure 3.7).



Figure 3.7: General idea of geometric substitute models

Within the outputs, the focus is on the main dimension. Therefore, the geometric substitute models abstract the complex geometries into simpler shapes such as cuboids or cylinders (Figure 3.8).



Figure 3.8: Abstraction of complex geometries using the example of combustion engines

The geometric substitute models differ by the modeling granularity and the modeling types.

Depending on the modeling granularity, the geometric substitute model consists either of the overall dimension or of multiple subdivisions that add up to the overall dimensions. Figure 3.9 illustrates the breakdown of the overall engine length into different subdimensions.



1 Engine Length

2 Bore Diameter

Cylinder Block Length

(5) Overhang (incl. Wall Thickness)

Figure 3.9: Breakdown of the engine length into subdimensions, based on [47, p. 265]

SCHORN [78, pp. 27-29] defines the white-box models, the light-gray-box, the dark-gray-box, and the black-box modeling as modeling types. The white-box models are entirely based on physical laws and correlations. The gray-box models use both physical laws and empirical correlations to varying degrees [79, p. 145]. Black-box models empirically define the correlation between an input and an output using statistical methods. In the following, the author refers to them as physical, semi-physical for both light gray and dark gray models as well as empirical models.

The use of the modeling types depends on factors such as the complexity of the physical principles and the availability of empirical data [47, p. 267]. This thesis only considers geometric substitute models with empirical and semi-physical modeling types. For physical models, the correlations such as the chemical reaction within combustion engines are complex and therefore require input parameters that are not available at this early stage.

For the different modeling types, the author describes the development of the models in detail in the following. The remainder of the section then presents the created substitute models. To create individually adapted models the author usually applies the approaches separately to different component and installation position alternatives.

An empirical substitute model either models the overall dimensions, or it consists of multiple empirical models for subdimensions. In the latter case, the entire model is an interconnection of the different submodels. For one dimension, the empirical modeling can be either a regression function or a constant value derived from a normal distribution. When using regression functions, the dimensions vary with different requirements. For example, the cylinder block length as an active subcomponent varies with the engine torque. In contrast, constant values do not deviate with the requirements. This is plausible for components or subcomponents with limited variations in the automotive industry, such as the bumper beam. Moreover, this can be the case for passive (sub)components, like the engine overhang. Another reason is that, in particular, constant values usually do not model all but only certain alternatives of a component such as xenon headlights, or of a distance.

For every empirical model, data on the dimensions as well as the corresponding properties are necessary.

As the main data source for the dimensions, the author uses the automotive benchmarking database of A2Mac1 EURL [80]. The company disassembles vehicles and provides detailed benchmarking information in terms of dimensions and properties. For the dimensions, they provide a 2D database with images and dimensions of components (Figure 3.10) as well as a 3D database with 3D scans of the vehicle front (Figure 3.11). Considering only the vehicles from 2010 to 2018 to avoid the influences of technology leaps, the 2D database contains over 350 vehicle disassembles of over 40 automotive manufacturers. The 3D database includes 56 vehicle scans from 21 manufacturers. Additional sources for the dimensions were 3D data from vehicles of the AUDI AG as well as CAD sectional drawings from the Global Car Manufacturers Information Exchange (GCIE) [81]. Despite the multitude of data sources, it is important to know that the available data is divided into different technologies such as combustion, hybrid, and electric engines, thus reducing the available data points per model. Usually, each model builds only upon 2D or 3D databases.



Figure 3.10: A2Mac1 2D documentation of an AUDI A4 engine, based on [80]



Figure 3.11: A2Mac1 3D Scan of an AUDI A4 [80]

In addition to the dimensions, appropriate information on the component and vehicle properties is required. This information is also based on A2Mac1 and experts in the development departments of AUDI AG. Other sources are the database of the Allgemeine Deutsche Automobil-Club (ADAC) e.V. [82], as Europe's largest automobile club, as well as the database of the auto magazine Auto Motor und Sport (AMS) [83]. In this context, the difference between properties and requirements is that the properties describe the characteristics of existing vehicles and the requirements describe the desired characteristics for future vehicles. Consequently, the properties of current vehicles apply for the creation of the models and the requirements of future vehicles for the use of the models.

Using the empirical data, the empirical modeling of the dimensions is based on a standardized approach. Initially, the goal is to create a multiple linear regression function that associates the properties with the dimension using the least squares method. Here, the dependent variable is a dimension and can be a function of multiple metric (e.g., engine power) or binary (e.g., fuel type) explanatory variables (Equation 3.8).

Table 2 5

$$D = \alpha + \beta_i V_{M,i} + \gamma_i V_{B,j} + \delta_i V_{M,i} V_{B,j}$$
3.8

Explanation of the parameters of a generic linear regression function

Table 5.5.	Explanation of the parameters of a generic linear regression function
Symbol	Description
D	Dependent variable (Dimension)
${V}_{M,i}$	1 to i metric explanatory variables
$V_{B,j}$	1 to j binary explanatory variables
α	Constant term
$\boldsymbol{\beta}_i, \boldsymbol{\gamma}_i, \boldsymbol{\delta}_i$	Gradient term
$V_{B,j}$	1 to j binary explanatory variables
$V_{M,i}$	1 to i metric explanatory variables

Derived from the generic linear regression function, Figure 3.12 illustrates a linear regression function with one metric explanatory variable.



Figure 3.12: Illustration of a linear regression function with one metric explanatory variable, based on [84]

Various statistical tests, such as the Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) [85, p. 98], the homoscedasticity [86, pp. 78-79], as well as the F- and T-test [87, pp. 43-47], ensure the validity of the results. In addition, different statistical values output the accuracy of the regression. These are mainly the coefficient of determination (adj-R²), which indicates the coverage of the real data by the regression, and the normalized mean absolute error (nMAE). With the statistical values, it is also possible to compare different variations of a regression function. Finally, an out-ofsample test (OOST) analyzes the general validity of the regression function [88]. Depending on the overall number of data sets, the test recreates the regression function with only 75 to 90 % of the data. It then applies the regression function to the remaining data and evaluates the deviations between the calculated and the real dimensions. The OOST iterates multiple times to avoid influences of random sampling.

If there is no correlation between dimensions and properties, the creation of empirical geometric substitute models is continued with the derivation of a constant value α for the dimension D (Equation 3.9) using a histogram of the data (Figure 3.13). Consequently, the approach analyzes whether a normal distribution exists within the empirical data. In this case, the mean is defined as the constant value. To evaluate the normal distribution, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test exists [89]. Further statistical values for evaluation are the variance, the nMAE as well as the OOST.

$$D = \alpha = const.$$
3.9

Figure 3.13: Derivation of a constant value using a histogram and normal distribution, based on [84]

To develop the models, using the presented statistical approach, and to ensure a maximum of reproducibility, a statistics tool was created in MATLAB. The author gives a more detailed description of the statistical approach as well as the statistical tool in [47]. BORTZ [90] and STOETZER [87] provide further information on statistical analysis.

Within the semi-physical approach, the dismantling of the component or distance into subdimensions is inevitable. The procedure then uses the described empirical modeling for some of the dimensions. However, the model also consists of physically modeled dimensions. These link the input and the output by physical laws. While this approach does not require any empirical data, it needs more detailed parameters for the modeling. Typically, the physical modeling applies to active components, such as the cylinder block length, and the empirical modeling to passive subcomponents like the engine overhang.

The author applied the empirical and the semi-physical modeling approaches to the components and distances relevant to the architecture in the vehicle front. This resulted in geometric substitute models for over 20 components and distances of the drivetrain, the cooling, the chassis, the body, and the interior (Figure 3.14). For each of the different alternatives of components and distances, different geometric substitute models exist.

Drivetrain	 Combustion Engine (E) Hybrid Module (E) Electric Machine (E) Combustion/Hybrid Gearbox (E) Electric Gearbox (SP) Exhaust System (E)
Cooling	 Climate Condenser (E) Intercooler (E) Water Cooler (E) Cooling Fan (E)
Chassis	 Suspension Strut Mounting (E) Tire (E) Offset between Brake Disc and Wheel Rim (E) Brake Disc (E)
Body	 Headlights (E) Bumper Beam (E) Distance between Bumper Beam and Cooling System (E,SP) Side Members (E) Crash Length (E) Assembly Distances (E)
Interior	 Pedal System (E) Distance between BOF and H-Point (E) Underbody Height (E) Viewing Angle (E) Headroom (E)

Figure 3.14: Overview of the created geometric substitute models (E: Empirical, SP: Semi-Physical)

The combustion engine is one of the most complex components in motor vehicles. Therefore, the following exemplifies geometric substitute models by reference to combustion engines. To increase the model accuracy, the model consists of several submodels for the subdimensions (Figure 3.9).

Due to the complex physical correlations, this is an empirical model. Inputs are the subdimensions of over 220 combustion engines from A2Mac1. Also, the peak torque and power of the

engines are available. If several variants exist for one engine, the peak values come from the variant with the highest performance.

In the following, the author explains in detail the geometric substitute for the length of in-line engines with different fuel types (gas/diesel) and charging (naturally aspirated/supercharged). This model consists of the combination of two regression functions and three constant values.

At first, regression functions convert the engine torque $T_{E,max}$ into the required engine displacement volume V_{ED} . There are different regression functions for the gas naturally aspirated (Equation 3.10), the gas supercharged (Equation 3.11) and the diesel supercharged (Equation 3.12) engines. Since the engine type does not influence the engine displacement volume extremely, this equation is based on and valid for in-line and V-type engines. Within the regressions, the engine power is not an explanatory variable, as a mutual influence on the torque exist. The visualization of the equations (Figure 3.15) show that the supercharged diesel engines require the lowest engine displacement for the same torque. For the supercharged engines, the regression function does not differentiate the number of turbochargers.

$$V_{ED_{NAG}} = 71.2 \ cm^3 + 9.8 \frac{cm^3}{N \ m} \ T_{E,max}$$
3.10

$$V_{ED_{SCG}} = 40.7 \ cm^3 + 5.9 \frac{cm^3}{N \ m} \ T_{E,max}$$
 3.11

$$V_{ED_{SCD}} = 497.6 \ cm^3 + 4.0 \frac{cm^3}{Nm} \ T_{E,max}$$
 3.12



Figure 3.15: Regression function between the engine displacement volume and the engine torque, based on [47]

To determine the number of cylinders n_c , the model must divide the resulting engine displacement volume by an optimal cylinder swept volume V_{oc} . For all in-line engines, the statistical evaluation of the cylinder swept volume with values from 300 to 650 cm³ shows a high variance. The main reason for the dispersion is the high bandwidth of the engine displacement volumes in the database, which range from around 900 to 3000 cm³. Due to this bandwidth, the model considers two values for the optimal cylinder swept volume, for engines with an engine displacement volume lower and higher than 1800 cm³. This limit is chosen as it is in-between the popular 1.6liter and 2.0-liter engines. For the engines with a smaller engine displacement volume, the optimal cylinder swept volume is 400 cm³. While the statistical mean is 374 cm³ (Figure 3.16), the model considers this even number in orientation to the commonly used 1.2-liter (3 cylinders) and 1.6-liter (4 cylinder) engines. For engines with a higher engine displacement volume, the optimum cylinder swept volume is 500 cm³. In contrast to the slightly different statistical mean of 530 cm³ (Figure 3.17), this value makes it possible to derive engines with integer numbers of liters, like 2-liter (4 cylinders) or 3-liter (6 cylinders) engines [91, p. 22]. Overall, the distinction of the optimal cylinder swept volumes prevents the output of engines with too few or too many cylinders. However, the cylinder swept volume remains dependent on the automotive manufacturers' design philosophies. Consequently, it is possible for concept engineers to adjust the optimal cylinder swept volume used by the model.



Figure 3.16: Optimal cylinder swept volume for engines with engine displacement volume lower than 1800 cm³



Figure 3.17: Optimal cylinder swept volume for engines with engine displacement volume higher than 1800 cm³

With the two optimal cylinder swept volumes, it is possible to calculate the number of cylinders. Therefore, the model divides the engine displacement volume by either of the optimum cylinder swept volumes. Since the division does not necessarily result in an integer number of cylinders, the model needs to round the resulting number of cylinders to an integer number (Equation 3.13).

$$n_{C} = \left| \frac{V_{ED}}{V_{OC}} \right| \bigvee \left| \frac{V_{ED}}{V_{OC}} \right|$$
3.13

Due to the rounding, the final cylinder swept volume V_c differs slightly from the optimal cylinder swept values, which makes a further calculation necessary (Equation 3.14).

$$V_C = \frac{V_{ED}}{n_C}$$
 3.14

Using a constant value for the stroke-bore ratio r_{SB} (Figure 3.18), the calculated cylinder swept volume can be divided into the bore diameter *b* (Equation 3.15) and the stroke *s* (Equation 3.15). In the case of the in-line engine, the result is a long stroke-bore ratio that is similar to findings in previous studies [91, p. 22, 92, p. 13].

$$b = \sqrt[3]{\frac{V_C}{r_{SB} \frac{\pi}{4}}}$$
3.15

$$s = b \cdot r_{SB} \tag{3.16}$$



Figure 3.18: Normal distribution for the stroke-bore ratio, based on [47]

Subsequently, a regression function calculates the cylinder spacing as a function of the bore diameter (Equation 3.17, Figure 3.19). KÖHLER [92, pp. 29-30] identified a similar correlation.

$$cs = 17.4 \, mm + 0.9 \, b$$
 3.17



Figure 3.19: Regression function between the cylinder spacing and the bore-diameter, based on [47]

Using the number of cylinders, the bore diameter, and the cylinder spacing, it is possible to already calculate the cylinder block length L_{CB} (#4, Figure 3.9, Equation 3.18).

$$L_{CB} = b + (n_c - 1) cs 3.18$$

In addition to the cylinder block length, a constant value describes the length of the engine overhang L_{OH} (Figure 3.20) for components such as the belt drive. For this subdimension, the data showed no significant dependence on the engine torque or the size of the cylinder block length.



Figure 3.20: Normal distribution for the overhang, based on [47]

The subsequent use and combination of the various regression functions and constant values lead to a geometric substitute model for the length of in-line engines (Equation 3.19, Figure 3.21). The accuracy of the model described, based on the nMAE, is 93.8 %.

$$L_E = L_{CB} + L_{OH}$$
 3.19



Figure 3.21: Geometric substitute model for the length of in-line engines, based on [47]

Similar results exist for the width and height of the in-line engines. In addition, a model for the V-type engines is available.

The description of all geometric substitute models would far exceed the scope of this thesis. However, Appendix B gives an overview of the most crucial regression functions and constant values of the geometric substitute models. Additional descriptions of the geometric substitute models can be found in previous publications [47, 93] as well as in different student theses [84, 94–101] advised by the author.

In general, the accuracy of most geometric substitute models ranges from 85 to 95 % [100, pp. 45-76]. Lower accuracies around 75 % only result within components with plastic mountings, as within the intercooler, or within components strongly influenced by aesthetics, such as the head-lights. Another reason for models with lower accuracies is a limited amount of data, as within the exhaust system. However, even with only 75 %, the accuracy is high enough for use in the early stages of the vehicle architecture design. Moreover, the relative accuracy does not describe the impact on the overall model, due to different sizes of the components and distances.

Furthermore, it is important to know that the empirical and semi-physical models do not output the best or smallest solution available for a component or distance. Instead, they output the statistically most likely dimension, which results in a robust and conservative solution. Within the tool, the concept engineer can deviate from the statistical solution by defining optimization parameters in the GUI (3.3.1).

3.4.2 Synthesis of vehicle architectures

This step generates and dimensions all conceivable vehicle architectures by permuting of the component and installation position alternatives as well as the requirement-based dimensioning with the geometric substitute models.

The inputs of the synthesis are the engine-gearbox combinations, which, as explained in section 3.3.2, represent multiple instances of requirements (Figure 3.6). They describe all requirements for one combination of the vehicle model, the vehicle variant, the drivetrain, and the engine fuel and charging type. Due to the different load curves, the engine-gearbox combinations of the electric drivetrains also include the information about the engine type (ASM or PSM).

With the fuel type, the charging type, and the engine type, the engine-gearbox combinations already include some information about the architectures. The synthesis of the architectures extends the engine-gearbox combinations of all vehicle variants stepwise with all other combinable type and position alternatives of all considered components. After each extension, the method includes the dimensioning of the related component sizes and distances. The dimensioning is based on the requirements by applying the geometric substitute models.

As the first step within the synthesis, the engine-gearbox combinations are permuted with the different type and position alternatives of the engines/machines. This means that the engine-gearbox combinations of combustion engines are permuted with the in-line and the V-type type alternatives as well as the longitudinal and transversal installation position alternatives. This extends the engine-gearbox combinations to a multitude of preliminary architecture alternatives. Within each of these, the tool dimensions the engine length, width, and height. Therefore, the tool selects the corresponding geometric substitute model of the engine (3.4.1) based on the component and position alternatives defined in the respective preliminary architecture alternative. With the requirements of the individual architecture alternative as inputs conveyed by the engine-

gearbox combinations, the selected geometric substitute model outputs the dimensions of the engine. Hereby, the method eliminates architecture alternatives which exceed technical boundaries, like in the case of in-line engines more than six cylinders. The only difference for the engine-gearbox combinations of the hybrid engines is that the tool also dimensions the hybrid machine within this step. In contrast to the combustion/hybrid drivetrains, electric drivetrains do not have a multiplication effect on the engine-gearbox combinations. One reason is that the engine-gearbox combinations already include the machine type alternatives (PSM, ASM). Besides, for electric engines, no other than the transversal installation position is available on the market and within the method. Therefore, it is possible to use the geometric substitute model of the electric machines without a preceding extension.

In subsequent steps, the preliminary architectures are permuted with the combinable type and position alternatives of the gearbox, the exhaust system, the cooling system (climate condenser, intercooler, water cooler, and cooling fan), the chassis, the headlights, and the high-voltage battery. Figure 3.22 gives an overview of the possible component type and installation position alternatives considered within this thesis. It turns out that different type or position alternatives are not available for all components. Moreover, as within the engines, the preliminary architectures are not permuted with every component and position alternative. Instead, depending on the already defined specifications of an architecture alternative, the method only considers matching component and installation position alternatives. For example, the exhaust system is only available for combustion and hybrid drivetrains and varies with the engine type and the engine installation position. In contrast, the electric machines do not require an exhaust system, but an indirect water cooling is indispensable. Even though different types exist for the headlights and the high-voltage battery, the user can only select one per vehicle.

As within the first step of the synthesis, the method applies the geometric substitute models for the scaling of the component sizes and distances between components after each extension. Furthermore, the tool eliminates the architecture alternatives that do not comply with different technical boundaries, such as the maximum number of seven gear speeds for manual gearboxes.

After the permutation steps, the architectures are still preliminary. To fully specify them, the tool needs to add remaining components, which are the bumper beam, the side members, the bulk wall as well as the tires. For these components, the different component types vary only slightly in their geometries. Given the level of detail in the vehicle architecture design, the effects on the contemplated dimensions are negligible. In addition, only one installation position exists in reality. Consequently, the method considers only one component type and installation position alternative within the tool. Therefore, it is possible to merely include and dimension these components without permutation.

At the end of this step, the method also involves bundling some components, such as the climate condenser, the intercooler, the water cooler, and the cooling fan, to form a uniform cooling system. Therefore, the different dimensions are compared, and all components are assigned the maximum width and height. Another example for the bundling is with the clutch, hybrid module, and gearbox.

The synthesis results in over 250,000 generated vehicle architectures for all vehicle variants of the different vehicle models. The architectures are fully specified with one combination of component and installation position alternatives as well as all relevant component sizes and distances between components. However, it is not yet known whether the architectures comply with the available installation space and are thus feasible.

	Alternative 1	Alternative 2	Alternative 3	Alternative 4	Alternative 5	Alternative 6	Alternative 7
Engine Type	In-Line	V-Type	ASM	PSM			
Engine Installation Position	Longitudinal	Transversal					
Hybrid Module	PSM	None					
Gearbox Type	Manual	Double Clutch	Automatic	Axially Parallel			
Exhaust System Type	Gas Exhaust	Diesel Exhaust	None				
Exhaust System Position	Lateral Horizontal	Lateral Vertical	Rear Horizontal	Rear Vertical	Rear Central	Front & Rear Central	None
Climate Condenser Type	Gas/ Liquid						
Intercooler Type	Direct (Air/Air)	Indirect (Air/Water)	None				
Water Cooler Type	Indirect (Air/Water)	None					
Cooling Fan Type	Single/ Double						
Cooling System Position	Fullface	IC Below & Ahead	IC Below & Behind	Lateral IC			
Chassis Type	McPherson	Multi-Link					
Headlight Type	Halogen	Xenon	LED				
HV-Battery Type	Prismatic	Pouch	Cylindrical	None			

Figure 3.22: Illustration of the considered component and installation position alternatives

3.4.3 Derivation of the available installation space

The synthesis of the vehicle architectures generates a multitude of vehicle architectures. To identify the feasible architectures in the following, the method includes the derivation of the available installation space.

The available installation space defines the areas each vehicle model provides, unified among all vehicle variants, for integrating the components of the architecture. Within the vehicle front, only three areas with available installation spaces exist. One area is within the engine compartment and the other two are within the side aprons in front of the wheel house. The size of these areas depends on the exterior dimensions as well as some components and distances of the architectures, such as the bumper beam, the side members, and the wheel house.

The derivation of the available installation spaces is done using dimensional chains of the vehicle dimensions design in the x-, y-, and z-directions. The SAE standard J1100 [35] and the ISO

standard 4131 [102] define the overall vehicle dimensions and set the foundation of the derivation.

In the x-direction, the available installation space of the engine compartment $AIS_{EC/X}$ is determined based on the length of the vehicle front overhang OH and the prestige measure PM minus the license plate thickness $s_{LCP/x}$, the distance for pedestrian protection $d_{PP/x}$ and sizes of the bumper beam $s_{BB/x}$, the bulk wall $s_{BW/x}$, and the pedal system $s_{PE/x}$ (Equation 3.20). It is possible that the slope angle limits the space, leading to different lengths of the engine compartment at different z-levels.

$$AIS_{EC/X} = OH + PM - s_{LCP/X} - d_{PP/X} - s_{BB/X} - s_{BW/X} - s_{PE/X}$$
 3.20

The length of the side apron equals the overhang minus the pedestrian protection distance, the size of the bumper beam, and half of the wheel house. Hereby, the method contemplates the slope angle as well as the contour of the tire and its rotation, which leads to different lengths of the apron at different z-levels. In addition, the front of the side apron depends on the curvature of the bumper beam, which results from the curvature of the bumper. However, the curved side part of the bumper beam exists only for active pedestrian protection, which is a discrete optimization parameter within the tool.

Starting from the vehicle width in the y-direction, the tire width and the turning angle, as well as the strut mounting, define the position of the side members. The position of the side members determines the width of the side aprons as well as of the engine compartment. Figure 3.23 shows the derivation of the available installation spaces in the x- and y-directions.



Figure 3.23: Derivation of the available installation spaces in the x- and y-directions

The derivation of the available installation space in the z-direction is the most complicated since it depends on the angle and height of the hood and thus on the viewing angle and eye points of the driver (Figure 3.24). To determine the eye points, it is first necessary to decide on the x- and z-coordinates of the seating reference point (SgRP), with the 95th percentile male as reference [103, p. 397]. The method defines the x-coordinate from the gas pedal (BOF) as a function of the driver's legs and the H30-measure due to the knee-angle. The z-coordinate depends on the ground clearance, the underbody height, and the H30-measure. From the SgRP, the SAE standard J941 [104], with the body height of the 95th percentile male, defines the position of an eye ellipse. Despite the positioning with the 95th percentile male, the eye ellipse represents 95% of all percentiles and gender eye points. In addition, the EU directive 77/649/EWG [105] defines two different eye points of the driver from the SgRP. Within the directive, the definition of the points is not directly linked to percentiles and genders. From the eye ellipse and the eye points, viewing angles limit the available installation space. In both, the viewing angles are different. As only guidelines for the angle exists within the SAE, the method considers a statistically derived angle. In contrast, the EWG defines a regulatory viewing angle [33, pp. 19-20]. Since the eye points and the viewing angles vary within the SAE and the EWG, each of them can be relevant to the derivation of the available installation space at different x-coordinates. Therefore, the tool always compares the viewing straights and derives the height of the engine compartment at the contemplated x-coordinate based on the in z-direction lower viewing straight and the pedestrian protection distance. In the z-direction, the distance for pedestrian protection depends on the material of the hood (aluminum/steel) and the type of pedestrian protection (active/passive). For the height of the available installation space on the side, it is not necessary to consider the pedestrian protection. BUBB [103, pp. 350-405] provides further information on the positioning of the driver in the vehicle. The required component sizes and distances for the available installation space in the z-direction, such as the underbody height or the viewing angle of the SAE, are also based on empirical geometric substitute models (3.4.1).

The method performs the derivation of the available installation space for each vehicle model separately. However, within one vehicle model, some dimensions initially vary within the different vehicle variants and drivetrain types. Since the tire size depends on the weight, the dimension is usually the highest for the vehicle variant with the maximum performance. Furthermore, the underbody battery of the electric vehicles influences the weight, and thus the tire size but also the underbody height and, consequently, the eye points and vehicle height. Thus, the method derives and unifies the minimal available installation space among all vehicle variants. However, the modular system type also influences the unification of the available installation space. Within a single-drivetrain approach, the tool derives and unifies the minimal installation space among all vehicle variants but separately for combustion/hybrid and electric drivetrains. The multi-drivetrain approach unifies the minimum installation space between all vehicle variants and drivetrain types. This leads to unified positioning and dimensions of the body components, such as the side members and strut mount.

In addition to the definition of the eye points, the tool similarly defines the height of the vehicle for the LDS (3.3.2).



Figure 3.24: Derivation of the available installation spaces in the z-direction

3.4.4 Comparison of the required and the available installation space

Based on the available installation spaces, it is now possible to analyze the feasibility of the vehicle architectures, defined in the synthesis of architectures (3.4.2). The method, therefore, compares the required installation space of each architecture alternative of every vehicle variant with the available installation space of the corresponding vehicle model. In this method, the comparison is based on the dimensional chains of the vehicle architecture design, which assess whether the distances between components comply with minimum specifications.

As explained by the author in [37, pp. 192-193], dimensional chains of the vehicle architecture design consist of component sizes and distances between ambient components within a start and end point along a defined coordinate direction (Figure 2.5).

Within this method, there are nine main dimensional chains in the x-, y-, and z-directions with over 20 variants and more than 200 parametric component and distance chain elements. This high number results from the fact that the various component types, such as engine types and installation positions such as the lateral positioning of the intercooler, require different variants of the main dimensional chains with varying chain elements. One example is the lateral intercooler, which requires a dimensional chain on the side of the vehicle. Another example is the longitudinal and transversal installed gearboxes. Furthermore, there are dimensional chains without variations, such as the one from the bumper beam over the headlight to the wheel house.

For the comparison with the available installation space, the start and end points are located within the available installation space, for example, within the bumper beam and the bulk wall. Figure 3.25 shows a dimensional chain in the x-direction in the engine compartment. Further illustrations of the most important dimensional chains and their variants can be found in Appendix C.



① Distance between bumper beam and cooling system

- (2) Thickness of the cooling system
- ③ Distance between cooling system and engine
- (4) Length of the engine
- $\textcircled{\textbf{5}}$ Distance between the engine and the bulk wall
- **(6)** Length of the engine compartment

Figure 3.25: Dimensional chain within the engine compartment in the x-direction

Using the dimensional chains, the comparison is divided into three steps, which the method conducts for all dimensional chains of an architecture alternative and for each of the 250,000 architecture alternatives.

As the first step, the tool selects the appropriate dimensional chain variants and chain elements based on the component types and installation positions of the architecture alternative.

In the second step, the tool inserts the component sizes into the corresponding component chain elements. For example, it inserts the length of a longitudinal installed engine into the chain element for the engine within a dimensional chain in the x-direction. In addition, the tool inserts the minimum required values into the distance chain elements of the dimensional chain. The distances, such as the distance between the cooling system and the engine, mainly represent crash and assembly requirements but also vibration and thermal requirements. The distances also depend on the different component types and installation positions. The mentioned distance between the cooling system and the engine is small for front-drive type architectures, while it is high for the rear-drive types to achieve an optimal load distribution for each drive type. To determine the distances, empirical geometric substitute models exist (3.4.1). These are mainly constant values, as in the previous example. In some cases, the constant value is not based on the mean but on the 25th or 15th percentile, for instance. Hereby, the concept engineer can choose between the two percentiles by switching from the robust to the progressive design option, which is a discrete optimization parameter. For the distance between the bumper beam and the cooling system, there exists an empirical substitute model for the regulatory design. In the case of the insurance classification design, a semi-physical model calculates the distance required to protect the cooling system from damages during the Research Council for Automobile Repairs' (RCAR) structure test [69].

Afterward, the component and distance chain elements add up to the overall length of the dimensional chain. Equation 3.21 gives an example of the addition of the x-dimensional chain over the engine in the engine compartment.

$$DC_{EC/X} = d_{BB-CS/X} - c_{CS/X} - d_{CS-E/X} - c_{E/X} - d_{E-BW/X}$$
3.21

Symbol	Unit	Description
$d_{BB-CS/x}$	mm	Distance between the bumper beam and the cooling system in the x-direction
$d_{CS-E/x}$	mm	Distance between the cooling system and the engine in the x- direction
DC _{EC/X}	mm	Length of the dimensional chain over the engine in the engine com- partment
$d_{E-BW/x}$	mm	Distance between the engine and the bulk wall in the x-direction
s _{CS/x}	mm	Cooling system thickness in the x-direction
$S_{E/x}$	mm	Engine length in the x-direction

 Table 3.6:
 Explanation of the parameters required for calculating the dimensional chain over the engine in the engine compartment

Then the method entails comparing of the length of the dimensional chain with the corresponding available installation space. One exemplary comparison is between the dimensional chain within

the engine compartment $DC_{EC/X}$ and the length of the engine compartment $AIS_{EC/X}$ (Equation 3.22). This comparison can lead to three different results: either the required installation space is similar, lower, or higher than the available installation space.

$$AIS_{EC/X} \leftrightarrow DC_{EC/X}$$
 3.22

No action is required if the required and the available installation spaces are similar. In case the installation space is lower, it is necessary to define which distance chain element of the dimensional chain to increase. This means that each dimensional chain requires one or more distance elements with a higher degree of freedom. In the case of the front-drive type, this is the distance between the engine and the bulk wall. In the rear-drive type, this is the distance between the cooling system and the engine. This leads to the best load distribution for the corresponding drive type. In the y-direction, the tool increases the distances on both sides of the engine for symmetrical positioning. In the z-direction, the distance between the hood and the engine is adjustable to increase pedestrian protection.

If only within one dimensional chain the required installation space is higher than the available installation space, the architecture alternative is not feasible. Another criterion for feasibility exclusively in the x-direction is the crash length. This means that the sum of all distances between the bumper beam and the bulk wall in the x-direction must be higher than a minimum empirical value to provide enough space for the energy reduction during a crash.

In most dimensional chains, this step ultimately determines the feasibility of the architecture alternative. For example, if the space for the headlamps within the bumper beam and the wheel house is too small, the architecture alternative is not feasible. In this case, the tool issues an error report to help the concept engineer define adjustments.

In one case, however, it is possible to influence the corresponding dimensional chain and to iterate the second and third steps. The tool initially positions the cooling system and the engine for front-drive type as far forward as possible. This allows a high load distribution on the front axle favorable for this drive type. However, the positioning is problematic for the distances in the z-direction between the cooling system and the engine to the hood since the available installation space decreases in the z-direction toward the front of the vehicle. Therefore, if the cooling system or the engine does not comply with the available installation space in the z-direction, the tool moves it sufficiently backward within the iteration to conform with the z-dimensional chain. This leads to an adjustment of the distance between the bumper beam and the cooling system as well as between the cooling system and the engine in the x-direction. Within the dimensional chains in the x-direction, it is therefore necessary to reassess whether the distance between the engine and the bulk wall is still higher than the minimum required value. This possibility of iteration only exists because the available installation space in the z-direction decreases toward the front. Moreover, the iteration is only successful if additional installation space is available in the x-direction. For the rear-drive type, this iteration makes no sense since the positioning of the engine is already as close as possible to the bulk wall, to allow a higher load distribution on the rear axle.

Due to the adjustment of the distance elements either due to an excess of available installation space or as a result of the described iteration, this step leads to a repositioning of the components. Consequently, it changes the initially defined architectures and outputs the final architectures.



Figure 3.26: Displacement of the engine in the x-direction to increase the pedestrian protection distance in the z-direction

Figure 3.27 gives an overview of the three-step process for comparing the required and available installation space.



Figure 3.27: Overview of the process for the comparison of the required and available installation space using dimensional chains (DC: length of the dimensional chain; AIS: available installation space)

The systematization of the dimensional chains with different variants, as well as the use of variable distance elements and iterations for repositioning components, enable the implementation of the dimensional chain systematic usually performed manually by concept engineers. This ensures a transparent and systematic approach.

3.5 Derivation of Modular Systems

With the generation of over 250,000 vehicle architectures, through the permutation of the enginegearbox combinations with the conceivable component type and installation position alternatives, the entire solution space is considered. The comparison of the required and the available installation space already significantly reduced the number of vehicle architectures. However, a variety of architectures is still available for each vehicle model and vehicle variant. These architecture alternatives differ in their external variants as a combination of the vehicle model, the vehicle variant, and different drivetrain types, as well as the internal variance, such as the engine type and the engine installation position. Other internal variants are the engine-gearbox combinations in terms of the engine power or the number of gear speeds or the various cooling system positions. Figure 3.28 shows an example of various architecture alternatives. Hereby, it should be noted that the figure does not illustrate all external and internal variants, as this would lead to thousands of branches/architecture alternatives. In addition, the vehicles and vehicle variants do not necessarily have to have the same number of architecture alternatives. Depending on the requirements, more or fewer architectures are feasible.



Figure 3.28: Examples of different architecture alternatives (each branch represents an architecture alternative)

In general, the goal is to offer any combination of the external variants to fulfil the requirements of the customers. This means that, for each combination of the external variants, only one architecture must exist. Further architectures are not necessary as the internal variance is not relevant to the customer. Consequently, it is necessary to select one architecture alternative per combination of external variance and to eliminate all the other architecture alternatives.

One possible way is to select the architecture alternatives based on their individual properties, such as the performance or the required installation space. Since the selection would be made separately for each combination of external variants, the selected architectures could vary in their internal variance. This means that the internal variance of the first variant of the first vehicles would differ from the other variants or vehicles. Consequently, this would lead to a high internal
variance among the vehicle models and vehicle variants. As the aim of this method is to develop a modular system and thus minimize the internal variance, this procedure is not applicable.

Therefore, the choice of the architecture alternatives within this method is based on minimizing the internal variance. Thus, it is necessary to consider all architecture alternatives of all vehicle models and variants together. Then, the selection process first selects the architecture alternatives that share cross-vehicle modules such as the engine or gearbox. However, modularization does not eliminate all architecture alternatives. Instead, for each combination of the external variance and architectural standards, meaning the drive type, the engine installation position and the chassis type, one architecture alternative remains. Otherwise, the modularization could lead to architecture alternatives with different architectural standards, making the derivation of architectural standards unlikely in the subsequent step. Together, the identification of the modular systems and their architectures.

3.5.1 Identification of modules

The first step in reducing the internal variance is the identification of cross-vehicle modules. In this context, a module is a component of a specific type and property that is also present in other vehicle variants and vehicle models. For example, several vehicle variants use the 120 kW gas in-line engine. This method does not cover modules with the same component type, but slightly different properties. For instance, a 150 kW engine could be based on the same engine block as the 120 kW engine when using a separate control unit. Further definitions of modules are available in the literature [3, p. 133, 42, pp. 665-667].

The modularization analyzes if within different vehicle variants, multiple vehicle architectures use the same component. If so, the method defines these components as modules. When defining the modules, the method only considers the corresponding architectures further and eliminates redundant ones. The redundant ones differ only in the internal variance and do not affect the external variance. In case no modules are possible, the selection of the architecture alternatives is based on the minimum required installation space. Overall, the modularization is done separately for all combinations of the external variants and the architectural standards to avoid influences on the derivation of architectural standards.

Continuing with the previous example (Figure 3.28), the modularization would result in a module for the 170 kW gas, longitudinal installed, in-line engine available in variants of vehicle 1 and vehicle 2. The redundant architectures with the 160 kW and 180 kW engines (Figure 3.29) then become unnecessary. No module is possible for the 160 kW, gas, transversal installed, in-line engine because there is no other architecture alternative with same engine installation position and hence architectural standard available. For the 300 kW and the 310 kW engines of the last vehicle, also no modules are possible as no other engines with same engine power exist. Since in this case, the definition of a module is not possible, but several architectures with same architectural standards exist, the selection is based on the minimum required installation space, which is usually the engine with the lower performance.



Figure 3.29: Examples of architecture alternatives after the modularization

In the following, the implemented process for the modularization will be described in detail using the example of combustion engines. Within the combustion engines, the tool modularizes gas and diesel engines separately to maintain the external variance. Among the different fuel types, the module can be either in-line or V-type. This means that the different engine types compete with each other. Similarly, the method includes the modularization of the electric machines, the hybrid modules, and gearboxes.

In the first step, the modularization bundles the vehicle architectures of all vehicle variants and in the case of the combustion engines, subdivides them by combinations of the drivetrain type and the fuel type. Of course, it is necessary to merge the architectures of the different vehicles and variants to identify modules, but only within and not across the drivetrain and fuel types. Without the distinction between gas and diesel engines, modularization would lead to the definition of modules but also to the elimination of architectures with different external variants.

In the second step, the tool subdivides the preceding group of vehicle architectures into all combinations of the architectural standards. Within this method, the architectural standards are the drive type, the engine installation position, and the chassis type. The classification is necessary because otherwise, the modularization would lead to modules in architectures with different architectural standards. As a result, the chances of identifying architectural standards across all vehicle variants and modules in the final step would diminish. As a result of the first and second steps, the tool grouped the vehicle architectures through combinations of the external variance and architectural standards. Within each combination, the architectures differ only in further internal variants such as the engine type (in-line or V-type) and the engine-gearbox combinations (engine power/torque and number of gear speeds). Another distinction between the architectures can be the type and position of the cooling system.

The third step is to identify possible modules by analyzing within each group whether different vehicle variants use the same engine. The engines must be identical in their type and properties to form a module. One example is an in-line gas engine with 120 kW. This step is repeated until the tool compares all architectures and identifies all possible modules. The possible modules either differ in their type, for example, within the combustion engines, the in-line or V-type, or in their properties such as, for example, the engine power of 130 kW. Consequently, the results of the third step are the overall possible modules.

The fourth step is to select within each group the modules that together cover all vehicle models and variants. The general idea is to choose one module after the other until the modules cover all vehicle variants and vehicle models. This means that the tool only contemplates the architecture alternatives with the selected modules further and eliminates all the remaining alternatives.

However, the selection is more complicated because the result of step 3 is a higher number of modules than required. This is primarily due to the high internal variance caused by the various engine-gearbox combinations. The higher number of modules leads to an intersecting coverage of the models. Consequently, various possible modules cover the same vehicle variants.

Due to the intersections, the modules are interdependent. Therefore, selecting one module changes the coverage of the remaining modules and makes the order of the selection important. However, the dependency also makes it possible that the selection of one module makes a further module superfluous since it does not cover any additional vehicle variants and vehicle models.

Therefore, the challenge is to identify the combination of possible modules that, with the intersecting coverage, overall minimizes the number of modules and eliminates as many other modules as possible.

In order to compare different combinations of modules, the author and LEVRAT [106] introduced the level of modularization η_{Mod} (Equation 3.23). With the maximum required number of components $n_{c,Max}$ minus the after the modularization existing number of components n_{Mod} , the numerator defines the reduction in variance. The maximum number of components is equal to the number of vehicle variants, i.e. no modules exist. The denominator describes the maximum reduction in the variance, as the minimum number of components $n_{Mod,Min}$ is always 1. In this case, only one module covers all vehicle variants of all vehicle models, which is the best possible result. The level of modularization increases as fewer modules are required to cover the vehicle variants and vehicle models. The values for the level of modularization always range between 0 and 100 %.

$$\eta_{Mod} = \frac{Reduction \ of \ Internal \ Variance}{Maximal \ Reduction \ of \ Internal \ Variance} = \frac{n_{c,Max} - n_{C,Mod}}{n_{c,Max} - n_{C,Min}} \qquad 3.23$$

Using a simplified example for the modularization procedure, the author aims to illustrate the interdependencies within this step. This example is based on diesel engines, with front-drive type, longitudinal engine installation, and multi-link chassis. As shown in Figure 3.30, there are

three vehicles with each three vehicle variants. For these, 15 different architecture alternatives with different engine power exist. This leads to three possible modules as described in step 3.

Many of the modules intersect in their covered vehicle variants and consequently vehicle models. For example modules 1 and 2 both cover the vehicle variant 2 of the second vehicle. The modules 2 and 3 both include the vehicle variants of the second and third vehicle.

One possible combination for modularization would be to select module 1 first, then module 2, and then module 3. The selection of module 1 eliminates redundant architectures. Therefore, module 2 no longer covers the second variant of vehicle 2. However, module 2 still covers two vehicle variants and reduces the coverage of module 3 from five to three. Overall, this combination covers all external variants with the exception of one, with three modules thus leading to a level of modularization of 78.6 %. In contrast, modularizing module 1 and module 3 achieves the highest level of modularization with 85.7 %. In this case, two modules and one single component for the first variant of the second vehicle cover all vehicle models and variants.

This example shows the dependencies between the possible modules and the effects of the selection sequence on the overall level of modularization.



Figure 3.30: Simplified example of the modularization procedure

Apart from the simplified example of the modularization procedure, the higher number of vehicles, vehicle variants, and engine-gearbox combinations quickly lead to over 50 possible modules. Therefore, the solution space exceeds 10^{12} combinations. The consideration of all combinations and permutations would be too time-consuming and is in no relation to the time required for the generation of the architectures (factor > 25). Thus, the method implements an approach that first identifies the local optimum. Based on the local optimal solution, the tool can limit the permutations within the combinations to calculate the global optimal solution.

To identify the local optimal solution, the method first selects the module with the highest coverage of vehicle variants. In the example above, this would be module 3. The selection automatically eliminates all redundant architectures within the covered vehicle variants. The tool then recalculates the coverage of the remaining modules. Based on the recalculation, the tool selects the next module with the highest coverage within the remaining modules. In this example, this would be module 1. This procedure is repeated until either all vehicle variants and vehicle models are modularized or until no further modules are possible. Hereby, already after the second selection, two modules cover all vehicle models and vehicle variants. Only for the first variant of the second vehicle, no module can be defined. Consequently, the level of modularization in this example can only be less than 100 %. The result with the selected modules is the local optimum, which indicates the maximum number of required modules. Any modularization with a higher number of modules would never lead to a better level of modularization.

Then the tool identifies the global optimal solution. Hereby, the tool creates all possible combinations of modules but limits the number of permutations within each combination to the maximum number of required modules (local optimum). In the example, the local optimum solution is based on two modules. Therefore, the global optimum solution calculates any combination of up to two modules (Figure 3.31). This approach significantly reduces the number of possible solutions but can still exceed 10^6 solutions.



Figure 3.31: Identification of the global optimum with the local optimum as boundary

Within each combination, the tool does not select and modularize the module with the highest coverage but follows the defined sequence of the permutations. The stepwise selection, modularization, and elimination lead to the number of modules required for each combination. Based on the number of modules, the tool calculates the level of modularization and outputs the global optimum solution with the overall highest value. As in the example, it is possible that the local optimum solution is also the global optimum solution.

If multiple combinations exist with the same level of modularization, the selection of the global optimal solution within the method is based on the minimum required installation spaces of the underlying architectures. A smaller required installation space increases the crash performance and simplifies assembly operations. If no module is possible at all within one vehicle model and vehicle variant, the tool also distinguishes the architectures on the basis of the minimum required installation space.

These steps are repeated separately for all combinations of external variance and architectural standards. Besides the combustion engines, the method applies the process to the electric machines, the hybrid modules, and the gearboxes. The thesis does not cover further modularization as the main focus is on the generation of architectures and the derivation of architectural standards. However, it would be possible to apply the approach to additional components such as the cooling system.

As a result of the modularization, the tool only considers the architecture alternatives with the selected modules or, if no modules are possible, the minimum required installation space further eliminates all remaining alternatives. Consequently, there remains only one architecture for each combination of the external variance and the architectural standards. Using the modularization, the reduction is mainly based on the minimization of the internal variance.

3.5.2 Derivation of architectural standards

The previous step reduces the internal variance within one combination of the external variance and architectural standards. Consequently, a few architecture alternatives still exist within every external variant. The aim of this step is therefore to determine whether, architectures with the same architectural standards are feasible in all external variants. In this case, it is possible to eliminate all other architectures, resulting in only one architecture per external variance. The resulting architectures with their modules and architectural standards then form the modular system at a minimum of internal variance.

Again referring to the previous example (Figure 3.28, Figure 3.29), it is apparent that in all external variants, an architecture alternative with longitudinal engine installation is available. Thus, these architectures with their modules and with the longitudinal engine installation as a unified architectural standard form the modular system as a final result. Since there are no other unified architectural standards available among all external variants, the remaining architecture alternatives can be eliminated (Figure 3.32). This leads to exactly one architecture per external variant. It is important to note that in this example, for purposes of illustration, only the engine installation position has been considered an architectural standard.



Figure 3.32: Examples of architecture alternatives, after the derivation of architectural standards

According to this simplified example, the general idea of the derivation is to identify whether feasible architectures with the same architectural standards exist for all external variants (different vehicle models, vehicle variants, drivetrain types, fuel types, and gearbox types). In this thesis, the architectural standards are different combinations of the drive type, the chassis type, and the engine installation position. The front- and rear-drive types describe the primary orientation of the drive type but may be in either two- or all-wheel configuration. These are the most essential architectural standards within the vehicle front. Nevertheless, it is possible to extend the method to further architectural standards. If feasible architectures with the same architectural standards exist for all external variants, unified architectural standards can be derived. The architectural standards then define the modular system together with the cross-vehicle modules.

This method covers up to 50 external variants due to the different vehicle models, vehicle variants as well as various drivetrain types. With 50 external variants and eight combinations of architectural standards up to 400 feasible or infeasible architecture alternatives exist. Consequently, for the derivation, it is necessary to identify 50 feasible architectures with the same architectural standards, out of the 400 possibilities. This makes the derivation of the architectural standards complex.

An algorithm could quickly identify whether architectures with the same combination of architectural standards are feasible for all external variants. However, if feasible architectures with the same architectural standards are not available for all external variants, the derivation is not possible. In this case, it is difficult for the concept engineer to define required adjustments within an iteration. Besides, it is not possible to identify separate modular systems, with less external variance.

Therefore, the author has developed the modular systems matrix (MSM) which, if feasible architectures exist, outputs for the different combinations of external variants and architectural standards. In this way, the method visualizes the results in a structured manner and give the concept engineer the possibility to analyze the solution space. This allows either the derivation of architectural standards or dedicated iterations.

The columns of the matrix describe the external variance, while the rows represent the architectural standards. Each matrix element represents a feasible or an infeasible architecture. However, BEV architectures with a longitudinal engine installation are not practical. In addition, due to the application of the method to the vehicle front, an architecture for BEV and rear-drive type only exists if the user has selected an all-wheel configuration. In contrast, the tool does not output an architecture for BEV with a two-wheel and rear-drive type configuration.

Using the MSM, the concept engineer can determine whether there are feasible architectures for all external variants and one combination of architectural standards. If this is the case, it is possible to derive architectural standards.

Within the MSM, however, the derivation of architectural standards depends on the defined modular system type. For single-drivetrain modular systems, the derivation is separate for ICEV/HEV and BEV. Within the multi-drivetrain approach, the available installation space of one vehicle model is independent of the drivetrain type. Therefore, it allows the identification of unified architectural standards among all drivetrain types.

Figure 3.33 shows an example of an MSM. By way of illustration, this MSM limits the external variants to two vehicles. This MSM also indicates no further subdivision by fuel type and gearbox type within the ICEV and HEV. Appendix D visualizes a fully specified MSM as the final result of the method.



Figure 3.33: Example of the modular systems matrix

In this example, the single-drivetrain approach leads to the front-drive type, the McPherson suspension, and the longitudinal engine installation as one combination of architectural standards for the vehicles with combustion/hybrid drivetrains. Another combination would be the front-drive type, the McPherson suspension, and the transversal engine installation. The architectural standards of the electric drivetrains correspond to the second combination of the combustion/hybrid drivetrains. Either way, the single-drivetrain approach results in the definition of two separate modular systems.

In the case of the multi-drivetrain approach, one modular system for ICEV/HEV and BEV can be defined. In this example, a modular system would be feasible with the front-drive type, the McPherson suspension, and the transversal engine installation as architectural standards. This is only possible as the available installation spaces of one vehicle are similar for all drivetrain types. A particular case for a multi-drivetrain modular system would be with front-drive type, McPherson suspension, and longitudinal installation for ICEV/HEV as well as transversal installation for BEV. This exception is only possible because the engine installation position does not affect the available installation space. This could also be seen as a modular system with only the drive type and the chassis type as architectural standards, as the engine installation position varies. However, this is not possible for the other architectural standards because a modular system would usually not combine different drive types and chassis types.

After selecting a modular system or different variations, all other architectures in the MSM become unnecessary.

However, it is also possible, that no modular system is available because for the different external variants, not all architectures with certain architectural standards are feasible. In this case, the tool provides an error report for each matrix element, indicating the failing dimensional chain and the gap between the required and the available installation space. This helps the concept engineer to define optimization parameters or to adjust the requirements for an iteration.

If using optimization parameters and adjusting the requirements are not successful or not desired, it is possible to derive various modular systems or independent platforms. In the exemplified MSM, the rear-drive type, the McPherson suspension and the transversal engine installation as architectural standards cover variants of vehicle 1. In contrast, the front-drive type, the multi-link, and the transversal engine installation cover all variants of vehicle 2. If there are additional vehicles with the same architectural standards as vehicle 2, these could form a modular system. This would lead to a modular system and an individual platform/vehicle.

Moreover, the tool also outputs the level of modularization in the MSM for each combination of the architectural standards. Even though one combination of architectural standards fulfills all external variants, the level of modularization may be low.

Finally, the method entails the visualization of any vehicle architecture (matrix element) within a parametric model of the vehicle front in CATIA (Figure 3.34).



Figure 3.34: Parametric model of the vehicle front for the visualization of the resulting architectures

3.6 Application of the Method

The previous sections describe the method for the automated development of modular systems within the vehicle front. This section outlines its application.

Using the tool, a concept engineer inputs the requirements as a result of the product planning and benchmarks. Depending on the number of vehicle models, vehicle variants, and drivetrains, the application of the method requires less than an hour to generate the architectures and to identify modules and architectural standards. In the best case, the tool indicates that with the defined inputs, it is possible to derive a modular system with unified architectural standards and a high level of modularization within the cross-vehicle modules.

If there are no unified architectural standards or the level of modularization is too low, the method allows for targeted iteration. Alike to the process for the development of modular systems (2.2.1), three iterations are meaningful. If necessary, concept engineers apply the iterations for single or multiple vehicle variants and vehicle models.

In the first iteration, the concept engineer can use the optimization parameters to deviate from the statistical output component sizes and distances. For example, the concept engineer can reduce the dimensions of the engine by a defined percentage. In addition, it is possible to apply the discrete optimization parameters and switch to extra load tires, for example. To define the optimization parameters, the concept engineer can analyze the error report and the gap between the required and the available installation space that the tool outputs in the GUI. Moreover, the concept engineer can assess the current dimensions to decide if and by how much a reduction of the component sizes and distances is possible.

If the use of optimization parameters is not successful, the concept engineer can use the second iteration to adjust the input requirements. For example, the concept engineer can change the exterior dimensions or the acceleration time and maximum velocity. The assessment of the changes is also based on the error report and the gap of the installation spaces.

The last iteration requires the concept engineer to reduce the external variance because the conflict of interest between the external and internal variance is not solvable even when using optimization parameters and adjusted requirements. This means that he must exclude different vehicle variants or models. The MSM provides a transparent overview of the variants and vehicles to exclude.



Figure 3.35 gives an overview of the application of the method.

Similar to the manual process, the method enables iterations in the case a modular system is not possible. However, compared to the manual process, the time for iterations is much less. In

Figure 3.35: Application of the method

addition, the method covers the entire solution space. An iteration with further architectures is therefore not necessary. Also, with the higher number of solutions, iterations are less likely.

Variations of the described process variations are possible with the tool. However, these represent individual cases, which this thesis does not cover.

4 Evaluation

This chapter describes the evaluation of the presented method. The objective is the assessment of the capabilities and the derivation of improvement measures. The evaluation therefore applies the implemented tool and compares the results obtained with existing series vehicles and modular systems.

The evaluation is divided into two parts. The first part (4.1) focuses on the evaluation of the generation of vehicle architectures. Therefore, this part evaluates the first and second stages of the tool. The evaluation of the resulting architectures is of utmost importance as they set the foundation for the derivation of the modular system. The second part (4.2) evaluates the derivation of modular systems, focusing on the third stage of the tool. Consequently, the second part evaluates the applicability of the entire method for the development of modular systems.

Both stages focus on the functionality of the tool and do not consider the validation of the GUI usability.

LEVRAT [106] and TRÜMPER [99] also cover aspects of this evaluation.

4.1 Evaluation of Vehicle Architectures

The idea of the first evaluation part is to assess, with the properties of existing series vehicles as inputs, whether a feasible output of the tool is the actual architecture of the corresponding series vehicle. This part of the evaluation, consequently, assesses the first two stages of the method, the requirement definition, and the generation of architectures. In the following, the author describes the database, the procedure, and the results of the first part of the evaluation.

4.1.1 Database for the evaluation

To assess the functionality of the architecture generation extensively, the objective is to create a diversified evaluation database, with one vehicle for each combination of the vehicle segment, the body type, the drivetrain type, and the drive type.

However, the evaluation not only requires the properties of the vehicles as input requirements. Besides broadly available information about the engine type and the architectural standards, more detailed information about the architectures, such as the cooling system position, must be present. In the databases accessible to the author, the detailed architecture information is only available in the 3D databases of A2Mac1 [80] and AUDI AG. Moreover, only 3D models allow measurements of the component sizes and the distances between components.

Due to the limited number of vehicles in these databases, a vehicle is not available for every combination of vehicle segment, body type, drivetrain type, and drive type. Nevertheless, the evaluation database consists of 14 series vehicles of six automotive manufacturers from four segments and with low- and high-ground body types. While ten vehicles have a combustion drivetrain, the evaluation database only includes two vehicles for each of the parallel hybrid and electric drivetrains. Figure 4.1 gives an overview of the evaluation database.

		ICEV					H	BEV				
		Longit	udinal	Transversal		Lor	ngitudinal	Transver	sal	Transversal		
		Front Drive	Rear Drive	Front Drive	Rear Drive	Front Drive	Rear Drive	Front Drive	Rear Drive	Front Drive	Rear Drive	
	Low Ground	-	-	VW Golf	-	-	-	-	-	Renault Zoe VW e-Golf	-	
A	High Ground	-	-	VW Tiguan	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
B	Low Ground	AUDI A4	MB C-Class	VW Passat	-	-	-	Hyundai Ioniq	-	-	-	
в	High Ground	-	-	BMW X3	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
6	Low Ground	AUDI A6	MB E-Class	-	-	-	BMW 5 Series	-	-	-	-	
С	High Ground	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
D	Low Ground	AUDI A8	BMW 7 Series	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
-0-	High Ground	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	

Figure 4.1: Existing series vehicles for the first stage of the evaluation

Most of the vehicles originate from the A2Mac1 database, which only includes one vehicle variant of each vehicle model. Within the evaluation, a vehicle variant represents one performance class of the vehicle with only one specific engine type, fuel type, and gearbox type. The available variant allows a comparison of the vehicle architectures in terms of the architectural standards but also more detailed specifications such as the cooling system type and position. Also, only for these variants, the dimensions of the architecture are accessible. In most cases, this reference variant does not represent the highest performance class with the maximum required installation space and the greatest impact on the available installation space. Nevertheless, it is possible to include further vehicle variants in the evaluation database as the required input parameters are usually available. However, as the A2Mac1 database does not contain these variants, no detailed information regarding the architectures is accessible. This limits the comparison within these architectures to architectural standards.

In order to consider the vehicle variants with maximum required installation space and the variants with accessible dimensions, the evaluation database considers for each vehicle up to four regular variants with low or medium performance and up to four maximum variants. The total number of variants depends on the available fuel (gas/diesel) and gearbox types (manual/automatic). The reference variant is in most cases one of the regular variants. For newer vehicles like the AUDI A8, it is possible that the overall maximum variant is not yet on the market. To avoid missing input information, the evaluation considers only the available maximum variants. In addition, the maximum variant does not relate to special performance variants of a vehicle model. Furthermore, it is possible that only one variant is present within one vehicle, as in the case of the Renault Zoe.

For comparison, it is necessary to gather the properties as inputs as well as the actual architectural standards for all variants. The database also includes details about the architectures, i.e. the component and installation position alternatives as well as the dimensions for the reference variants.

Even though the 3D data of multiple vehicle variants are available for the AUDI vehicles, the database contains only one reference vehicle variant to ensure a consistent database and approach. Thus, the overall database consists of 14 vehicles with 58 vehicle variants.

4.1.2 Procedure for the evaluation

Due to the limitations of the database, the primary objective of the evaluation is to analyze for all variants of the evaluation vehicles whether the tool can output feasible architectures with the same architectural standards as in reality. Only for the reference variants of the vehicles, the analysis is more detailed. Hereby, the actual architecture with the architectural standards and further component and installation positions must also be a feasible output of the tool. The evaluation succeeds if the results of the tool match the actual data. Otherwise, it is possible to identify reasons for the deviations within the dimensions of the reference variants.

The general procedure of the evaluation is divided into three steps. The first two steps define the requirements and filter the engine-gearbox combinations. The third step generates all vehicle architectures and outputs the feasible ones for comparison. The general procedure applies in two subsequent evaluation stages without and with continuous optimization parameters. The two-stages process originates from the iterative application of the tool, as depicted in section 3.6. Figure 4.2 gives an overview of the evaluation procedure within the evaluation of architectures.



Figure 4.2: Evaluation procedure within the evaluation of vehicle architectures

As the first step, the properties of one vehicle model and all vehicle variants define the input requirements. Section 3.3.1 describes the inputs required, which include, for example, the exterior dimensions, the drivetrain types, and the drive type as well as the reduced curb weight, the acceleration time, and the maximum velocity. In the evaluation, the reduced curb weight includes

the weights of the fuel tank and the high-voltage battery to reduce the influence of different energy densities. Even though it is possible that multiple headlight types are available in one vehicle, the evaluation considers only the headlight type of the reference vehicle. In addition to the requirements, the evaluation configures discrete optimization parameters when used in the respective vehicle. This is important because of the influences of, for example, extra-load tires or active hood mechanisms on the installation spaces. Appendix E provides an overview of the requirements and discrete optimization parameters for every vehicle model and its vehicle variants. Sources for the inputs are mainly A2Mac1 [80], ADAC [82], AMS [83] as well as the manufacturers' websites.

As further settings of the evaluation, the definition of the bumper curvature is similar for all vehicles by selecting the low curvature option. In addition, the design type is set to regulatory, and the design option which influences the distances between components is set to progressive. The selected settings either increase the available installation space or decrease the required installation space. This limits the influence of these parameters to a minimum, which is necessary because of their problematic determination.

An additional input for the evaluation that is not included in the GUI is the actual engine torque and power as well as the number of gear speeds for each of the vehicle variants. Further inputs for all variants are the engine type and the architectural standards. For the reference variant, the cooling system type and position are also inputs. These inputs enable the filtering of enginegearbox combinations and architecture alternatives within the subsequent steps.

In the second step of the evaluation, the tool calculates the engine-gearbox combinations based on the defined inputs using the LDS (3.3.2). Due to the large number of engine-gearbox combinations generated and the large impact on the generation and dimensioning of the architectures, all combinations must be filtered except for the one with the least deviation from the actual engine torque and with the same number of gear speeds. However, the scalable load curves that are integrated within the LDS differ from the engines of the evaluation vehicles. Therefore, it is possible that even after the filtering, large deviations in the engine torque and power exist. If the deviation of the computation is more than ± 10 %, the evaluation continues with the actual engine torque and/or power. This limits the influence of the interchangeable load curves on the architecture generation.

Based on the filtered or adjusted engine-gearbox combination, the tool generates all conceivable vehicle architectures with various architectural standards, within the third step of the evaluation. Subsequently, it analyzes the feasibility of the architecture alternatives. The result is a multitude of feasible architecture alternatives. Thereafter, the tool filters the feasible architectures with the actual architectural standards by the actual engine type, such as in-line or V-type. For the reference variant, the tool also filters according to the corresponding cooling system type and position. Filtering ensures that the tool outputs the same architecture as in reality. Within the architectures with other than the actual architectural standards that do not exist in reality, the filtering is based on the minimum required installation space. As a result, the tool outputs only one architecture for each combination of architectural standards per vehicle variant.

The first stage applies the described general procedure to all vehicle variants of the different vehicle models without using the continuous optimization parameters. A comparison after the computation identifies in all vehicle variants whether the tool outputs feasible architectures with the same architectural standards as in reality. Another more detailed comparison is within the reference variant to analyze whether the tool can represent the overall architecture, including the

cooling system type and position. The evaluation is successful if the tool outputs a feasible architecture with the actual architectural standards for all vehicle variants as well as the actual architecture for the reference vehicle variant.

In addition to comparing the architectures and architectural standards, the first stage involves identifying deviations between the computed and the actual architectures. For all vehicle variants, the availability of only a few overall parameters, such as the engine torque and the engine displacement volume, limit the comparison. Within the reference vehicle, the comparison of the component sizes and distances between components is possible. By aligning the deviations, it is possible to identify statistical and systematic deviations. In the case of a statistical deviation, no tendency is apparent within the deviations of a component size or distance. These deviations arise because the vehicles considered represent only one data point and can therefore vary from the output of the empirical and geometric substitute models. In contrast, there is a systematic deviation when the dimensions of the tool are in most cases higher or lower than in reality. However, with the limited evaluation database, it remains possible that the systematic deviations are only statistic deviations in a more extensive database.

The second stage of the evaluation repeats the procedure with all vehicle variants of the different vehicle models within which the tool was not able to output feasible architectures matching the actual architecture or architectural standards. However, the second stage runs with continuous optimization parameters. The optimization parameters reduce the respective component sizes and distances by a certain percentage or value. The definition of the percentages and values is based on the analysis of the statistical and systematic deviations. The use of continuous optimization parameters to overcome the statistical deviations is similar to the intended application and iteration of the tool. Besides, the optimization parameters also limit the influence of systematic deviations by geometric substitute models with less accuracy on the general functionality of the tool. However, the systematic deviations indicate areas of improvement.

4.1.3 First stage of the evaluation

The first stage of the architecture evaluation applies the presented procedure to all vehicle models and variants of the evaluation database with the corresponding exterior dimensions and properties but without any continuous optimization parameters as input. Figure 4.3 shows for each vehicle and vehicle variant, whether the architecture with the actual architectural standards (for the reference variant with further component and installation positions) output by the tool is feasible or not. In the case of the ICEV and HEV, the first fuel type is always gas and the second one diesel.

The results show that without the use of optimization parameters, the architectures with the actual architectural standards are only in 25.9 % a feasible output of the tool. Most of the architectures are feasible within the BMW X3 and the VW Tiguan as a high-ground vehicle. The tool also outputs some feasible architectures within the low-ground vehicles with transversal but none for the ones with longitudinal engine installation. While no feasible architectures exist for the hybrids, the architectures of the electric vehicles are feasible results.

					Re	gular	Varia	nts	Max	ints		
				latior	Fu	el 1	Fuel 2		Fuel 1		Fue	el 2
		Drive Type	Chassis Type	Engine Instal	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic
		:		ICEV								
AUDI A4	2015	Front	Multi-Link	Longitudinal	X	X	X	X		X		X
AUDI A6	2018	Front	Multi-Link	Longitudinal		X		Х		X		X
AUDI A8	2018	Front	Multi-Link	Longitudinal		×		X		X		X
BMW 7 Series	2015	Rear	Multi-Link	Longitudinal		X		×		X		X
BMW X3	2017	Rear	McPherson	Longitudinal		\checkmark		X		\checkmark		\checkmark
MB C-Class	2014	Rear	Multi-Link	Longitudinal	X	X	X	X		X		X
MB E-Class	2016	Rear	Multi-Link	Longitudinal		X		×		X		X
VW Golf	2013	Front	McPherson	Transversal	X	X	X	X	\checkmark	X	X	X
VW Passat	2014	Front	McPherson	Transversal	\checkmark	X	\checkmark	X		X		X
VW Tiguan	2016	Front	McPherson	Transversal	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	X		\checkmark		X
				HEV								
BMW 5 Series	2017	Rear	Multi-Link	Longitudinal		×				X		X
Hyundai loniq	2016	Front	McPherson	Transversal		×						
				BEV								
Renault Zoe	2012	Front	McPherson	Transversal		X						
VW e-Golf	2013	Front	McPherson	Transversal		X						
Reference Var	iant V	ariant not	Available in Realit	tv 🗸 Archite	cture F	easible		X A	rchited	ture n	ot Fea	sible

Figure 4.3: Feasible and infeasible architectures within the first stage of the evaluation (fuel type 1: gas, gas hybrid or electric; fuel type 2: diesel, diesel hybrid or electric)

To determine the reasons for the low percentage of feasible architectures, especially within the vehicles with longitudinal combustion engines, it is necessary to analyze the deviations in the different properties and dimensions of the vehicles. The deviations can either be statistical, meaning that deviations follow no trend or otherwise systematically. As the architectures of the BEV were feasible, the following analysis mainly focuses on ICEV and HEV.

The missing 3D data limits the analysis of deviations in all vehicle variants to only a few parameters, such as the engine power, the engine torque, and the engine displacement volume.

Within all vehicles, vehicle variants, and drivetrain types, the unfiltered engine-gearbox combinations indicate that only in few cases, the engine torque varies by more than ± 10 % from the actual value. On average, the absolute deviations of the engine torque are 6.0 % and of the engine power 10.4 %. The deviations result from the fact that the existing vehicles vary in their engine load curves from the scalable load curves implemented in the tool. Appendix F gives an overview of the deviations between the computed and the actual engine power and torque. As the architecture generation continues with the actual engine power and torque when the deviation is higher than ± 10 %, the influence of the engine-gearbox combinations on the feasibility of the architectures is small. Consequently, component sizes and distances, depending on the engine power and torque, such as the engine length, are not extremely under- or oversized. Nevertheless, this shows the overall functionality of the LDS and thus the calculation of the engine-gearbox combinations. Interchanging the load curves of the tool with the actual ones would lead to even better results.

In addition to the engine power and torque, it is possible to compare the engine displacement volume in all vehicle variants of the ICEV and HEV. The calculation with the engine torgue is part of the geometric substitute model of the combustion engine. The absolute average deviation of the engine displacement volume is 8.9%. The data (Figure 4.4) shows that positive and negative deviations from the actual displacement volume exist, indicating a statistical error. The variability of the engine displacement volume results mainly from different combustion processes and supercharging types. However, especially within medium- to high-torque diesel engines (>400 Nm), the calculated displacement volume is often more than 20 % higher than in reality. This applies to the BMW 7 series, the Mercedes C-Class, the VW Passat, and the VW Tiguan. The main reason for the higher calculated engine displacement volume is that the higher torques are enabled by higher turbocharging. While the corresponding engine of the C-Class uses only one turbocharger, the other three engines use two turbochargers. However, due to the limited availability of data, the implemented regression function does not distinguish between the number of turbochargers. Another factor is that the empirical data is based on combustion engines from the years 2010 to 2017. Consequently, parts of the database are too old to show the growing trend of downsizing. In addition, the number of available data decreases toward higher engine torques, thus leading to an extrapolation of the data (Figure 3.15). Due to the higher engine displacement volumes, the number of cylinders of the in-line engines is higher by one than in reality within the C-Class, the VW Passat, and the VW Tiguan. This has a major impact on the engine length and, especially within transversal engine installation, a high influence on the feasibility of an architecture. Overall, this indicates a systematic error within the high-torque diesel engines. For both gas engines of the BMW 7 series, the calculated engine displacement volume is also more than 20 % higher than in reality. As this occurs only within one vehicle of one manufacturer, this shows a statistical deviation.

			Regular	-Variants	5	Maximum-Variants						
		Fu	el 1	Fu	el 2	Fu	el 1	Fuel 2				
		Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic			
	l	CEV										
	Δ Engine Displacement Volume in %	9	9	-11	-11	-	0	-	-3			
AUDI A4	Δ Number of Cylinders	0	0	0	0	-	0	-	0			
	Δ Engine Displacement Volume in %	-	14	-	7	-	0	-	-7			
AUDI A6	Δ Number of Cylinders	-	0	-	0	-	0	-	0			
	Δ Engine Displacement Volume in %	-	0	-	-3	-	-11	-	3			
AUDIAO	Δ Number of Cylinders	-	0	-	0	-	-2	-	0			
BMW 7 Series	Δ Engine Displacement Volume in %	-	21	-	-3	-	28	-	19			
Divivo 7 Series	Δ Number of Cylinders	-	1	-	0	-	0	-	0			
	Δ Engine Displacement Volume in %	-	-13	-	5	-	7	-	-1			
BINIVY X3	Δ Number of Cylinders	-	0	-	0	-	0	-	0			
	Δ Engine Displacement Volume in %	-5	-5	-5	-5	-	-4	-	27			
MD C-Class	Δ Number of Cylinders	0	0	0	0	-	0	-	1			
	Δ Engine Displacement Volume in %	-	-10	-	7	-	-18	-	11			
MD E-Class	Δ Number of Cylinders	-	0	-	0	-	0	-	0			
	Δ Engine Displacement Volume in %	9	9	17	17	5	5	1	1			
VW Goli	Δ Number of Cylinders	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0			
V/W Paccat	Δ Engine Displacement Volume in %	-16	-16	-8	-8	-	11	-	26			
VVV Fassal	Δ Number of Cylinders	0	0	0	0	-	0	-	1			
	Δ Engine Displacement Volume in %	5	5%	-5	-5	-	5	-	23			
VVV liguali	Δ Number of Cylinders	0	0	0	0	-	0	-	1			
	IEV											
BMW 5 Series	Δ Engine Displacement Volume in %	-	-18	-	-	-	-10	-	7			
	Δ Number of Cylinders	-	0	-	-	-	-1	-	0			
	Δ Engine Displacement Volume in %	-	-4	-	-	-	-	-	-			
	∆ Number of Cylinders	-	0	-	-	-	-	-	-			

Figure 4.4: Deviation between the calculated and the actual engine displacement volumes (fuel type 1: gas or gas hybrid; fuel type 2: diesel or diesel hybrid)

Besides the analysis of deviations within all vehicle variants of all vehicles, the reference variants allow a more detailed analysis. Consequently, it is possible to compare the dimensions of the architectures that the tool outputs with the measures from the 3D data.

Many of the component sizes and distances between them are subject to statistical deviations due to the empirical and semi-physical geometric substitute models. As for example, the length and the width of the engines deviate in positive and negative directions (Figure 4.5). Similar correlations exist within the dimensions of the gearboxes (Figure 4.6) and the cooling systems (Figure 4.7). Therefore, no trend is recognizable within these dimensions. The figures also indicate that the deviations are small for many dimensions. Appendix G shows further deviations of the wheel house, the body parts, and distances between components. However, even in the appendix, it is impossible to represent all dimensions due to their extremely high number.



Figure 4.5: Deviations between the calculated and the actual engine dimensions



Figure 4.6: Deviations between the calculated and the actual gearbox dimensions



Figure 4.7: Deviations between the calculated and the actual cooling system dimensions

In addition to the statistic deviations, the figures also indicate five systematic deviations. These are the height of combustion engines, the thickness of the cooling system, the length and width of the wheel house, the distance between the bumper beam and the cooling system, and the width of the electric gearbox.

The comparison of the engine heights shows that the results of the tool are on average 13.3 % higher for both in-line and V-type engines. The analysis of the various elements of the geometric substitute model for the engine height indicates that the element with the highest variation in the dimensions is the oil pan. Based on the A2Mac1 database, the height of the oil pan ranges from around 40 to over 200 mm in over 200 engines. The reason for the high deviations is the large variety of shapes to provide a plane surface for tilted engines and avoid collision with chassis and steering parts (Figure 4.8).



Figure 4.8: Different oil pan shapes, based on [84, p. 86] (Image Source: [80])

Due to the high variation in dimensions and shapes, it is difficult to model the oil pan. The geometric substitute model represents the lower part of the cylinder block from the crankshaft downward to the end of the oil pan as a simple cuboid. For the so-called lower overhang, there is a regression function with the torque, the charging type, the engine installation position, and the number of cylinders as explanatory variables [84, pp. 99-102]. The first three parameters mainly influence the crankshaft as part of the lower overhang, but also define the amount of oil required and thus the volume of the oil pan. The consideration of the engine installation position is based on VAN BASSHUYSEN [107, p. 130], who describes the engine installation position as one possible distinction between oil pan types. Despite the high number of explanatory variables, the adjusted R², at only 40.8 %, is one of the lowest in the entire tool [84, pp. 99-102]. A further distinction between oil pan types is necessary to improve the model accuracy. However, even with the 200 engines in the A2Mac1 database, no pattern is recognizable. The strong variation of the data also makes a constant value inapplicable. Moreover, distorted reference measures in the 2D database of A2Mac1 limit the quality of the empirical date for the oil pan (Figure 4.9).



Figure 4.9: Original oil pan measurement from A2Mac1, based on [80]

Comparing the calculated value of the lower overhang with the actual overhang of the VW Passat reference variant thus shows an excess of more than 90 mm. The engine cover also contributes to the over-dimensioning due to the design dependence and variation.

Due to the pedestrian protection distance required between the engine and the hood, the height of the engine is of crucial importance for the feasibility of architectures. Hereby, it should be noted that the hood inclines towards the front, following the viewing angle. Therefore, automotive manufacturers decrease the height of the engine toward the front by appropriate component positioning and tilting of the engine (Figure 4.10). Since the geometric substitute model outputs the engine only as a cuboid with constant height, the over-dimensioning makes the compliance with the pedestrian protection even more difficult. In high-ground vehicles, more space is available in the z-direction, which explains why the tool generates feasible architectures for these vehicles in most cases.



Figure 4.10: Positioning of real engines compared to the representation of the engine in the tool (Image Source: [80])

However, improving the model with the available data is difficult. Even with hundreds of 3D datasets, the improvement of the geometric substitute model for the engine height remains challenging due to high variance and missing pattern for the oil pan shapes.

Besides the high impact of the engine height, the analysis of the dimensions indicates a systematic deviation in the thickness of the cooling system. Depending on the type, the cooling system consists of up to four components with the climate condenser, the intermediate cooler, the water cooler, and the cooling fan. While the variation of the first three components appears statistical, a systematic over-dimensioning of the cooling fan also leads to larger dimensions of the overall cooling system. The tool uses a constant value of 97 mm for the cooling fan, which is derived from the A2Mac1 2D database. However, based on the 3D data used within the evaluation, the cooling fan of the AUDI A4 reference variant is only 35.5 mm thick. There are several reasons for explaining the high deviations. The main reasons for the deviations are inaccurate measurements and distorted images of this component in the A2Mac1 2D database (Figure 4.11). In this database, the cooling fan of the AUDI A4 is 75 mm thick. Because this value is similar to the implemented value, it shows the overall statistical significance of the derived constant value. But since the 75 mm are also more than twice the value derived from the vehicle's 3D data, inaccuracies in the 2D database become apparent during the evaluation. However, modeling with the available 3D database is not meaningful because of the limited number of datasets. Another factor is that the constant value does not differentiate between cooling fans with one or two radiators. Therefore, it is possible that in the database many cooling fans with two radiators and thus a higher thickness exists, while most of the reference vehicles within this evaluation have lower performances and only one radiator. The improvement of the cooling fans accuracy would thus require an extensive 3D database and distinctions between cooling fan types.



Figure 4.11: Original AUDI A4 cooling fan measurement from A2Mac1, based on [80]

In addition to the over-dimensioning of the engine height and cooling system, the tool outputs lower wheel house lengths and widths than in reality. The size of the wheel house is a function of the tire diameter, the tire width, and the turning radius. Within this function, the rotation of the tire is solely around the vertical y-axis in the center of the tire. Consequently, the tool simplifies the kinematics, as in reality, the tire turns around an instantaneous center of rotation [74, p. 852, 108, p. 21]. Also, the dimensioning of the wheel house usually considers the deflection and rebound of the suspensions [108, p. 396]. Another unconsidered aspect is the space required for snow chains. These factors explain the lower dimensions of the wheel house. However, a more detailed consideration of the kinematics would require further inputs not available at this stage of development.

Another significant underestimation is the distance between the bumper beam and the cooling system. Within the tool, this is 76.5 % lower on average than within the reference vehicles. One of the main reasons for the deviations is that the evaluation is based on the regulatory design. Consequently, the model uses a constant value between the bumper beam and the cooling system. For the insurance classification, a semi-physical model calculates the distance based on the vehicle weight and the presence of a lower stiffener. It is unrealistic that all reference vehicle variants consider the insurance classification. The higher distances are more likely to occur because the contemplated vehicle variants are not among the maximum performance classes in almost all cases. Due to the larger size of the cooling system, the distance to the bumper is likely to decrease within the maximum variants. Another reason for the increasing distance is the growing number of sensors in front of the bumper beam. Therefore, another objective in positioning the cooling system is to prevent the sensors from intrusion into the cooling system during a low-speed crash.

Comparing the gearboxes of electric vehicles shows a tendency to under-sizing, especially for the gearbox length. This is reasonable, as the semi-physical model for the one-speed gearboxes primarily dimensions the shafts and bearings statically with a dynamic load factor but without a dynamic load spectrum. However, the number of electric vehicles within the evaluation database is too small to identify a significant trend.

Comparing the deviations shows that only few of the multitude of dimensions deviate systematically. Some geometric substitute models, like the one of the combustion engine, are based on the data of over 200 vehicles. With only 14 reference variants, it is therefore still possible that the systematic deviations are only statistical deviations in the overall database. Besides, the geometric substitute models have the highest accuracy, under consideration of the available database and level of detail of the tool.

4.1.4 Second stage of the evaluation

As a result of the first evaluation stage, only 25.9 % of the existing architectures were a feasible output of the tool. Similar to the application of the tool, the evaluation is repeated in a second stage using continuous optimization parameters.

The continuous optimization parameters reduce the dimension of a component or distance by a percentage or absolute value. The definition of the optimization parameters is based on the error reports output by the tool and the gap between the required and the available installation space in the corresponding dimensional chains.

Using optimization parameters is necessary to overcome the statistical deviations since the evaluation vehicles only represent one data point within the implemented empirical and semiphysical substitute models. In addition, the parameters limit the impact of geometric substitute models with less accuracy and systematic deviations. Thus, it is possible to analyze the general functionality of the architecture generation.

Figure 4.12 shows the optimization parameters used in the second stage of the optimization. Hereby, the overall objective is to apply as few and as low optimization parameters as necessary to enable the feasibility of the architectures with the actual architectural standards of the evaluation vehicles and variants.

Almost all vehicles and variants use the optimization parameter of the engine height to overcome the systematic deviation. This already leads to the feasibility of most of the architectures. The optimization parameter for the engine displacement volume applies to the VW Passat and the VW Tiguan. Without the parameter, the tool creates a five-cylinder in-line engine for the maximum diesel variant, which is too long for transversal installation. The optimization parameter for the engine displacement also applies to the gas engines of the BMW 7 series, otherwise, no inline engines are feasible. The remaining parameters for the engine length, gearbox length, cooling system thickness, underbody height, z-position of the side members, and the viewing angle only apply to a few vehicles in order to overcome statistical deviations. Due to the manifold dependencies of dimensions in dimensional chains, it would be possible to use other optimization parameters. However, to avoid an arbitrary selection, these are based on actual deviations. For example, as within the Hyundai lonig, the calculated engine length is higher than in reality because the stroke-bore ratio is 1.1 within the tool, and 1.35 in reality. Another example is the viewing angle, which at 5.6°, is higher by 0.8° than the actual angle [99, p. 127]. Despite the multitude of statistical and systematic derivations analyzed during the first stage of the evaluation, it is not necessary to use more optimization parameters because deviations within larger components, such as the engine, have a greater impact on the vehicle architecture. Moreover, in a few cases, different deviations mutually cancel each other out, such as the under-dimensioned distance between the bumper beam and the cooling system and the over-dimensioned thickness of the cooling system.

Within this evaluation, the values of the optimization parameters are lower than the actual deviations. Therefore, the optimization parameters maximally resize the components or distances to the actual size, but not beyond. This is possible because, in order to generate a feasible architecture, only the required installation space needs to be reduced by the gap between the dimensional chain and the available installation space. This ensures that the optimization only limits the impact of deviations without simplifying the architecture generation.

		Engine	Volume in %	Eacino Hoizht in 9/				Gearbox Length	% ui	g System Thickn. in %	iewing Angle in °	ody Thickness in mm	Rail z-Position in mm
		Fuel 1	Fuel 2	Fuel 1	Fuel 2	Fuel 1	Fuel 2	Fuel 1	Fuel 2	Coolin	>	Unterb	Side F
		CEV											
	Regular Variants	0	0	5	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
AUDI A4	Maximum Variants	0	0	10	11	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Regular Variants	0	0	11	13	0	0	0	0	0	0	20	0
AUDIAO	Maximum Variants	0	0	10	7	0	0	0	0	0	0	20	0
	Regular Variants	0	0	10	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
AUDI Ao	Maximum Variants	0	0	10	18	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	U
DMM/7 Series	Regular Variants	0	0	4	9	0	0	0	0	0	0.7	0	0
BMW / Series	Maximum Variants	11	4	9	13	0	0	0	0	0	0.7	0	
BMW X3	Regular Variants	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Maximum Variants	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	U	0
	Regular Variants	0	0	2	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
MB C-Class	Maximum Variants	0	0	6	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	U	0
	Regular Variants	0	0	0	6	0	0	0	0	0			0
MB E-Class	Maximum Variants	0	0	10	11	0	0	0	0	0	0.8	0	
	Regular Variants		0	2	2	0	0	0	0	0			4.0
VW Golf	Maximum Variants	0	0	3	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10
	Regular Variants	0	0	0	3	0	4	0	0	0			
VW Passat	Maximum Variants	0	10	3	10	6	4	0	0	12	0	0	0
	Regular Variants	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0			
VW Tiguan	Maximum Variants	0	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	ŀ	IEV											
	Regular Variants	0	-	1	-	0	0	0	-	0			
BMW 5 Series	Maximum Variants	0	-	7	12	0	0	0	0	0	0.6	0	0
	Regular Variants	0	-	0	-	12	-	10	-	0			
Hyundai loniq	Maximum Variants	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1.6	0	0
	E	BEV											
	Regular Variants	-	-	0	0						0		
Renault Zoe	Maximum Variants	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0		0	0
	Regular Variants	-	-	0	0								
VW e-Golf	Maximum Variants	-	-	-	-	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Figure 4.12: Continuous optimization parameters applied within the second evaluation stage (fuel type 1: gas, gas hybrid, or electric; fuel type 2: diesel, diesel hybrid, or electric)

As a result of only a few optimization parameters, the tool creates feasible architectures for 100 % of the actual architectures and architectural standards (Figure 4.13). The architectures are feasible for the reference variants but also the maximum variants with higher required installation spaces.

				_	Re	gular-	Varia	nts	Maximum-Variants				
				latio	Fue	el 1	Fuel 2		Fuel 1		Fue	el 2	
		Drive Type	Chassis Type	Engine Instal	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	
				ICEV									
AUDI A4	2015	Front	Multi-Link	Longitudinal	X	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark	
AUDI A6	2018	Front	Multi-Link	Longitudinal		\checkmark		\checkmark		X		\checkmark	
AUDI A8	2018	Front	Multi-Link	Longitudinal		\sim		\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark	
BMW 7 Series	2015	Rear	Multi-Link	Longitudinal		\checkmark		X		\checkmark		\checkmark	
BMW X3	2017	Rear	McPherson	Longitudinal		\checkmark		X		\checkmark		\checkmark	
MB C-Class	2014	Rear	Multi-Link	Longitudinal	X	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark	
MB E-Class	2016	Rear	Multi-Link	Longitudinal		\checkmark		X		\checkmark		\checkmark	
VW Golf	2013	Front	McPherson	Transversal	X	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	
VW Passat	2014	Front	McPherson	Transversal	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		\mathbf{X}	
VW Tiguan	2016	Front	McPherson	Transversal	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	X		\checkmark		\checkmark	
				HEV									
BMW 5 Series	2017	Rear	Multi-Link	Longitudinal		X				\checkmark		\checkmark	
Hyundai loniq	ai Ioniq 2016 Front McPherson Transversal		Transversal		X								
				BEV									
Renault Zoe	2012	Front	McPherson	Transversal		X							
VW e-Golf 2013		Front	McPherson	Transversal		X							
Reference Var	riant V	ariant not A	Available in Realit	y 🗸 Archited	cture F	easible		X A	rchited	ture n	ot Fea	sible	

Figure 4.13: Feasible and infeasible architectures within the second stage of the evaluation (fuel type 1: gas, gas hybrid or electric; fuel type 2: diesel, diesel hybrid or electric)

The tool not only generates all architectures that match the evaluation vehicles. Instead, the tool can also create all kinds of architectures with different architectural standards. Appendix H visualizes all feasible and non-feasible architectures for the various evaluation vehicles and variants before and after the use of optimization parameters. The results show that even with the optimization parameters, not many architectures are feasible other than the actual ones. Consequently, it validates that the tool in general, as well as the use of optimization parameters, does not simplify the architecture generation. The limited amount of feasible architectures also indicates that the available installation space within today's series vehicles is extremely limited.

4.1.5 Discussion of the architecture generation

With the generation of feasible architectures for the actual architectures and architectural standards of the evaluation vehicles, the evaluation successfully confirms the overall applicability of the first two stages of the method. Even for only 14 vehicles, the evaluation is based on a diversified database, with vehicles of different segments, body types, drivetrain, and drive types. As the architectural standards of existing vehicles vary, the evaluation shows that the tool is capable of generating all kinds of architectures. This demonstrates the functionality of the LDS, the synthesis of the architectures, the derivation of the available installation space as well as the comparison of the installation spaces with dimensional chains. However, while the tool can generate feasible architectures for the various architectural standards, it rarely outputs more feasible architectures than those used in reality. Generating all kinds of feasible architectures would indicate an oversimplification. Consequently, the large number of components and dimensional chains is well suited to represent the architecture generation.

The limited number of feasible architectures also shows that the available installation space is restrained within existing series vehicles. Statistical deviations of the implemented empirical or semi-physical geometric substitute models can therefore lead to not feasible architectures. Consequently, as intended, the application of the tool requires iterations and optimization parameters.

In contrast, the method does not intend the use of optimization parameters to overcome systematic deviations. However, today's data availability limits the accuracy of the geometric substitute models. Even with the extensive database of A2Mac1, it is not possible to precisely model every component and the distance between components. Nevertheless, as soon as new data becomes available, it is imperative to revise the engine's geometric substitute model in terms of the engine displacement volume and the oil pan height. These systematic deviations currently have the greatest impact on the feasibility of architectures. However, other geometric substitute models with systematic deviations also need to be optimized. Until the geometric substitute models are updated, the tool is fully functional through the use of optimization parameters for both statistical and systematic deviations. The concept engineer can analyze the resulting component sizes and distances between components at any time and define optimization parameters accordingly.

4.2 Evaluation of Modular Systems

The first part of the evaluation analyzed the first two stages of the method and thus the functionality of the vehicle architecture generation. With the validated functionality, it is now possible to assess the derivation of modular systems by comparing a computed modular system with an existing modular system. Therefore, the focus of this part is mainly on the third stage with the identification of cross-vehicle modules and the derivation of unified architectural standards. Nevertheless, it evaluates the applicability of the entire method for the development of modular systems. The following section describes the database, the procedure, and the results of the second part of the evaluation.

4.2.1 Database of the evaluation

In this evaluation part, the database does not consist of vehicles from different manufacturers and with different architectural standards. Instead, the vehicles all belong to an existing modular system.

The modular system chosen for the evaluation is the "*Modularer Längsbaukasten*" in the second generation (MLBevo). As described in section 1.1, multiple vehicles from different manufacturers

within the Volkswagen Group and various segments share architectures with front-drive type, multi-link suspension and longitudinal engine installation as architectural standards.

Despite the consideration of vehicles from different brands of the Volkswagen Group, AUDI AG is the lead developer of this modular system. Therefore, the evaluation is sufficient for the AUDI vehicles of the MLBevo. With low-ground body type, these are the A4, A5, A6, A7, and A8. As high-ground body type, Q5, Q7, and Q8 are available. Since A4 and A5, A6, and A7, as well as Q7 and Q8, vary only in more detailed vehicle shapes, which the tool does not consider, it is not necessary to include the A5, A7, and Q8 in the evaluation database. Each of the remaining five vehicles has several vehicle variants. However, the number of variants varies per vehicle, as for some vehicles like the A6 and the A8, not all variants are available on the market yet. Moreover, for some, only automatic transmissions exist. Nevertheless, this part of the evaluation considers all available vehicle variants, with combustion drivetrains, of the five vehicles. Although available in some of the vehicles, the evaluation does not include variants, their consideration would not increase the solution space. As electric vehicles are not included in the MLBevo, they are also not part of this evaluation.

Consequently, the evaluation database for the five vehicles overall comprises 33 vehicle variants. For each of the vehicles and variants, it is important to gather the properties as the input of the tool, mainly using the ADAC [82] and AMS [83] databases as well as the homepage of the AUDI AG [109]. Due to the focus on the final stage of the method, it is not necessary to measure any dimensions for the vehicles and their variants. The previous evaluation part has already analyzed some vehicle variants of the A4, A6, and A8 in detail.

4.2.2 Procedure for the evaluation

The primary objective of the second evaluation part is to analyze whether with the vehicles and vehicle variants of the MLBevo as input, the tool can identify similar modules and derive the actual architectural standards.

The procedure of this evaluation is based on the second stage of the first evaluation part (4.1.2). Similarly, the inputs to the calculation are the properties of the vehicles as well as the discrete optimization parameters. To overcome statistical and systematic deviations, the evaluation also uses continuous optimization parameters. The values of the optimization parameters are similar to the previous evaluation, with on average of 10.7 % for the engine height and 2.7 mm for the underbody thickness.

Using these inputs, the tool generates a multitude of engine-gearbox combinations. In contrary to the previous evaluation, no filter applies to these. Consequently, a large number of engine-gearbox combinations remain for the architecture generation. This leaves a high solution space for the modularization.

Based on the engine-gearbox combinations, the tool generates all conceivable architectures with all kinds of architectural standards. Since this part of the evaluation does not apply a filter to the architectures, this results in a multitude of feasible architectures with different engine-gearbox combinations as well as component and installation position alternatives.

Subsequently, the tool identifies cross-vehicle modules within the architecture alternatives with the same architectural standards as described in section 3.5.1. This also means that the tool decides between modules with same coverage based on the minimum required installation

space that is usually the module with the lowest engine power. In case no modules are possible, the tool also selects an architecture with individual components based on the minimum required installation space. In the evaluation, however, only the gas and diesel engines are modularized, and the modularization of other components like the gearbox are neglected.

After the modularization, the tool only considers the modularized architectures further and neglects redundant ones. Finally, the tool outputs for all vehicles whether similar architectural standards and thus a modular system are feasible.

4.2.3 Results of the evaluation

Applying the presented procedure to the vehicles and variants of the MLBevo, the tool generates a multitude of vehicle architectures. For each vehicle variant, a variety of architectures with the actual architectural standards are feasible. These vary mainly in the engine power/torque. Consequently, this demonstrates that multiple engine-gearbox combinations can fulfill the requirements and thus provide the required bandwidth in the properties for the modularization.

In order to analyze the functionality of the modularization by comparison with the MLBevo, the following focuses on the modularization of the vehicle architectures with the actual architectural standards.

Figure 4.14 shows for the vehicle variants with gas engines the bandwidth of feasible architectures with different engine power/torque. A comparison of the bandwidth with the actual engine power of a vehicle variant shows that for a vehicle variant of the A4 and the Q5, the bandwidth does not include the actual engine power. For example, the bandwidth of the Q5 with 185 kW ranges from 235 to 260 kW and does not include the actual value. The differences arise due to differences between the scalable engine load curves integrated within the LDS and the actual load curves of the vehicle variants' engines. Nevertheless, applying the modularization to the different bandwidths leads to architectures with three modules and one single component for the 14 vehicle variants with gas engines and thus to a level of modularization of 76.9 %.



Figure 4.14: Modularization of the gas engines in comparison with the MLBevo

Figure 4.15 shows the possible bandwidth of feasible architectures with different engines and the resulting modules for the different vehicle variants with diesel engines. Similar to the gas engines, the actual power in two cases is also not within the bandwidth due to the different engine load curves. For the diesel engines, the level of modularization is 77.7 %, since there are architectures with four modules and a single component for the 19 vehicle variants with diesel engines.



Figure 4.15: Modularization of the diesel engines in comparison with the MLBevo

The results for the gas and diesel engines show that the tool can identify cross-vehicle modules. With the resulting bandwidths in the engine power/torque of the different vehicle variants, the tool determines the highest possible level of modularization. No other combination of modules would lead to a higher level of modularization. But with an increase in the bandwidth, by offering additional installation space, or by the further use of optimization parameters, even higher levels of modularization would be feasible. This shows that the modularization can reduce the internal variance as intended.

However, the level of modularization is much lower in reality at 38.5 % for gas engines and 50.0 % for the diesel engines. The main reason for the large discrepancies is that the automotive

manufacturers offer a wide variety of engine properties to increase the external variance. However, since the difference between the different variants is small, the tool detects the overlapping bandwidths and reduces the number of modules.

As the required variety depends heavily on the manufacturer's strategies, the implementation in the tool is not meaningful. Therefore, the modularization of the tool represents an orientation for the concept engineers by outputting the maximum level of modularization as a benchmark. If the level of modularization is too high, concept engineers can deviate from this solution by selecting different properties within the feasible bandwidths and thus increase the external variance. In case the resulting level of modularization is too low, it is necessary to iterate with adjustments of the requirements or external variance. However, the modularization only decides between architectures with the same architectural standards and different properties and thus does not impact the derivation of architectural standards.

The modularization has already shown that for each of the vehicle variants multiple architectures with the actual architectural standards are feasible. Consequently, the tool can derive and unify the same architectural standards as within the MLBevo. Architectures with other architectural standards are also feasible only for few variants. Thus, no other architectural standards are available across all vehicles.

4.2.4 Discussion of the Derivation of Modular Systems

By comparing the modularization and the derivation of architectural standards within the tool and the MLBevo, the second part of the evaluation shows that the tool can successfully conduct all three stages of the method.

Within the modularization, the tool identifies the highest level of modularization, aiming at a minimal internal variance. However, the evaluation shows that in reality, there is a larger variety. Due to the high dependence on the automotive manufacturer's strategies, an implementation of the modularization with higher variety and lower level of modularization does not make sense. Nevertheless, concept engineers can use the level of modularization output by the tool as a benchmark. In case the level of modularization is too high, they can increase the external variance by selecting further engine properties within the resulting bandwidths. If the level of modularization is lower than desired, the concept engineers need to adjust the requirements or external variance and iterate. Therefore, the modules output through the tool are not necessarily the final results and allow for modification by concept engineers.

Currently, the modularization identifies modules with the same properties. An extension of the current modularization would be the identification of modules with a range of properties. One example of these modules are modular engine systems [43, 110], which adapt a basic engine with different components, such as the engine control unit, to enable a range of properties. These modules overcome the conflict of interest between high external variance and low internal variance. However, an implementation is difficult because this modularization depends heavily on the adaptation measures and production volumes.

However, variations in the modularization strategy are not critical because the modularization only decides between architecture alternatives with the same architectural standards and different properties. Consequently, it does not affect the subsequent derivation of architectural standards.

In addition to modularization, the tool can derive the same architectural standards as within the existing modular system. However, as in the previous evaluation, this requires, above all, to overcome the systematic deviations, continuous optimization parameters. Due to the specific design of the MLBevo to these architectural standards, it is reasonable that the tool does not derive any other unified architectural standards.

Overall, the tool achieves the highest level of modularization and is able to derive unified architectural standards. Consequently, this part of the evaluation demonstrates the functionality of the entire method.
5 Discussion

The previous section evaluates and validates the intended functionality of the method for the automated development of modular systems. This section focuses on the overall applicability and the limitations of the method.

The method presented allows the development of modular systems from the ground up. This means that with the approximate requirements of entirely new and existing vehicles, it is possible to identify whether cross-vehicle modules and architectural standards are available. Fast iterations allow adjusting the input parameters to analyze the entire solution space. Consequently, with rigid vehicle requirements, the output is either a feasible or not feasible modular system. Otherwise, if adjusting the requirements is possible, the tool supports the identification of compatible requirements of a feasible modular system. The identification of compatible requirements is especially useful in defining multi-drivetrain modular systems. Due to the different components such as combustion engines and electric machines, as well as the fuel tank and battery, these are usually not possible if all drivetrains have the same requirements. Instead, with the same exterior dimensions, the requirements for the BEV, such as the maximum velocity or battery capacity, must be lower.

Due to the rapid variation of the input parameters, the tool also offers the possibility for parameter studies. In order to analyze changes in the architectural standards and the level of modularization, it is possible to vary the exterior dimensions, such as the overhang or the prestige measure, or other requirements like the acceleration time or velocity. Since the method contemplates all conceivable architectures, it is possible to identify coherences between the inputs and the resulting architectural standards and modules.

With the variance of vehicles, the previous evaluation already represents a discrete parameter study. It has been shown that the feasibility of longitudinal engine installation mainly depends on the length of the vehicle front. For example, the tool outputs feasible architectures with longitudinal engine installation for one variant of the Volkswagen Golf. The gas engine of this variant has a torque of 250 N m. However, in the other variants with more than 340 N m engine torque, a longitudinal engine installation is not possible due to the limited length of the vehicle front. Within the AUDI A4, the vehicle front is around 130 mm longer, which leads to feasible architectures with longitudinal engine installation for engines with up to 600 N m torque and thus higher performance requirements.

Further comparisons of the Volkswagen Golf and the AUDI A4 show that architectures with transversal engine installation are only possible in the Volkswagen Golf. A detailed analysis shows that the feasibility of transversal engine installation depends on the vehicle width, the chassis type, the wheel house width, and the performance requirements. It is understandable that the vehicle width needs to increase with the performance requirements for transversal engine installation. This explains that even with a 40 mm higher vehicle width, no feasible architectures with transversal engine installation are available for the maximum variants of the

AUDI A4. These variants have around 260 N m more engine torgue than the maximum variants of the Volkswagen Golf. Consequently, transversal engine installation is not available for highperformance requirements because the vehicle width is more restricted than the length of the vehicle front. However, for the regular variants of the AUDI A4 which have similar performance requirements as the regular variants of the Volkswagen Golf, there are also no feasible architectures with transversal engine installation. One reason is that with high-performance requirements of the maximum variants, the vehicle weight and thus the tire and wheel house dimensions increase. This results in a reduction of the available installation space in the y-direction. Another influence is the chassis type since multi-link suspensions require around 100 mm more installation space compared to McPherson suspensions and thus further reduce the available installation space in the y-direction. Thus, neither with the AUDI A4 nor with the Volkswagen Golf, architectures with transversal engine installation and multi-link suspension are feasible. In contrast to the Volkswagen Golf, the McPherson chassis type is also not possible on the AUDI A4, as the H30 measure is lower by 20 mm. The resulting lower eye point of the driver in combination with the viewing angle reduces the distance between the hood and the strut mounting. Thus, in the AUDI A4, the remaining distance is not sufficient for pedestrian protection. Consequently, the higher performance of the maximum variants, as well as the infeasibility of the McPherson suspension, makes the transversal engine installation in the regular variants of the AUDI A4 impossible.

Analyzing the feasibility of the chassis types indicates that multi-link suspensions in combination with transversal engine installation led in only one of the combustion/hybrid vehicles to a feasible architecture. This is reasonable as the transversal installed engine and the higher width of this type of suspension conflict with each other. The McPherson suspension is smaller in width but higher. In order to provide enough distance between the hood and the strut mounting for pedestrian protection, the feasibility of this chassis type depends on the driver's eye points and the viewing angle. The driver's eye point, for instance, depends on the H30 measure.

Another finding is the dependency between the front- and rear-drive types. While architectures with both drive types are feasible within the AUDI A4, the feasible outputs of the Mercedes-Benz C-Class only include rear-drive type architectures. At almost the same size of the vehicle front, the prestige measure of the Mercedes-Benz C-Class is around 110 mm longer. This makes it easier to position the engine behind the front axle, which allows an optimal load distribution for the rear-drive type. However, the lower overhang limits the possibilities to position the engine in front or above the axle, which makes a front-drive type not feasible.

Table 5.1 summarizes the dependencies of the different architectural standards.

Architectural Standards	Dependencies
Longitudinal Engine Installation	Length of the vehicle front, performance requirements
Transversal Engine Installation	Vehicle width, performance requirements, wheel house width, chassis type
Multi-link Suspension	Engine installation position
McPherson Suspension	Viewing angle, driver's eye points
Front-Drive Type	Overhang and prestige measure
Rear-Drive Type	Overhang and prestige measure

 Table 5.1:
 Overview of the dependencies of the different architectural standards

It is important to note that the overall transferability of these insights is limited. With over 400 parameters influencing the architectures in the vehicle front, it is difficult to derive universally valid coherences. Depending on the expected benefits and the cost sensibility, it is possible to overcome most coherences with special concepts. The large number of influences, as well as the statistical and systematic deviations, therefore, always require concept engineers to analyze and iterate the results.

The described application possibilities of the tool focus on the early stage of the modular systems development. Consequently, the resulting architectures form the basis for further manual architecture and package development.

In the application, it is also important to take the limitations of the method into account. These mainly result from the use of geometric substitute models and dimensional chains as well as the level of detail and scope of the method.

The empirical and semi-physical geometric substitute models output the statistically most likely dimensions and not the best-of-benchmark solution. This ensures a robust design and gives design freedom in the subsequent development stages. In addition, the concept engineers can define optimization parameters to deviate from the most likely dimensions. Currently, however, the method does not help the concept engineers to estimate the maximum deviations. Furthermore, the geometric substitute models apply especially for the development from scratch. An evolutionary development requires concept engineers to consider existing components, such as engines, to save on development costs. Therefore, the tool would also require a database to load dimensions from existing components instead of always using the geometric substitute models. Also, the existing systematic deviations, as well as technology leaps, require improvement and continuous update of the models.

When deriving the available installation space and comparing the required and available installation spaces, the tool uses dimensional chains. The systematization of the dimensional chains and their variants, as well as the repositioning of components by distance elements with an additional degree of freedom, implements the logic of manual architecture development and enables the use in the tool. This offers a systematic and transparent approach. However, the resulting architectures are always limited to the implemented dimensional chains. Consequently, the dimensional chains also prevent the identification of completely new architectures with new component arrangements. The tool sacrifices on the innovation of the architectures for transparency in the generation of over 250,000 architectures. Also, using existing dimensional chains ensures the functionality of the architecture compared to new solutions. Despite the high number of architectures, the tool does not cover all components and dimensional chains of vehicle front architectures. While the representation of the architectures is already extensive, the integration of the steering system or the brake booster remain. Also, the representation of the components and dimensional chains is based on simple shapes with cuboids or cylinders. Overall, this is sufficient for the intended use in the early stage of the modular system development and does not convey a higher level of detail and functionality.

Even at this level of detail, the considered number of components and dimensional chains creates a high degree of complexity and thus limits the scope of this thesis to the implementation of the method on the vehicle front. However, the current mix of drivetrains justifies the application of the method to the vehicle front. Moreover, the tool already considers some dependencies with the interior and the occupant cell. Nevertheless, only by contemplating the entire vehicle it is possible to cover all dependencies. This will be even more important in the future, due to the increasing development of electric vehicles with electric machines in the rear of the vehicle, for the rear-wheel or the all-wheel drive. Combustion engines in the middle or the rear are less important due to the niche application in sports vehicles [108, pp. 11-12].

In addition, the method is currently focused on the geometric feasibility of modular systems. Therefore, the architecture generation does not take into account the cost of the different component and installation position alternatives. Furthermore, the derivation of the modular system does not contemplate the production volumes of the different vehicles. However, this is an important criterion to decide on the external variance of the modular system and, therefore, the inclusion or exclusion of vehicles.

Despite these limitations, the method enables concept engineers to analyze the solution space and to develop modular systems quickly and holistically. Therefore, the use of the tool overcomes the high complexity and the limited resources of the current process and makes the identification of the best solution more likely. Existing methods and tools have not been capable of supporting the development of modular systems for passenger cars, as they lack considering either multiple vehicles, different drivetrains, or scalable substitute models. Consequently, the described work closes this research gap.

In addition to the described research gap, this method contributes overall to the systematization of the vehicle architecture design and the development of modular systems. In particular, the procedures developed for the dimensioning of components and the systematic use of dimensional chains of the vehicle architecture design, as well as their description in this thesis, set an essential foundation for further research on additional challenges in this field.

6 Conclusion and Outlook

The first and second chapter of this thesis presented the motivation and the current process for the development of modular systems. Since the current process is time-consuming and complex, it is not possible to consider the solution space holistically and to identify the overall best solution. Rather, the experiences of the concept engineers with predecessor vehicles have a high impact on the development. A literature review revealed that existing methods either only focus on the development of an individual vehicle, lack the consideration of multiple drivetrains and geometric substitute models, or are not suited to the automotive sector. Consequently, there is still no method for the development of modular systems for passenger cars, thus leading to the primary objective of this thesis.

Consequently, the author developed the presented method, which is divided into the requirement definition, the architecture generation, and the derivation of modular systems. The method requires only limited input parameters, allowing it to be used at the early stage of the modular systems development. This also includes combustion, hybrid, and electric drivetrains. Core elements for the holistic generation of over 250,000 architectures are the geometric substitute models and the dimensional chains. The geometric substitute models enable the continuous scaling of components and distances. With the dimensional chains, the generation of the high number of architectures is replicable and transparent. As a result, the tool can identify cross-vehicle modules and derive architectural standards from the vast solution space. If a modular system is not feasible, the tool will issue an error report. This helps the concept engineer to define targeted iterations and resolve various conflicts of interests. Consequently, the method enables concept engineers to fully analyze the solution space and to develop modular systems quickly and holistically.

To validate the functionality of the method, the author compared the generated results with the architectures, architectural standards, and modules of existing vehicles and modular systems. In some cases, it is necessary to use optimization parameters, as intended within the method, to overcome statistical deviations. Although the geometric substitute models with the available databases represent the highest available accuracy, the tool also requires optimization parameters to overcome systematic deviations within five component sizes and distances. Nevertheless, the evaluation validates the overall functionality of the tool as it can represent the actual vehicles and modular systems.

The discussion focuses on the overall application of the method and its limitations. By varying the input parameters, the tool enables concept engineers to fully analyze the solution space and to develop modular systems quickly and holistically. The resulting architectures set the foundation for further architecture and package development. Despite several limitations, due to the use of geometric substitute models and dimensional chains, as well as the level of detail and scope of the method, the presented method closes the derived research gap. In addition, the method is an important contribution to the vehicle architecture design and modular systems development through the development and application of geometric substitute models as well as

the systematization and use of dimensional chains of the vehicle architecture design. The detailed description in this thesis sets the foundation for further research in this field.

Further research concerns the improvement and expansion of the existing method as well as its enhancement.

To increase the applicability of the existing tool, it is of utmost importance to continuously update the geometric substitute models. This is not only necessary to prevent systematic deviations, but also to adapt to technology leaps. Further expansions within the geometric substitute models and the dimensional chains should include the steering system, the brake booster as well as coaxially electric drivetrains and their power electronics as remaining elements of the architectures in the vehicle front. As current niche applications and new technologies such as wheel hub or hydrogen drivetrains evolve, it is essential to include the components and dimensional chains in the tool. At the same time, the goal is an extension to the overall vehicle. Another improvement is the automation of the iteration with optimization parameters. By considering the best-of-benchmark solution as the maximum deviation from the statistically most likely solution, it would be possible to optimize the feasibility automatically.

Besides these improvements and expansions, the overall functionality of the method increases by consideration of costs and production volumes. This would support decisions about the external variance of the modular system and thus the inclusion or exclusion of the vehicle.

Finally, it is possible to enhance the tool to contemplate not only the architecture generation but also the package generation. Positioning all remaining components in generated architectures, including cables and hoses, would greatly enhance the functionality of the tool. However, with the increasing number of components, the challenge is not to identify unified component positions in all vehicles of the modular system, but in platforms and vehicle models. Besides, the higher level of detail also enormously increases the number of dimensional chains. Therefore, it is possible that other methods, like topology optimizations, are more applicable.

List of Figures

Figure 1.1:	Examples of different segments and body types, performance classes, and drivetrain types (Image Sources: [6–12])1
Figure 1.2:	Transformation of the global revenue share and the number of vehicle models of the AUDI AG, based on [16, p. 2]2
Figure 1.3:	Vehicles of the " <i>Modularer Längsbaukasten</i> " in the second generation (MLBevo) [22, pp. 4-5, 23, p. 10, 24] (Image Sources: [6, 25, 26])
Figure 1.4:	Overview of the thesis structure5
Figure 2.1:	Vehicle development process and positioning of the vehicle concept development, based on [19, p. 5, 30, p. 3, 31, p. 9]
Figure 2.2:	Exemplary illustration of a vehicle concept/package within the vehicle front9
Figure 2.3:	Examples of requirements for the vehicle concept, based on [17, p. 131]9
Figure 2.4:	Overview of the vehicle concept development process [16, p. 5]10
Figure 2.5:	Example of a dimensional chain, based on [37, p. 194]
Figure 2.6:	Illustration of the multiple vehicle concept development process and the top- down relation between the modular system, platforms, and vehicle models, based on [22, p. 13]
Figure 2.7:	Process for the development of modular systems
Figure 2.8:	Vehicle architecture within the method and tool of J. FUCHS, based on [60, P. 135]
Figure 2.9:	Vehicle architecture within the method and tool of MATZ [31, P. 84]
Figure 2.10:	Vehicle architecture within the method and tool of FÖRG [62, P. 9]20
Figure 3.1:	Overview of the method for the development of modular systems25
Figure 3.2:	Vehicle coordinate system defined within the SAE standard J1100 [35, p. 31] (Image Source: [68])26
Figure 3.3:	Exterior dimensions required as inputs (Image Source: [68])27
Figure 3.4:	Overview of the LDS
Figure 3.5:	Normalized load curves of the different drivetrains and engines used for the scaling of the engine load curves
Figure 3.6:	Examples of resulting engine-gearbox combinations
Figure 3.7:	General idea of geometric substitute models
Figure 3.8:	Abstraction of complex geometries using the example of combustion engines

Figure 3.9:	Breakdown of the engine length into subdimensions, based on [47, p. 265] 37
Figure 3.10:	A2Mac1 2D documentation of an AUDI A4 engine, based on [80]
Figure 3.11:	A2Mac1 3D Scan of an AUDI A4 [80]38
Figure 3.12:	Illustration of a linear regression function with one metric explanatory variable, based on [84]
Figure 3.13:	Derivation of a constant value using a histogram and normal distribution, based on [84]
Figure 3.14:	Overview of the created geometric substitute models (E: Empirical, SP: Semi- Physical)41
Figure 3.15:	Regression function between the engine displacement volume and the engine torque, based on [47]42
Figure 3.16:	Optimal cylinder swept volume for engines with engine displacement volume lower than 1800 cm ³ 43
Figure 3.17:	Optimal cylinder swept volume for engines with engine displacement volume higher than 1800 cm ³
Figure 3.18:	Normal distribution for the stroke-bore ratio, based on [47]45
Figure 3.19:	Regression function between the cylinder spacing and the bore-diameter, based on [47]
Figure 3.20:	Normal distribution for the overhang, based on [47]46
Figure 3.21:	Geometric substitute model for the length of in-line engines, based on [47] 46
Figure 3.22:	Illustration of the considered component and installation position alternatives
Figure 3.23:	Derivation of the available installation spaces in the x- and y-directions51
Figure 3.24:	Derivation of the available installation spaces in the z-direction
Figure 3.25:	Dimensional chain within the engine compartment in the x-direction
Figure 3.26:	Displacement of the engine in the x-direction to increase the pedestrian protection distance in the z-direction
Figure 3.27:	Overview of the process for the comparison of the required and available installation space using dimensional chains (DC: length of the dimensional chain; AIS: available installation space)
Figure 3.28:	Examples of different architecture alternatives (each branch represents an architecture alternative)
Figure 3.29:	Examples of architecture alternatives after the modularization
Figure 3.30:	Simplified example of the modularization procedure
Figure 3.31:	Identification of the global optimum with the local optimum as boundary63
Figure 3.32:	Examples of architecture alternatives, after the derivation of architectural standards
Figure 3.33:	Example of the modular systems matrix67

Figure 3.34:	Parametric model of the vehicle front for the visualization of the resulting architectures
Figure 3.35:	Application of the method69
Figure 4.1:	Existing series vehicles for the first stage of the evaluation72
Figure 4.2:	Evaluation procedure within the evaluation of vehicle architectures73
Figure 4.3:	Feasible and infeasible architectures within the first stage of the evaluation (fuel type 1: gas, gas hybrid or electric; fuel type 2: diesel, diesel hybrid or electric)
Figure 4.4:	Deviation between the calculated and the actual engine displacement volumes (fuel type 1: gas or gas hybrid; fuel type 2: diesel or diesel hybrid)
Figure 4.5:	Deviations between the calculated and the actual engine dimensions79
Figure 4.6:	Deviations between the calculated and the actual gearbox dimensions79
Figure 4.7:	Deviations between the calculated and the actual cooling system dimensions
Figure 4.8:	Different oil pan shapes, based on [84, p. 86] (Image Source: [80])80
Figure 4.9:	Original oil pan measurement from A2Mac1, based on [80]81
Figure 4.10:	Positioning of real engines compared to the representation of the engine in the tool (Image Source: [80])82
Figure 4.11:	Original AUDI A4 cooling fan measurement from A2Mac1, based on [80]83
Figure 4.12:	Continuous optimization parameters applied within the second evaluation stage (fuel type 1: gas, gas hybrid, or electric; fuel type 2: diesel, diesel hybrid, or electric)
Figure 4.13:	Feasible and infeasible architectures within the second stage of the evaluation (fuel type 1: gas, gas hybrid or electric; fuel type 2: diesel, diesel hybrid or electric)
Figure 4.14:	Modularization of the gas engines in comparison with the MLBevo90
Figure 4.15:	Modularization of the diesel engines in comparison with the MLBevo91

List of Tables

Table 2.1:	Possible combinations for vehicle models and their variants [17, p. 136, 30, 1.0-58]
Table 2.2:	Differences between modular systems, platforms and vehicle models 15
Table 2.3:	Overview of existing methods related to the development of modular systems
Table 3.1:	Overview of the requirements for the modular system, the vehicle models, and the vehicle variants
Table 3.2:	Explanation of the parameters required for calculating the required engine power
Table 3.3:	Explanation of the parameters required for the gearbox design
Table 3.4:	Explanation of the parameters required for simulating the acceleration time34
Table 3.5:	Explanation of the parameters of a generic linear regression function 39
Table 3.6:	Explanation of the parameters required for calculating the dimensional chain over the engine in the engine compartment
Table 5.1:	Overview of the dependencies of the different architectural standards97

References

- [1] H. Ford, *My life and work*. New York: Doubleday, 1922.
- [2] H. Lemke, "Die Modul-Baukasten-Strategie des Volkswagen-Konzerns im Zusammenspiel mit globalen Systemlieferanten," Unknown Location, 11/2013.
- [3] G. Schuh, M. Lenders, C. Nußbaum, and S. Rudolf, "Produktarchitekturgestaltung," in *Innovationsmanagement*, G. Schuh, Ed., 2nd ed., Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2012, pp. 115–160.
- [4] U. Lindemann, R. Reichwald, and M. F. Zäh, Eds., *Individualisierte Produkte Komplexität beherrschen in Entwicklung und Produktion*. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2006.
- [5] U. Seiffert and G. Rainer, *Virtuelle Produktentstehung für Fahrzeug und Antrieb im Kfz: Prozesse, Komponenten, Beispiele aus der Praxis*. Wiesbaden: Vieweg+Teubner, 2008.
- [6] AUDI AG, *AUDI MediaCenter.* [Online] Available: https://www.audi-mediacenter.com/de. Accessed on: Oct. 12 2018.
- [7] C. Brünglinghaus, Neuer 1,5-I-TSI-Motor von Volkswagen kommt Ende 2016. [Online] Available: https://www.springerprofessional.de/ottomotor/neuer-1-5-I-tsi-motor-von-volkswagen-kommt-ende-2016/10059428. Accessed on: Oct. 12 2018.
- [8] E. Whipp, Audi A6 Diesel Engines Have Been Improved. [Online] Available: https://www.idealengines.co.uk/blog/audi-a6-diesel-engines-have-been-improved/. Accessed on: Oct. 12 2018.
- [9] P. Tan, *Volkswagen to debut coasting with engine off, TGI tech.* [Online] Available: https://paultan.org/2017/04/28/volkswagen-to-debut-coasting-with-engine-off-tgi-tech/. Accessed on: Oct. 12 2018.
- [10] Owasco Volkswagen, 2018 VW e-Golf. [Online] Available: https://owascovolkswagen.ca/new-models/2018-vw-e-golf/. Accessed on: Oct. 12 2018.
- [11] UK H2 Mobility, FCEVs. [Online] Available: http://www.ukh2mobility.co.uk/fcevs/. Accessed on: Oct. 12 2018.
- [12] AliExpress, AUDI Kennzeichnung. [Online] Available: https://de.aliexpress.com/item/Applicable-to-the-for-Audi-logo-mark-displacement-high-quality-stainless-steel-anticorrosion-and-durable/32788764931.html. Accessed on: Nov. 13 2018.
- [13] AUDI AG, "Geschäftsbericht 2006," 2006.
- [14] AUDI AG, "Geschäftsbericht 2011," 2011.
- [15] AUDI AG, "Geschäftsbericht 2016," 2016.
- [16] M. Felgenhauer, J. Stocker, and M. Lienkamp, "New approach for architecture design of high variable vehicle portfolios," in ASME 2017 International Mechanical Engineering Congress and Exposition, Tampa, 2017.

- [17] H.-H. Braess, *Vieweg Handbuch Kraftfahrzeugtechnik,* 7th ed. Wiesbaden: Springer Fachmedien, 2013.
- [18] K. Ehrlenspiel, A. Kiewert, and U. Lindemann, *Kostengünstig Entwickeln und Konstruieren,* 4th ed. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2003.
- [19] J. Fuchs, "Analyse der Wechselwirkungen und Entwicklungspotentiale in der Auslegung elektrifizierter Fahrzeugkonzepte," Dissertation, Lehrstuhl für Fahrzeugtechnik, Technische Universität München, Munich, 2014.
- [20] I. Renner, "Methodische Unterstützung funktionsorientierter Baukastenentwicklung am Beispiel Automobil," Dissertation, Lehrstuhl für Produktentwicklung, Technische Universität München, Munich, 2006.
- [21] C.-A. Hoffmann, "Methodik zur Steuerung modularer Produktbaukästen," Dissertation, Institut f
 ür Konstruktionstechnik, Technische Universit
 ät Carolo-Wilhelmina zu Braunschweig, Braunschweig, 2017.
- [22] R. Hollmig, Baukastenstrategie. Head of Vehicle Concept Steering at AUDI AG. [Online] Available: https://www.yumpu.com/de/document/view/5525380/gastvortragbaukastenstrategie. Accessed on: Jan. 13 2019.
- [23] M. Winterkorn, Effizient, emotional, erfolgreich Wie der Volkswagen Konzern die Zukunft der Mobilität gestaltet. CEO of Volkswagen AG. [Online] Available: https://www.bwl.wi.tum.de/contenido/cms/upload/pdf/lehre/download/2012s/Vorlesung_SWM/Vorlesungsunterlagen_1_Effizienz.pdf. Accessed on: Jan. 13 2019.
- [24] Matthias Felgenhauer, "Transcript of the Interview with Frank Schöpe (Expert for Vehicle Concept Development, Teamleader Vehicle Front at AUDI AG) on Modular Systems and Development of Modular Systems," AUDI AG, Ingolstadt, Oct. 2018.
- [25] Bentley Motors Ltd., Homepage. [Online] Available: https://www.bentleymotors.com. Accessed on: Oct. 12 2018.
- [26] Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, *Homepage*. [Online] Available: https://www.porsche.com/. Accessed on: Oct. 12 2018.
- [27] M. Felgenhauer and M. Lienkamp, "Automated Generation of Vehicle Architectures and Derivation of Modular Systems within the Vehicle Front," in *NordDesign2018*, Linköping, Aug. 2018.
- [28] F. Züge, *Continuous Advising Meetings*. Head of the Modular Systems Development Department. AUDI AG, Ingolstadt.
- [29] F. Schöpe, *Continuous Advising Meetings*. Expert for Vehicle Concept Development, Teamleader Vehicle Front. AUDI AG, Ingolstadt.
- [30] M. Lienkamp, "Fahrzeugkonzepte: Entwicklung und Simulation," Lecture Notes, Lehrstuhl für Fahrzeugtechnik, Technische Universität München, Winter Term 2018/2019.
- [31] S. Matz, "Nutzerorientierte Fahrzeugkonzeptoptimierung in einer multimodalen Verkehrsumgebung," Dissertation, Lehrstuhl für Fahrzeugtechnik, Technische Universität München, Munich, 2015.

- [32] J. Hahn, "Eigenschaftsbasierte Fahrzeugkonzeption: Eine Methodik in der frühen Konzeptphase," Dissertation, Lehrstuhl für Konstruktionstechnik, Otto-von-Guericke Universität Magdeburg, Magdeburg, 2017.
- [33] J. Grabner and R. Nothhaft, *Konstruieren von Pkw-Karosserien: Grundlagen, Elemente und Baugruppen, Vorschriftenübersicht, Beispiele mit CATIA V4 und V5,* 3rd ed. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2006.
- [34] H. Seeger, *Basiswissen Transportation-Design: Anforderungen Lösungen Bewertungen.* Wiesbaden: Springer Fachmedien, 2014.
- [35] *Motor Vehicle Dimensions*, SAE J1100, 2009.
- [36] F. Bandow and H. Stahlecker, "Ableitung der Hauptabmessungen eines Fahrzeugs," *ATZ - Automobiltechnische Zeitschrift*, vol. 103, no. 10, pp. 912–921, 2001.
- [37] M. Felgenhauer, F. Schöpe, M. Bayerlein, and M. Lienkamp, "Derivation, analysis and comparison of geometric requirements for various vehicle drivetrains using dimensional chains," in 21st International Conference on Engineering Design (ICED17), Vancouver, 2017, pp. 189–198.
- [38] K. Alders, "Komplexitäts- und Variantenmanagement der AUDI AG," in VDI-Buch, Individualisierte Produkte — Komplexität beherrschen in Entwicklung und Produktion, U. Lindemann, R. Reichwald, and M. F. Zäh, Eds., Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2006, pp. 221–237.
- [39] I. Gräßler, *Kundenindividuelle Massenproduktion: Entwicklung, Vorbereitung der Herstellung, Veränderungsmanagement.* Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2004.
- [40] K.-H. Borowski, *Das Baukastensystem in der Technik*. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1961.
- [41] F. Tesch, "Bewertung der Strukturvariabilität von Pkw-Karosseriederivaten," Dissertation, Lehrstuhl für Fahrzeugtechnik, Technische Universität München, Munich, 2010.
- [42] G. Pahl, W. Beitz, J. Feldhusen, and K.-H. Grote, *Konstruktionslehre*, 7th ed. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2007.
- [43] J. Kahrstedt, H.-J. Engler, R. Dorenkamp, and S. Jauns-Seyfried, "Der Modulare Dieselmotoren-Baukasten von Volkswagen," *MTZ - Motortechnische Zeitschrift*, vol. 73, no. 12, pp. 954–963, 2012.
- [44] Volkswagen AG, Der Baukasten f
 ür e-Mobilit
 ät. [Online] Available: https://www.volkswagenag.com/de/news/stories/2017/02/the-e-mobility-module.html. Accessed on: Nov. 06 2018.
- [45] Volkswagen AG, *Modularer Querbaukasten*. [Online] Available: https://www.volkswagennewsroom.com/de/modularer-querbaukasten-3655. Accessed on: Nov. 06 2018.
- [46] G. Schmidt and G. Herrmann, "Plattformbasierte Lösungen für Globale Märkte," *ATZextra*, vol. 16, no. 6, pp. 28–33, 2011.
- [47] M. Felgenhauer, C. Angerer, R. Marksteiner, F. Schneider, and M. Lienkamp, "Geometric substitute models for efficient scaling of dimensions during the vehicle architecture design," in *15th International Design Conference*, Dubrovnik, 2018, pp. 261–272.

- [48] J. Cagan, D. Degentesh, and S. Yin, "A simulated annealing-based algorithm using hierarchical models for general three-dimensional component layout," *Computer-Aided Design*, vol. 30, no. 10, pp. 781–790, 1998.
- [49] S. Szykman and J. Cagan, "A Simulated Annealing-Based Approach to Three-Dimensional Component Packing," *Journal of Mechanical Design*, vol. 117, no. 2A, pp. 308– 314, 1995.
- [50] P. M. Grignon, "Configuration Design Optimization Method," Dissertation, Clemson University, Clemson, 1998.
- [51] P. M. Grignon and G. M. Fadel, "A GA Based Configuration Design Optimization Method," *Journal of Mechanical Design*, vol. 126, no. 1, pp. 6–15, 2004.
- [52] H. Dong, "Physics-based Shape Morphing and Packing for Layout Design," Dissertation, Clemson University, Clemson, 2008.
- [53] H. Dong, P. Guarneri, and G. M. Fadel, "Bi-level Approach to Vehicle Component Layout With Shape Morphing," *Journal of Mechanical Design*, vol. 133, no. 4, pp. 1–8, 2011.
- [54] V. B. Gantovnik, S. Tiwari, G. M. Fadel, and Y. Miao, "Multi-Objective Vehicle Layout Optimization," in *11th AIAA/ISSMO Multidisciplinary Analysis and Optimization Conference*, Portsmouth, 2006, pp. 133–144.
- [55] Y. Miao, V. Y. Blouin, and G. M. Fadel, "Multi-Objective Configuration Optimization With Vehicle Dynamics Applied to Midsize Truck Design," in ASME 2003 International Design Engineering Technical Conferences and Computers and Information in Engineering Conference, ASME, Ed.: ASME, 2003, pp. 319–327.
- [56] Y. Miao, G. M. Fadel, and V. B. Gantovnik, "Vehicle configuration design with a packing GA," *International Journal of Heavy Vehicle Systems*, vol. 15, no. 2, 2008.
- [57] S. Yin and J. Cagan, "An Extended Pattern Search Algorithm for Three-Dimensional Component Layout," *Journal of Mechanical Design*, vol. 122, no. 1, pp. 102–108, 2000.
- [58] K. Kuchenbuch, "Methodik zur Identifikation und zum Entwurf packageoptimierter Elektrofahrzeuge," Dissertation, Institut für Konstruktionstechnik, Technische Universität Carolo-Wilhelmina zu Braunschweig, Braunschweig, 2012.
- [59] M. Ried, "Lösungsraumanalyse für Plug-In-Hybridfahrzeuge hinsichtlich Wirtschaftlichkeit und Bauraumkonzept," Dissertation, Abteilung Maschinenbau und Verfahrenstechnik, Universität Duisburg-Essen, Duisburg, Essen, 2014.
- [60] J. Fuchs, R. Huber, M. Lienkamp, and T. Riemenschneider, "Impact of Electrification on the Vehicle Concept – Potential of Determining Components and Technologies," in *Conference on Future Automotive Technology*, M. Lienkamp, Ed., Wiesbaden: Springer Fachmedien, 2013, pp. 119–146.
- [61] M. Ried, A. Kelnberger, A. Gumm, M. Jung, and D. Schramm, "Parametrische Geometriemodelle für die Konzeptgestaltung elektrifizierter Fahrzeuge," in *Schritte in die künftige Mobilität*, H. Proff, W. Pascha, J. Schönharting, and D. Schramm, Eds., Wiesbaden: Springer Gabler, 2013, pp. 19–33.
- [62] A. Förg, M. Kreimeyer, and M. Lienkamp, "Architecting new vehicle concepts: virtual design and performance based assessment," in *13th International Symposium on Heavy Vehicle Transportation Technology*, San Louis, Oct. 2014.

- [63] J. Stocker, "Standardisierung der Rahmenanbauteile-Topologie bei Nutzfahrzeugen," Dissertation, Lehrstuhl für Fahrzeugtechnik, Technische Universität München, Munich, 2019.
- [64] H. Wallentowitz, A. Freialdenhoven, and I. Olschewski, Strategien in der Automobilindustrie: Technologietrends und Marktentwicklungen. Wiesbaden: Vieweg+Teubner, 2009.
- [65] D. Reitz, W. Ruder, M. Dilzer, and C. Blaes, P2 HV-Antriebe Die effiziente Hybridisierung für alle Getriebe: Mobility for Tomorrow - Schaeffler Kolloquium 2018. [Online] Available: http://schaeffler-events.com/kolloquium/lecture/h4/index.html. Accessed on: Oct. 19 2018.
- [66] C. Schalk, The Future for Gas Guzzlers Is Hybridization. [Online] Available: https://energypost.eu/15743-2/. Accessed on: Oct. 19 2018.
- [67] P. Hofmann, Ed., Hybridfahrzeuge. Vienna: Springer Vienna, 2014.
- [68] AUDI AG, AUDI A1 Abmessungen. [Online] Available: https://www.audi.de/de/brand/de/neuwagen/a1/a1-sportback.html#layer=/de/brand/de/neuwagen/a1/a1-sportback/layer/layer-dimension.html. Accessed on: Oct. 19 2018.
- [69] RCAR Low-Speed Structural Crash Test, 2011.
- [70] Motor vehicles with trailers: masses and dimensions of cars, 92/21/EEC, 1992.
- [71] M. Felgenhauer, L. Nicoletti, F. Schockenhoff, C. Angerer, and M. Lienkamp, "Empiric Weight Model for the Early Phase of Vehicle Architecture Design," in 14th International Conference on Ecological Vehicles and Renewable Energies, Monaco, 2019 (in review process).
- [72] D. Malkic, "Aufbau eines Tools zur Berechnung von möglichen Motor-Getriebe-Kombinationen aus Konzeptanforderungen," Bachelor Thesis, Lehrstuhl für Fahrzeugtechnik, Technische Universität München, Munich, 2018.
- [73] H. Wallentowitz and A. Freialdenhoven, *Strategien zur Elektrifizierung des Antriebsstran*ges. Wiesbaden: Vieweg+Teubner, 2011.
- [74] M. Mitschke and H. Wallentowitz, *Dynamik der Kraftfahrzeuge*. Wiesbaden: Springer Fachmedien, 2014.
- [75] R. Fischer, F. Kücükay, G. Jürgens, and B. Pollak, *Das Getriebebuch*. Wiesbaden: Springer Fachmedien, 2016.
- [76] G. Lechner and H. Naunheimer, *Fahrzeuggetriebe: Grundlagen, Auswahl, Auslegung und Konstruktion*. Berlin: Springer, 1994.
- [77] S. Fuchs, "Verfahren zur parameterbasierten Gewichtsabschätzung neuer Fahrzeugkonzepte," Dissertation, Lehrstuhl für Fahrzeugtechnik, Technische Universität München, Munich, 2014.
- [78] M. Schorn, "Modelle zur Beschreibung des Fahrzeugverhaltens," in Kraftfahrzeugtechnik, Fahrdynamik-Regelung: Modellbildung, Fahrerassistenzsysteme, Mechatronik; mit 28 Tabellen, R. Isermann, Ed., 1st ed., Wiesbaden: Vieweg+Teubner, 2006, pp. 27–46.

- [79] S. Vajna, H. Bley, P. Hehenberger, C. Weber, and K. Zeman, CAx für Ingenieure: Eine praxisbezogene Einführung, 2nd ed. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2009.
- [80] A2MAC1 EURL, *A2mac1: Automotive Benchmarking.* [Online] Available: https://www.a2mac1.com/. Accessed on: Feb. 25 2018.
- [81] Global Cars Manufacturers Information Exchange Group (GCIE), *Package Drawing Exchanges*.
- [82] ADAC, *Autodatenbank*. [Online] Available: https://www.adac.de/infotestrat/autodatenbank/autokosten/suchergebnis.aspx. Accessed on: Oct. 20 2018.
- [83] auto motor und sport, *Alle Autos A-Z*. [Online] Available: https://www.auto-motor-und-sport.de/marken-modelle/. Accessed on: Oct. 20 2018.
- [84] R. Marksteiner, "Ableitung von Korrelationen für den Bauraumbedarf von Antriebskomponenten," Master Thesis, Lehrstuhl für Fahrzeugtechnik, Technische Universität München, Munich, 2017.
- [85] J. M. Wooldridge, *Introductory econometrics: A modern approach,* 5th ed. Mason: South-Western Cengage Learning, 2013.
- [86] L. Fahrmeir, T. Kneib, S. Lang, and B. Marx, *Regression: Models, Methods and Applica*tions. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2013.
- [87] M.-W. Stoetzer, *Regressionsanalyse in der empirischen Wirtschafts- und Sozialforschung*. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2017.
- [88] L. J. Tashman, "Out-of-sample tests of forecasting accuracy: An analysis and review," in *International Journal of Forecasting*, R. Hyndman, Ed., 2000, pp. 437–450.
- [89] R. H. C. Lopes, "Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test," in *International encyclopedia of statistical science*, M. Lovric, Ed., Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2011, pp. 718–720.
- [90] J. Bortz and R. Weber, *Statistik für Human- und Sozialwissenschaftler,* 6th ed. Heidelberg: Springer Medizin, 2005.
- [91] M. Huß, "Übertragung von Motoreigenschaften mit Hilfe charakteristischer Skalierfunktionen zur Simulation verschiedener Varianten von Ottomotoren," Dissertation, Lehrstuhl für Verbrennungskraftmaschinen, Technische Universität München, Munich, 2012.
- [92] E. Köhler and R. Flierl, *Verbrennungsmotoren: Motormechanik, Berechnung und Auslegung des Hubkolbenmotors,* 6th ed. Wiesbaden: Vieweg+Teubner, 2012.
- [93] C. Angerer *et al.*, "Scalable Dimension-, Weight- and Cost-Modeling for Components of Electric Vehicle Powertrains," in *21st International Conference on Electrical Machines and Systems*, Jeju, 2018, pp. 966–973.
- [94] T. Schröder, "Entwicklung geometrischer Ersatzmodelle für Komponenten des Vorderwagens," Term Thesis, Lehrstuhl für Fahrzeugtechnik, Technische Universität München, Munich, 2018.
- [95] T. Pronten, "Erstellung geometrischer Ersatzmodelle f
 ür Motor-Getriebe-Flansch, Quergetriebe und Klimapaket im KFZ-Vorderwagen," Term Thesis, Lehrstuhl f
 ür Fahrzeugtechnik, Technische Universit
 ät M
 ünchen, Munich, 2018.

- [96] A. Krohn, "Designing Geometric Substitute Models for Automated Concept Development," Master Thesis, Lehrstuhl für Fahrzeugtechnik, Technische Universität München, Munich, 2018.
- [97] S. Wagner, "Erstellung geometrischer Ersatzmodelle für die Konzeptauslegung von Komponentenabständen im Vorderwagen," Master Thesis, Lehrstuhl für Fahrzeugtechnik, Technische Universität München, Munich, 2018.
- [98] M. Zähringer, "Erstellung eines analytischen Ersatzmodells für Getriebe von Elektrofahrzeugen," Bachelor Thesis, Lehrstuhl für Fahrzeugtechnik, Technische Universität München, Munich, 2018.
- [99] N. Trümper, "Erweiterung und Evaluierung eines automatischen Architektur-Auslegungstools," Master Thesis, Technische Universität München, München, 2018.
- [100] L. Nicoletti, "Erweiterung eines Baukasten-Architektur-Auslegungstools durch Modellierung von Abmessungen und Gewichten," Master Thesis, Lehrstuhl für Fahrzeugtechnik, Technische Universität München, Munich, 2018.
- [101] F. Schneider, "Erstellung empirischer Ersatzmodelle für Wärmetauscher, Bremsen, Felgen und Rei-fen im KFZ-Vorderwagen," Master Thesis, Lehrstuhl für Fahrzeugtechnik, Technische Universität München, München, 2017.
- [102] Road Vehicles Dimensional Codes for Passenger Cars, ISO 4131, 1979.
- [103] H. Bubb, K. Bengler, R. E. Grünen, and M. Vollrath, Eds., Automobilergonomie. Wiesbaden: Springer Fachmedien, 2015.
- [104] Motor Vehicle Drivers' Eye Locations, SAE J941, 2010.
- [105] Approximation of the Laws of the Member States relating to the Field of Vision of Motor Vehicle Drivers, 77/649/EWG, 1977.
- [106] S. Levrat, "Optimierung und Evaluierung eines Baukasten-Architektur-Auslegungstools," Master Thesis, Lehrstuhl für Fahrzeugtechnik, Technische Universität München, München, 2018.
- [107] R. van Basshuysen and F. Schäfer, *Handbuch Verbrennungsmotor: Grundlagen, Komponenten, Systeme, Perspektiven,* 7th ed. Wiesbaden: Springer Vieweg, 2015.
- [108] B. Heißing, M. Ersoy, and S. Gies, *Fahrwerkhandbuch*. Wiesbaden: Springer Fachmedien, 2013.
- [109] AUDI AG, Homepage. [Online] Available: www.audi.de. Accessed on: Nov. 19 2018.
- [110] N. Ardey, W. Stütz, D. Hiemesch, and M. Kaufmann, "Die neuen Drei- und Vierzylinder-Dieselmotoren von BMW," *MTZ - Motortechnische Zeitschrift*, vol. 75, no. 7, pp. 46–53, 2014.

List of Publications

The foundation of this Ph.D. Thesis was set by different publications and student theses. These cover partial aspects of this work. The publications as the first author have the highest impact on this thesis. The different bachelor-, term- and master-theses originate from research questions and advising of the author. The author wants to thank the other authors and students for their contributions.

Journals; Scopus/Web of Science listed (peer-reviewed)

Conferences; Scopus/Web of Science listed (peer-reviewed)

- [37] Matthias Felgenhauer, Frank Schöpe, Michaela Blaimer, Markus Lienkamp, "Derivation, Analysis and Comparison of Geometric Requirements for Various Vehicle Drivetrains using Dimensional Chains", 21st International Conference on Engineering Design, Vanouver, 2017
- [16] Matthias Felgenhauer, Johannes Stocker, Markus Lienkamp, "New approach for architecture design of high variable vehicle portfolios", International Mechanical Engineering Congress and Exposition, Tampa, 2017
- [47] Matthias Felgenhauer, Christian Angerer, Raul Marksteiner, Florian Schneider, Markus Lienkamp, "Geometric Substitute Models for efficient Scaling of Dimensions during the Vehicle Architecture Design",15th International Design Conference, Dubrovnik, 2018
- [27] Matthias Felgenhauer, Markus Lienkamp, "Automated Generation of Vehicle Architectures and Derivation of Modular Systems with-in the Vehicle Front", NordDesign2018, Linköping, 2018
- [111] Johannes Stocker, Mesut Chavushoglu, Matthias Felgenhauer, Markus Lienkamp "Efficient Module Design for Chassis-Mounted Components of Commercial Vehicles", NordDesign2018, Linköping, 2018 *
- [93] Christian Angerer, Matthias Felgenhauer, Isaak Eroglu, Maximilian Zähringer, Svenja Kalt, Markus Lienkamp, "Scalable Dimension-, Weight- and Cost-Modeling for Components of Electric Vehicle Powertrains", 21st International Conference on Electrical Machines and Systems, Jeju, 2018
- [71] Matthias Felgenhauer, Lorenzo Nicoletti, Ferdinand Schockenhoff, Christian Angerer, Markus Lienkamp "Empiric Weight Model for the Early Phase of Vehicle Architecture Design", 14th International Conference on Ecological Vehicles and Renewable Energies, Monaco, 2019 (in review process)

Patents

-

Journals, Conferences, Magazines, Reports, Conference-Presentations and -posters; not Scopus/Web of Science listed

Advised Student Theses

- [112] Martin Wolf, Term Thesis, "Zukünftige geometrische Veränderungen der packagerelevanten Komponenten verschiedener Antriebskonzepte", 2016 *
- [113] Andreas Billert, Bachelor Thesis, "Vergleich von Pkw-Antriebskonzepten und Konzeption eines parametrischen Baukastenmodells", 2016 *
- [114] Markus Schreiber, Bachelor Thesis, "Erfassung und Analyse des Packages und der Maßketten des Visio.M", 2016 *
- [115] Andreas Dittmar, Master Thesis, "Entwicklung und Konstruktion eines parametrischen Fahrzeug-Vorderwagenmodells in CATIA V5", 2017 *
- [116] Christofer Keppler, Bachelor Thesis, "Vergleich von Baukastenstrategien und Konzeptvarianten führender Automobilhersteller", 2017 *
- [117] Wolfgang Degel, Term Thesis, "Entwicklung einer Maßkombinatorik zur automatisierten Berechnung und Visualisierung von Packageparametern", 2017 *
- [118] Christoph Mederer, Bachelor Thesis, "Aufbau eines Modells zur Bauraumberechnung und parametrischen Konzeptgenerierung", 2017 *
- [119] Ferdinand Schockenhoff, Master Thesis, "Vergleich des Bauraumbedarfs von verschiedenen Fahrzeug- und Antriebskonzepten anhand einer Maßkettenanalyse", 2017 *
- [120] Kevin Jonczyk, Term Thesis, "Analyse von Fahrzeugkonfigurationen zur Identifikation von Zusammenhängen und Zielkonflikten", 2017 *
- [101] Florian Schneider, Master Thesis, "Erstellung empirischer Ersatzmodelle für Wärmetauscher, Bremsen, Felgen und Reifen im KFZ-Vorderwagen", 2017
- [84] Raul Marksteiner, Master Thesis, "Ableitung von Korrelationen für den Bauraumbedarf von Antriebskomponenten", 2017
- [72] Dzemaludin Malkic, Bachelor Thesis, "Aufbau eines Tools zur Berechnung von möglichen Motor-Getriebe-Kombinationen aus Konzeptanforderungen", 2018
- [98] Maximilian Zähringer, Bachelor Thesis, "Erstellung eines analytischen Ersatzmodells für Getriebe von Elektrofahrzeugen", 2018
- [14] Ömer Tan, Master Thesis, "Erstellung eines semiphysikalischen Ersatzmodells für elektrische Maschinen und Hauptwasserkühler", 2018 *
- [97] Stephan Wagner, Master Thesis, "Erstellung geometrischer Ersatzmodelle für die Konzeptauslegung von Komponentenabständen im Vorderwagen", 2018

- [96] Andreas Krohn, Master Thesis, "Designing Geometric Substitute Models for Automated Concept Development", 2018
- [94] Tim Schröder, Term Thesis, "Entwicklung geometrischer Ersatzmodelle für Komponenten des Vorderwagens", 2018
- [121] Alexandre Baum, Term Thesis, "Statistische Evaluierung von empirischen Ersatzmodellen", 2018
- [122] Amin Siala, Bachelor Thesis, "Konzipierung einer Bauraumüberprüfung zur automatischen Generierung von Vorderwagenarchitekturen", 2018
- [123] Stephane Levrat, Term Thesis, "Entwicklung des Funktionsablaufs eines Tools zur automatischen Erstellung von Pkw-Konzeptalternativen", 2018
- [124] Frederik Massner, Term Thesis, "Analyse von Ansätzen zur Pkw-Konzeptgenerierung", 2018
- [95] Tim Pronten, Term Thesis, "Erstellung geometrischer Ersatzmodelle für Motor-Getriebe-Flansch, Quergetriebe und Klimapaket im KFZ-Vorderwagen", 2018
- [99] Nico Trümper, Master Thesis, "Erweiterung und Evaluierung eines automatischen Architektur-Auslegungstools", 2018
- [100] Nicoletti Lorenzo, Master Thesis, "Erweiterung eines Baukasten-Architektur-Auslegungstools durch Modellierung von Abmessungen und Gewichten", 2018
- [106] Stephane Levrat, Master Thesis, "Optimierung und Evaluierung eines Baukasten-Architektur-Auslegungstools", 2018

* Publications or Student Thesis not relevant for this Dissertation

Appendices

схх	GUI of the Tool	Appendix A
cxxiv	Regression Functions and Constant Values	Appendix B
cxxxviii	Dimensional Chains	Appendix C
cxlix	Modular System Matrix	Appendix D
cl	Evaluation Vehicles	Appendix E
clxv	LDS Results	Appendix F
clxvi	Dimension Deviations	Appendix G
clxviii	Architecture Results	Appendix H

The following appendices provide further insights into the presented method and the tool. Due to the scope of this thesis, it does not illustrate all coherences within the method and tool. However, it is possible to access the tool at the Institute of Automotive Technology of the Technical University of Munich.

Prof. Dr.-Ing. Markus Lienkamp

Institute of Automotive Technology Technical University of Munich Boltzmannstr. 15 85748 Garching

Contact: +49 89 289 15345 ftm@ftm.mw.tum.de

Appendix A GUI of the Tool

10.9 [m] 15 2620 [mm] 19 0 [km/h] 0 [kWh] 0 [kg] 0 [kg] 0 [kg] 0 [kg] 0 [s] Typschaden Zertifizierung Gesetz Min. Felgengröße Gef. Felgengröße Schätzung Leergewicht Wendekreis Höchstgeschwindigkeit 1799 [mm] Radstand Anforderungen BEV Batteriekapazität Mehrausstattung Beschleunigung 4WD 2WD Leergewicht¹ Anhängelast Abtriebsart [mm] 0 Zuladung² 264 [mm] [mm] 0 PACE 0 [km/h] 0 [kWh] Vorderwagenbreite 0 [kg] 0 [kg] 0 [kg] 0 [kg] 0 [L] 0 [s] Fahrzeuglänge Batteriehöhe H30-Maß Anforderungen ICEV/HEV Schätzung Leergewicht Höchstgeschwindigkeit 445 [mm] 1295 [mm] 850 [mm] Schwach V Leistungsklasse Mehrausstattung Batteriekapazität Beschleunigung Ausstattung 3 Performance Leergewicht¹ Tankvolumen Anhängelast Zuladung² Vorderwagenlänge Abmessungen Bombierung Überhang Prestige 0 [km/h] 0 [kWh] 0 [kg] 0 [kg] 0 [kg] 0 [kg] 0 [s] Typschaden Zertifizierung Gesetz Schätzung Leergewicht Schaltlos Höchstgeschwindigkeit Anforderungen BEV ▲ ASM
 ▼ PSM Batteriekapazität Mehrausstattung Beschleunigung 4WD 2WD Leergewicht¹ Abtriebsart Anhängelast Zuladung² ✓ Diesel Turbo ✓ Diesel Turbo PSM Wandler 250 [km/h] 0 [kWh] 1289 [kg] 0 [kg] 486 [kg] 6.4 [s] 50 [L] 1800 [kg] Jenzin Turbo Doppelkupplung Anforderungen ICEV/HEV Schätzung Leergewicht Baukastenart: Multi-Drivetrain Single-Drivetrain Höchstgeschwindigkeit Leistungsklasse Mehrausstattung Batteriekapazität Beschleunigung Ausstattung 2 Tankvolumen Anhängelast Leergewicht Zuladung² Volumen Benzin Sauger
 Benzin Sauger PSM Getriebetypen Motortypen V Manuell 24 [kWh] 140 [km/h] 375 [kg] 0 [kg] 1510 [kg] 0 [kg] 10.4 [s] Typschaden Zertifizierung Gesetz V BEV Schätzung Leergewicht Höchstgeschwindigkeit Anforderungen BEV Fahrzeug 1 Fahrzeug 2 Fahrzeug 3 Fahrzeug 4 Fahrzeug 5 V HEV Antriebskonzept Mehrausstattung Batteriekapazität Beschleunigung 2WD 4WD Leergewicht Abtriebsart Anhängelast Zuladung² 5 VICEV Antrieb Baukastenparameter: Anzahl Fahrzeuge 212 [km/h] 0 [kWh] 512 [kg] . Leergewicht ohne Energieträger und ohne Fahrer . Maximale Zuladung (inkl. Mehrausstattung) 0 [kg] 1700 [kg] 1193 [kg] 50 [L] 8.4 [s] Flachboden Hochboden Berechnung Ergebnisse Anforderungen ICEV/HEV Schätzung Leergewicht Konzeptanforderungen Höchstgeschwindigkeit Anzahl Ausstattungen Leistungsklasse Mehrausstattung Batteriekapazität Beschleunigung Ausstattung 1 Leergewicht¹ Tankvolumen Anhängelast Fahrzeugtyp Einsteiger Zuladung² nition

Berechnung	Ergebnisse							
erechnungs	parameter						Einashan ühannrüfan	
Fahrzeug 1	Fahrzeug 2	Fahrzeug 3 Fahrzeug 4 Fahrz	Zeug 5					
Fußgän	Igerschutz							
 Aktiv 			Ausstattung 1 Ausstattu	ng 2 Aussti	attung 3 Einheit			
Passi	2	Motor_Laenge_Benzin	0	0	96 0			
		Motor_Breite_Benzin Motor Hoebe Renzin	0	0 0	0 %0			
Reifen		Motor_Laenge_Diesel	0	0	%0			
Norm	peo l lec	Motor_Breite_Diesel	0	0	9% 0			
		Motor_Hoehe_Diesel	0	0	% 0			
Extra	a Load	Motorhubvolumen Die	0 0	0 0	0 %			
		Getriebe_Laenge	0 0	0 0	%0	Modularisierung		
Untere	Lastebene	Getriebe_Breite	0	0	0 %			
< Mit		Getriebe_Hoehe	0	0	0 %	off		
Ohne		Kuehlerpaket_X	0	0	%0			
	,	Kuehlemaket Y	0 0	0 0	0 %	Modularisierung		
Frontkla	anne	Hauptscheinwerfer X	0	0	%0	Evaluionneemodue		
	2125	Hauptscheinwerfer_Y	0	0	%0	Evaluterungsmodus		
 Stahl 		Hauptscheinwerfer_Z	0	0	9% 0	Off		
Alumi	inium	Fahrwerk_Y	0	0	% 0)		
		COT V	> (% 0	Evaluierungsmodus		
Batterie	szellentyp	Typschaden_X	0	0	%0			
tour L	4	AGA_Volumen	0	0	0 %		Borechning starten	
		Reifen_Breite	0	0	% 0			
Prism	natisch	Pedalene_X	0	0	0 %0			
	drisch	Laengstraeger_2 Laengstraeger Y	0 0	0 0	%0			
		Y Motorrechts MNK L	0	0	0 mm			
Hauptso	cheinwerfer	Z_Motorunterkante_MNK	0	0	0 mm			
-		Unterbodenfreiheit	0	0	0 mm			
A Halo	gen	Unterbodendicke	0	0	0 mm			
□ Xenoi	u	Sichtwinkel_unten	0	0 0	. 0			
			0	5	E			
Ausiegu	ungsabstande							
✓ Robu	ıst							





Figure A.3: GUI for the visualization and analysis of the results

Appendix B Regression Functions and Constant Values

						ບິ	mbustion Engine - O	verall				
Dependent Variable				Binary Variable	s		2	letric Va	riables		Condition	EcurationMatuc
۵	Unit	B1	B2	B3	B4	BS	M1	Unit	M2	Unit	CONDICION	Equation value
				Gas	Naturally Aspirated		Max. Torque	е z				$D = 71.16 + 9.82 M_1$
Engine Displacement Volume	cm³			Diesel	Super- charged		Max. Torque	Е Z				$D = 497.58 + 3.99 M_1$
	1			Gas	Super- charged		Max. Torque	Е Z				$D = 40.69 + 5.91 M_1$
		In-Line									Engine Displacement Volume <1800cm³	400,00
Optimal Cylinder Volume	cm³	In-Line									Engine Displacement Volume >1800cm³	500,00
	I	V-Type										575,00
Strated are Datio		In-Line										1,10
		V-Type										0,96
Culinder Seccing	8	In-Line					Bore	mm				$D = 17.42 + 0.89 M_1$
		V-Type					Bore	mm				$D = -10.88 + 1.23 M_1$
Connocting Dod Dotio		In-Line										0,31
		V-Type										0,28
				Gas	Naturally Aspirated							38,40
Cylinder Bank Offset	ш	V-Type		Diesel	Super- charged							33,60
				Gas	Super- charged							21,10
						6 Clinders						60,00
Oulinder Bank Angle						8 Cylinders						00'06
						10 Cylinders						72,00
						12 Cylinders						60,00

	Ecuration/Alico	Equation value	273,35	311,52		E	Equation value	$D = 372.59 + 0.35 M_1$	$D = 407.32 + 0.33 M_1$	$D = 372.59 + 0.51 M_1$	231,09	90,50	01 101
	Condition					Constitutions	CONTRICT						
		Unit					Unit						
	riables	M2				riables	M2						
ength	letric Va	Unit			Vidth	letric Va	Unit	и И	E Z	E Z			
nbustion Engine – L	2	M1			mbustion Engine –	2	M1	Max. Torque	Max. Torque	Max. Torque			
00		B5			ပိ		B5				6 Clinders	8 Cylinders	10.01
	s	B4				ş	B4	Naturally Aspirated	Super- charged	Super- charged			
	Binary Variable	B3				Binary Variable	B3	Gas	Diesel	Gas			
		B2					B2						
		B1	In-Line	V-Type			B1		In-Line			V.Tvne	v-i ype
		Unit					Unit			E			
	Dependent Variable	D	Posth Ousthand	сенди оченнану		Dependent Variable	D			Width Overhang	,		

Appendices

Figure B.2: Regression functions and constant values for the combustion engines

191,59 231,09

10 Cylinders 12 Cylinders

						ပိ	mbustion Engine – H	eight					_
Dependent Variable			B	inary Variables			Σ	etric Va	ariables				
Q	Unit	B1	B2	B3	B4	B5	M1	Unit	M2	Unit	Condition	Equation/Value	
Commonotion Loicht		In-Line					Bore	mm				$D = 0.365 M_1$	
		V-Type					Bore	шш				$D = 0.562 M_1$	
Cylinder Head Height	шш											225,91	
			Longitudinal		Naturally Aspirated		Max. Torque	Е Z	Number of Cylinders			$D = 275.47 + 0.14 M_1 - 12.83 M_2$	
the sector of th	1		Longitudinal		Super- charged		Max. Torque	n n	Number of Cylinders			$D = 254.84 + 0.14 M_1 - 12.83 M_2$	
			Transversal		Naturally Aspirated		Max. Torque	Е Z	Number of Cylinders			$D = 241.36 + 0.14 M_1 - 12.83 M_2$	
			Transversal		Super- charged		Max. Torque	Е Z	Number of Cylinders			$D = 220.73 + 0.14 M_1 - 12.83 M_2$	
Upper Height Overhang	mm	In-Line										39,44	
	шш			Gas	Naturally Aspirated							$D = 163,49 + 0,57 M_1$	
Overall Height Overhang	ш	V-Type		Diesel	Super- charged							$D = 59.83 + 0.40 M_1$	
	E			Gas	Super- charged							$D = 163,49 + 0.40 M_1$	

Figure B.3: Regression functions and constant values for the combustion engines

Electric Machine	Metric Variables	B4 B5 M1 Unit M2 Unit Condition Equation value	Nom. Torque N m $D = 5.70 + 0.05 M_1$	Nom. Torque N m $D = 5.70 + 0.10 M_1$	Max. Rotational Speed $1/min$ $D = 0.26 + 7.02 ext{ } 10^{-5} M_1$	33,30	Historia
		Unit					
	riables	M2					
	etric Va	Unit	۳ ۲	٤ Z	1/min		
Electric Machine	Ň	M1	Nom. Torque	Nom. Torque	Max. Rotational Speed		Hybrid Modulo
		B5					
	s	B4					
	Binary Variable	B3					
		B2					
		B1	MSH	ASM			
	a	Unit	dm3	5	•	шш	
	Dependent Variabl	D	Machine Volume		Length/Diameter Ratio	Overhang	

							Hybrid Module						
Dependent Variable	~		8	3 inary Variable	s		эм	tric Var	iables		Condition		
۵	Unit	B1	B2	B3	7 8	B5	1M1	Unit	M2	Unit	CONTRACTOR	Equation value	
Module Volume	dm³						Max. Electric Torque	е Z				$D = 4.29 + 0.04 M_1$	
Length/Diameter Ratio	•						Max. Electric Torque	1/min				$D = 0.06 + 1.60 \ 10^{-3} M_1$	

Figure B.4: Regression functions and constant values for the electric machines and hybrid module

	EcurationMature	Equation value	$D = 294.50 + 0.10 M_1$	359,32	343,08	$D = 148.68 + 0.10 M_1$	207,55	179,94	$D = 280.75 + 0.23 M_1$	543,20	414,41	$D = 131.50 + 0.17 M_1$	352,85	301,86	$D = 131.50 + 0.17 M_1$	198,53	171,38	273,31	356,09	325,15	273,31	303,74	295,03
	Condition	CONDITION																					
		Unit																					
ıdinal	ariables	M2																					
 Longit 	Metric Va	Unit	ш И			в Z						Е Z			Е Z								
on/Hybrid Gearbox		M1	Max. Torque			Max. Torque						Max. Torque			Max. Torque								
Combusti		B5																					
	Binary Variables	B4																					
		B3																					
		B2																					
		B1	Manual	Double Clutch	Automatic	Manual	Double Clutch	Automatic	Manual	Double Clutch	Automatic	Manual	Double Clutch	Automatic	Manual	Double Clutch	Automatic	Manual	Double Clutch	Automatic	Manual	Double Clutch	Automatic
		Unit		ш			mm			шш			шш			шш			шш			шш	
	Dependent Variable	۵		Clutch Diameter			Clutch Thickness			Gearbox Length			Gearbox Width Inlet			Gearbox Width Outlet			Gearbox Height Inlet			Gearbox Height Outlet	

Figure B.5: Regression functions and constant values for the longitudinal gearboxes

						Combustio	n/Hybrid Gearbox	- Transv	ersal			
Dependent Variable			8	inary Variables	6			Metric Va	ariables			E
٥	Unit	B1	B2	B3	B4	B5	M1	Unit	M2	Unit	CONGILION	Equation value
		Manual										316,13
Clutch Diameter	ш	Double Clutch										320,66
		Automatic										315,73
		Monicol									Max. Engine Torque < 300 N m	136,70
Clittah Thiokanoon		Mailual									Max. Engine Torque > 300 N m	152,95
		Double Clutch										359,32
		Automatic										343,08
			Two Shafts								Max. Engine Torque < 300 N m	411,66
		Manual	Two Shafts								Max. Engine Torque > 300 N m	440,22
Gearbox Length	шш		Three Shafts									447,63
		Double Clutch										555,48
		Automatic										541,74
		Manual	Two Shafts									241,32
		Manual	Three Shafts									227,09
		Double Clutch										352,85
		Automatic										262,16
		Manual	Two Shafts								Max. Engine Torque < 300 N m	254,31
		Manual	Two Shafts								Max. Engine Torque > 300 N m	304,06
Control Loint		Manual	Three Shafts									333,81
		Double Clutch										333,81
		Automatic									Max. Engine Torque < 380 N m	356,68
		Automatic								_	Max. Engine Torque > 380 N m	389,52

Figure B.6:	Regression functions and constant values for the longitudinal gearboxes											
							Exhaust System					
-------------------------------	------	--------	--------------	-----------------	----	----	----------------	----------	----------	------	----------------------------	----------------
Dependent Variable			8	inary Variables			ž	etric Va	ariables		Condition	
٩	Unit	B1	B2	B	B4	B5	M1	Unit	M2	Unit	CONTRACTOR	Equation value
				Gas							Max. Engine Power < 150 kW	1,62
				Gas							Max. Engine Power > 150 kW	2,90
				Diesel							Max. Engine Power < 150 kW	1,65
				Diesel							Max. Engine Power > 150 kW	1,97
Catalytic Converter Volume	_		Longitudinal	Gas							Max. Engine Power < 285 kW	2,82
			Longitudinal	Gas							Max. Engine Power > 285 kW	3,55
		V-Type	Transversal	Gas								3,27
				Diesel							Max. Engine Power < 255 kW	1,91
				Diesel							Max. Engine Power > 255 kW	2,82
				Diesel							Max. Engine Power < 150 kW	3,10
Dortiolo Eiltor Volumo				Diesel							Max. Engine Power > 150 kW	3,44
		V Tyme		Diesel							Max. Engine Power < 255 kW	3,44
		v-iype		Diesel							Max. Engine Power > 255 kW	5,66
T												

							Climate Condenser					
Dependent Variable			ā	inary Variables			Ŵ	etric Va	ıriables		Condition	
n	nit	B1	B2	B3	B4	B5	M	Unit	M2	Unit	CONTRACTOR	Equanon value
Net Surface m	3						Interior Space Volume	m³				$D = 0.07 + 0.17 M_1$
	Ē	ullface										1,46
Loidet Mildth Datio	Belo	IC w/Ahead										1,66
	Belo	IC w/Behind										1,66
	Lai	teral IC										1,46
Overhang Height mi	E											0,00
Overhang Width mi	E											65,35
Thickness mi	Ę											12,00
Overhang Thickness mi	E											21,10
							Watercooler					
Dependent Variable			Ø	inary Variables			Ŵ	etric Va	iriables		Condition	EquationMalue

							Watercooler					
Dependent Variable				3inary Variable	s		Σ	etric Va	ariables		Condition	Equation/Value
٥	Unit	B1	B2	B3	B4	B5	M1	Unit	M2	Unit		
Net Surface	m²						Max. Engine Power	kW	Vehicle Width	ш		$D = -0.32 + 3.73 10^{-4} M_1 + 6.01 10^{-4} M_2$
		Fullface										1,45
		IC Below/Ahead										1,45
reigni/widul Kauo		IC Below/Behind										1,57
		Lateral IC										1,45
Overhang Height	шш											0,00
Overhang Width	mm											92,05
											Max. Engine Power < 155 kW	24,75
Thickness	E										155 kW > Max. E. P. > 255 kW	33,03
											Max. Engine Power > 255 kW	57,89
Overhang Thickness	шШ											22,02

Figure B.8: Regression functions and constant values for the climate condenser and water cooler

						Inter	cooler (Combustion/	Hybrid)				
Dependent Variable			8	3inary Variables			Me	etric Va	iriables		Condition	EquationWalue
D	Unit	B1	B2	B3	B4	B5	M1	Unit	M2	Unit	CONTRACTOR	Equation value
		Fullface					Engine Displacement Volume	cm³	Vehicle Width	E		$D = 0.069 + 1.81 10^{-5} M_1 + 8.92 10^{-5} M_2$
Not Curtano	1	IC Below/Ahead					Engine Displacement Volume	cm³	Vehicle Width	٤		$D = -0.11 + 1.8110^{-5} M_1 + 8.9210^{-5} M_2$
Net Ourlace	E	IC Below/Behind					Engine Displacement Volume	cm³	Vehicle Width	E		$D = 0.11 + 1.81 10^{-5} M_1 + 8.92 10^{-5} M_2$
		Lateral IC					Engine Displacement Volume	cm³	Vehicle Width	E		$D = 0.15 + 1.81 10^{-5} M_1 + 8.92 10^{-5} M_2$
		Fullface										1,51
Height/Width Ratio		IC Below/Ahead										4,56
9		IC Below/Behind										4,56
		Lateral IC										1,07
		Fullface										0,00
think the second s	8	IC Below/Ahead										0,00
		IC Below/Behind										0'00
		Lateral IC										128,90
		Eullfood	Direct									117,14
		Lullace	Indirect									73,05
		<u>0</u>	Direct									216,18
Overhang Width	E	Below/Ahead	Indirect									140,40
	•	<u>ں</u>	Direct									216,18
		Below/Behind	Indirect									140,40
		Lateral IC										0,00
		Fullface										20,60
		Fullface										20,60
Thickness	E	IC Below/Ahead										68,37
		IC Below/Behind										68,37
		Lateral IC										64,50
		Fullface										18,42
Thickness	8	IC Below/Ahead										13,67
		IC Below/Behind										13,67
		Lateral IC								$\left \right $		17,54

	Ecuration/Adice	Equation value	Takeover from Climate Condenser	Takeover from Climate Condenser	30,00	20,00		Ecuration/Artico	Equalion value	0,00
	Condition	Condition						Condition	CONTRACTOR	
		Unit							Unit	
	ariables	M2						ariables	M2	
(:	etric Va	Unit						etric Va	Unit	
Intercooler (Electri	M	M1					Cooling Fan	2	M1	
		B5							B5	
	S	B4						s	B4	
	Binary Variable	B3						Binary Variable	B3	
		B2							B2	
		B1							B1	
		Unit	шш	mm	mm	шш			Unit	A Amon
	Dependent Variable	۵	Width	Height	Thickness	Overhang Thickness		Dependent Variable	۵	Thickness

Figure B.10: Regression functions and constant values for the intercooler of BEV and the cooling fan

							Tire						
Dependent Variable			α.	inary Variables			Me	tric Va	ariables			T	
D	Unit	B1	B2	B3	B4	B5	M1	Unit	M2	Unit	CONTRICTION	Equalion value	
Brake Disc Diameter	шш						Weight on Front Axis during Breaking	kg	Acceleration Time to 100 km/h	s		$D = 261.98 + 0.077 M_1 - 5.66 M_2$	
Minimal Offset Brake		Low-Ground										111,00	
Disc to Rim		High-Ground										138,90	
Average Offset Brake		Low-Ground										00'06	
Disc to Rim		High-Ground										123,80	
Tiro Volumo		Normal Load										$D = -1.1 \ 10^7 + 8.49 \ 10^4 \ M_1$	
		Extra Load										$D = -1.26 \ 10^7 + 7.68 \ 10^4 \ M_1$	
													i i

							01103513					
Dependent Variable			Δ	inary Variables			M	etric Va	ariables		Condition	
D	Unit	B1	B2	B3	B4	B5	M1	Unit	M2	Unit	CONTIGUE	Equation value
Suspension Strut	4	McPherson										229,70
Mounting Length		Multi-Link										287,60
Suspension Strut		McPherson										155,60
Mounting Width		Multi-Link										204,90
		McDhorson	Low-Ground									537,60
Suspension Strut Mountina Heiaht	E		High-Ground									574,60
5		Multi-Link										501,50

2040

Appendices

Figure B.11: Regression functions and constant values for the tires and the suspensions

							Body					
Dependent Variable			8	inary Variables			2	letric Va	ariables		Condition	
٩	Unit	B1	B2	B3	B4	B5	M1	Unit	M2	Unit	сопактоп	Equation/value
Bumper Beam Thickness	mm											51,60
Bumper Beam Height	шш											06'26
Side Member Thickness	mm											67,00
Side Member Height	шш											121,30
Bumper Beam and Side		Low-Ground										469,50
Rail Vertikal Position		High-Ground										523,50
Bulk Wall Thickness	mm											2,00

							Distances						
Dependent Variable			•	inary Variables			2	letric V	ariables		Condition	Ecuration/Adres	
D	Unit	B1	B2	B3	B4	B5	M1	Unit	M2	Unit		Equation value	
Minimal Distance	8	Robust									Regulatory Design Type	33,93	
and Cooling System		Progressive									Regulatory Design Type	21,97	
Minimal Distance		Robust										12,03	
and Engine		Progressive										1,60	
Minimal Distance between		Robust										61,93	
Engine and Bulk Wall		Progressive										48,24	
Minimal Distance between		Robust										12,55	
Engine and Side Rails		Progressive										484	
		Dobuct	Average									264,13	
Minimal Crack Lonath	8	ISDUDY	Error									223,30	
		Drograceiva	Average									251,75	
			Error									206,40	

Figure B.12: Regression functions and constant values for the body and distances

							Headlights					
Dependent Variable			B	nary Variables			2	letric Va	ariables		Condition	EcurationMature
٥	Unit	B1	B2	B3	B4	B5	M1	Unit	M2	Unit	CONTRINCT	Equation value
		Halogen										465,04
Headlight Length	E	Xenon										476,30
		LED										440,30
		Halogen										404,49
Headlight Width	шш	Xenon										404,37
		LED										441,25
		Halogen										227,63
Headlight Height	шШ	Xenon										221,00
		LED										227,33

Appendix C Dimensional Chains



Figure C.1: Dimensional chain over the cooling system and the engine in the x-direction



Figure C.2: Dimensional chain over the cooling system, engine, and exhaust system in the x-direction



Figure C.3: Dimensional chain over the cooling system, engine and gearbox in the x-direction



Figure C.4: Dimensional chain over the lateral intercooler in the x-direction



Figure C.5: Dimensional chain over the headlight in the x-direction



Figure C.6: Dimensional chain over the engine in the y-direction



Figure C.7: Dimensional chain over the engine and exhaust system in the y-direction



Figure C.8: Dimensional chain over the cooling system in the y-direction



Figure C.9: Dimensional chain over the lateral intercooler in the y-direction



Figure C.10: Dimensional chain over the engine in the z-direction



Figure C.11: Dimensional chain over the cooling system in the z-direction



Figure C.12: Dimensional chain over the lateral intercooler and headlight in the z-direction

Appendix D Modular System Matrix

		÷	:	÷	÷								
			BEV	Electric	oitemotuA								
				ləsəiQ	oitemotuA								
		3	ΗΕΛ	seÐ	Sutomatic								
		ariant			Sutomatic								
		N ⁵		lesei()	leuneM								
			VEOI	SPO	oitemotuA								
				305	leuneM								
			BEV	Electric	oitemotuA								
ice				IəsəiQ	oitemotuA								
Varian	1	2	Лан	seÐ	oitemotuA								
ternal	ehicle	'ariant		เอรอเต	oitemotuA								
Ex	^	^		leccid	leuneM								
				ระก	Sutomatic								
				0	leuneM								
			BEV	Electric	Automatic								
			ЛЕЛ	ləsəiQ	Automatic								
		-	//=/1	seÐ	Sutomatic								
		/ariant		Iesei	oitemotuA								
		1	ICEA	=	leuneM								
				SBÐ	oitemotuA								
					leuneM								
			2			Longitudinal	Transversal	Longitudinal	Transversal	Longitudinal	Transversal	Longitudinal	Transversal
			5			erson	ЧСЭМ	۲-۲ink	Multi	erson	МсРћ	-Fink	itluM
							tuc	рлЯ			;sr	эЯ	
								e	Varianco	ternal /	u I		

Figure D.1: Modular Systems Matrix with all external variants of one vehicle

Appendix E Evaluation Vehicles

			AUDI A4,	MY2015				
Body type	-			Low-G	Ground			
Basic Price	€			35.	400			
E	xterior Di	imensions			Discrete	Optim	ization Par	ameters
Front Overhang	mm	885		Tire Type		-		Normal Load
Prestige Measure	mm	545		Lower Stiffener		-		Without
Wheelbase	mm	2820		Hood Material		-		Steel
Vehicle Width	mm	1842		Hood Mechanisr	n	-		Active
H30-Measure	mm	242						
Turning Circle	m	11.6						
Rim Size	"	19						
			Vehicle '	Variants				
		Regular 1		Regular 2	М	aximur	n 1	Maximum 2
Vehicle Variant		Fuel 1		Fuel 2		Fuel 1		Fuel 2
		<u>1.4 TFSI</u>		2.0 TDI		3.0 TFS	61	3.0 TDI
Drivetrain Type	-	ICEV		ICEV		ICEV		ICEV
Performance Class	-	Entry/Medium	E	ntry/Medium	Pe	erforma	nce	Performance
Drive type	-	2WD		2WD		4WD		4WD
Engine Type	-	R		R		V		V
Fuel and Charging Type	-	Gas Supercharged	Diese	I Supercharged	Gas	Superch	narged	Diesel Supercharged
Power	kW	110		110		260		200
Torque	N m	250		320		500		600
Battery Type	-				-			
Gearbox Type	-	Manual/Double-Clutch	Manua	al/Double-Clutch	,	Automat	lic	Automatic
Cooling System Type	-	L-Pack Front		-		-		-
Headlight Type	-			Halo	ogen			
Red. Curb Weight	kg	1320		1430		1630		1660
Load Capacity	kg	495		525		495		495
Trailer Load	kg	1600		1600		2100		2100
Maximum Velocity	km/h	210		210		250		250
Acceleration Time	s	8.7		9.2		4.7		5.3

Table E.1: Vehicle Data of the AUDI A4

AUDI A6, MY2018										
Body type	-			Low-G	Ground					
Basic Price	€			49.	150					
E	xterior Di	imensions			Discrete	Optim	zation Par	ameters		
Front Overhang	mm	921		Tire Type		-		Normal Load		
Prestige Measure	mm	562	Lower Stiffener			-		Without		
Wheelbase	mm	2924		Hood Material		-		Aluminum		
Vehicle Width	mm	1886		Hood Mechanisr	n	-		Active		
H30-Measure	mm	242								
Turning Circle	m	12.1								
Rim Size	"	21								
Vehicle Variants										
		Regular 1		Regular 2	Maximum 2					
Vehicle Variant		Fuel 1		Fuel 2 Fuel				Fuel 2		
		2.0 TFSI		2.0 TDI	<u>3.0 TFS</u>	<u>51</u>	3.0 TDI			
Drivetrain Type	-	ICEV		ICEV		ICEV		ICEV		
Performance Class	-	Performance	Р	erformance	P	erforma	nce	Performance		
Drive type	-	2WD		2WD		4WD		4WD		
Engine Type	-	R		R		V		V		
Fuel and Charging Type	-	Gas Supercharged	Diese	I Supercharged	Gas	Superch	narged	Diesel Supercharged		
Power	kW	180		150		250		210		
Torque	N m	370		400		500		620		
Battery Type	-				-					
Gearbox Type	-	Automatic		Automatic	,	Automat	ic	Automatic		
Cooling System Type	-	-		-		L-Pack		-		
Headlight Type	-			LE	ED					
Red. Curb Weight	kg	1640		1645		1760		1825		
Load Capacity	kg	575		535	575					
Trailer Load	kg	2000		2000		2000		2000		
Maximum Velocity	km/h	249		246		250		250		
Acceleration Time	s	6.8		8.1	5.1			6.3		

Table E.2: Vehicle Data of the AUDI A6

AUDI A8, MY2018										
Body type	-			Low-G	Ground					
Basic Price	€			90.	600					
E	xterior Di	mensions			Discrete	Optim	ization Par	ameters		
Front Overhang	mm	1533		Tire Type		-		Extra Load		
Prestige Measure	mm	544		Lower Stiffener				With		
Wheelbase	mm	1998		Hood Material		-		Aluminum		
Vehicle Width	mm	1945		Hood Mechanisr	n	-		Active		
H30-Measure	mm	264								
Turning Circle	m	12.5								
Rim Size	"	20								
Vehicle Variants										
		Regular 1		Regular 2 Maximum 1				Maximum 2		
Vehicle Variant		Fuel 1		Fuel 2	Fuel 1		Fuel 2			
		<u>3.0 TFSI</u>		3.0 TDI	4.0 TFS	SI	4.0 TDI			
Drivetrain Type	-	ICEV		ICEV		ICEV		ICEV		
Performance Class	-	Performance	Р	erformance	P	erforma	nce	Performance		
Drive type	-	4WD		4WD		4WD		4WD		
Engine Type	-	V		V		V		V		
Fuel and Charging Type	-	Gas Supercharged	Diese	I Supercharged	Gas	Superch	narged	Diesel Supercharged		
Power	kW	250		210		338		320		
Torque	N m	500		600		600		900		
Battery Type	-				-					
Gearbox Type	-	Automatic		Automatic	,	Automat	tic	Automatic		
Cooling System Type	-	L-Pack		-		-		-		
Headlight Type	-			LE	ED					
Red. Curb Weight	kg	1920		1975		2050		2170		
Load Capacity	kg	685	640 640 630					630		
Trailer Load	kg	2300	250 2300 2300							
Maximum Velocity	km/h	250		250	250			250		
Acceleration Time	s	5.6		5.9	4.3			4.7		

Table E.3: Vehicle Data of the AUDI A8

BMW 5, MY2017										
Body type	-			Low-G	Ground					
Basic Price	€			48.	400					
E	xterior Di	imensions			Discrete	Optim	ization Par	ameters		
Front Overhang	mm	862		Tire Type		-		Extra Load		
Prestige Measure	mm	680		Lower Stiffener		-		With		
Wheelbase	mm	2975		Hood Material		-		Aluminum		
Vehicle Width	mm	1868		Hood Mechanis	m	-		Active		
H30-Measure	mm	252								
Turning Circle	m	12.1								
Rim Size	"	20								
Vehicle Variants										
		Regular 1		Regular 2 Maximum 1				Maximum 2		
Vehicle Variant		Fuel 1		Fuel 2	Fuel 1		Fuel 2			
		<u>530e (9.2 kWh)</u>				540i		540d		
Drivetrain Type	-	PHEV				ICEV		ICEV		
Performance Class	-	Performance				erforma	nce	Performance		
Drive type	-	2WD				4WD		4WD		
Engine Type	-	R				R		R		
Fuel and Charging Type	-	Gas Supercharged			Gas	Superch	narged	Diesel Supercharged		
Power	kW	135/83 (Max./Max.)				250		235		
Torque	N m	290/250 (Max./Max.)				450		680		
Battery Type	-				-					
Gearbox Type	-	Automatic			,	Automa	lic	Automatic		
Cooling System Type	-	L-Pack				-		-		
Headlight Type	-			LE	ED					
Red. Curb Weight	kg	1695	1695 1520 1675							
Load Capacity	kg	650				675		690		
Trailer Load	kg	2000				2000		2000		
Maximum Velocity	km/h	235				250		250		
Acceleration Time	S	6.2			5.1			4.9		

Table E.4: Vehicle Data of the BMW 5

BMW 7, MY2015										
Body type	-			Low-G	Ground					
Basic Price	€			90.	600					
E	xterior Di	imensions			Discrete	Optim	ization Par	ameters		
Front Overhang	mm	880		Tire Type		-		Extra Load		
Prestige Measure	mm	681		Lower Stiffener		-	With			
Wheelbase	mm	3070		Hood Material		-		neters Extra Load Extra Load With Aluminum Active Active Attive A		
Vehicle Width	mm	1902		Hood Mechanisr	n	-		Active		
H30-Measure	mm	257								
Turning Circle	m	12.3								
Rim Size	"	20								
Vehicle Variants										
		Regular 1		Regular 2 Maximum 1			Maximum 2			
Vehicle Variant		Fuel 1		Fuel 2		Fuel 1		Fuel 2		
		730i		<u>730d</u>		750i		750d		
Drivetrain Type	-	ICEV	ICEV			ICEV		ICEV		
Performance Class	-	Performance	Р	erformance	P	erforma	nce	Performance		
Drive type	-	2WD		2WD		4WD		4WD		
Engine Type	-	R		R		R		R		
Fuel and Charging Type	-	Gas Supercharged	Diese	l Supercharged	Gas	Superch	narged	Diesel Supercharged		
Power	kW	190		195		330		294		
Torque	N m	400		620		650		760		
Battery Type	-				-					
Gearbox Type	-	Automatic		Automatic	,	Automat	lic	Automatic		
Cooling System Type	-	-		L-Pack		-		-		
Headlight Type	-			LE	ED					
Red. Curb Weight	kg	1725	1755 1870 194					1940		
Load Capacity	kg	600		620		630		615		
Trailer Load	kg	2100		2100	2300			2300		
Maximum Velocity	km/h	250		250	250			250		
Acceleration Time	s	5.5		6.1		4.4		4.6		

BMW X3, MY2017										
Body type	-			High-C	Ground					
Basic Price	€			44.	900					
E	xterior Di	imensions			Discrete	Optim	zation Par	ameters		
Front Overhang	mm	856		Tire Type		-		Normal Load		
Prestige Measure	mm	678	Lower Stiffener			-		With		
Wheelbase	mm	2864		Hood Material		-		Aluminum		
Vehicle Width	mm	1891		Hood Mechanisr	n	-		Active		
H30-Measure	mm	315								
Turning Circle	m	12.0								
Rim Size	"	21								
Vehicle Variants										
		Regular 1		Regular 2 Maximum 1				Maximum 2		
Vehicle Variant		Fuel 1		Fuel 2				Fuel 2		
		20i		<u>20d</u>	30i		30d			
Drivetrain Type	-	ICEV		ICEV		ICEV		ICEV		
Performance Class	-	Entry/Medium	Er	ntry/Medium	P	erforma	nce	Performance		
Drive type	-	4WD		4WD		4WD		4WD		
Engine Type	-	R		R		R		R		
Fuel and Charging Type	-	Gas Supercharged	Diese	I Supercharged	Gas	Superch	arged	Diesel Supercharged		
Power	kW	135		140		185		195		
Torque	Nm	290		400		350		620		
Battery Type	-				-					
Gearbox Type	-	Automatic		Automatic	,	Automat	ic	Automatic		
Cooling System Type	-	-		L-Pack		-		-		
Headlight Type	-			LE	ED					
Red. Curb Weight	kg	1715		1750		1715		1820		
Load Capacity	kg	610	595 610 605					605		
Trailer Load	kg	2400	2400 2400 2400							
Maximum Velocity	km/h	215		213	240			240		
Acceleration Time	s	8.3		8.0	6.3			5.8		

Table E.6: Vehicle Data of the BMW X3

Hyundai Ioniq, MY2016									
Body type	-			Low-G	Ground				
Basic Price	€			29.	900				
E	xterior Di	imensions			Discrete	Optim	ization Par	ameters	
Front Overhang	mm	876		Tire Type		-		Normal Load	
Prestige Measure	mm	425		Lower Stiffener		-		With	
Wheelbase	mm	2700		Hood Material		-		Aluminum	
Vehicle Width	mm	1820		Hood Mechanis	m	-		Passive	
H30-Measure	mm	233							
Turning Circle	m	10.6							
Rim Size	"	18							
Vehicle Variants									
		Regular 1		Regular 2 Maximum 1			n 1	Maximum 2	
Vehicle Variant		Fuel 1		Fuel 2		Fuel 1		Fuel 2	
		<u>1.6 PHEV (8.9 kWh)</u>							
Drivetrain Type	-	PHEV							
Performance Class	-	Entry/Medium							
Drive type	-	2WD							
Engine Type	-	R							
Fuel and Charging Type	-	Gas Nat. Aspirated							
Power	kW	77/45 (Max./Max.)							
Torque	N m	147/170 (Max./Max.)							
Battery Type	-				-				
Gearbox Type	-	Double Clutch							
Cooling System Type	-	Fullface							
Headlight Type	-			Xe	non				
Red. Curb Weight	kg	1505							
Load Capacity	kg	390							
Trailer Load	kg	0	0						
Maximum Velocity	km/h	178							
Acceleration Time	s	10.6							

Table E.7: Vehicle Data of the Hyundai Ioniq

Mercedes-Benz C-Class, MY2014										
Body type	-			Low-G	Ground					
Basic Price	€			34.5	914					
E	xterior Di	imensions			Discrete	Optim	ization Par	ameters		
Front Overhang	mm	789		Tire Type		-		Normal Load		
Prestige Measure	mm	658	Lower Stiffener			-		Without		
Wheelbase	mm	2840	Hood Material			-		Aluminum		
Vehicle Width	mm	1810		Hood Mechanisr	m	-		Active		
H30-Measure	mm	260								
Turning Circle	m	11.2								
Rim Size	"	19								
Vehicle Variants										
		Regular 1		Regular 2 Maximum 1			Maximum 2			
Vehicle Variant		Fuel 1		Fuel 2 F				Fuel 2		
		<u>C180</u>		C180d				C300d		
Drivetrain Type	-	ICEV		ICEV		ICEV		ICEV		
Performance Class	-	Entry/Medium	Er	ntry/Medium	P	erforma	nce	Performance		
Drive type	-	2WD		2WD		4WD		4WD		
Engine Type	-	R		R		V		R		
Fuel and Charging Type	-	Gas Supercharged	Diese	l Supercharged	Gas	Superch	narged	Diesel Supercharged		
Power	kW	115		85		245		180		
Torque	N m	250		280		480		500		
Battery Type	-				-					
Gearbox Type	-	Manual/Automatic	Mar	ual/Automatic		Automat	lic	Automatic		
Cooling System Type	-	Fullface		-		-		-		
Headlight Type	-			Halo	ogen					
Red. Curb Weight	kg	1320		1410		1570		1630		
Load Capacity	kg	565	565 565 580							
Trailer Load	kg	1400		1400 1800 1800						
Maximum Velocity	km/h	225		205		250		250		
Acceleration Time	s	8.2		11.1		4.9		5.7		

Table E.8: Vehicle Data of the Mercedes-Benz C-Class

Mercedes-Benz E-Class, MY2016									
Body type	-			Low-G	Ground				
Basic Price	€			49.	150				
E	Exterior Di	imensions			Discrete	Optim	ization Par	ameters	
Front Overhang	mm	841		Tire Type		-		Normal Load	
Prestige Measure	mm	656		Lower Stiffener		-		Without	
Wheelbase	mm	2939		Hood Material		-		Aluminum	
Vehicle Width	mm	1730		Hood Mechanisr	n	-		Active	
H30-Measure	mm	265							
Turning Circle	m	11.5							
Rim Size	"	20							
Vehicle Variants									
		Regular 1		Regular 2	Maximum 2				
Vehicle Variant		Fuel 1		Fuel 2 Fuel 1				Fuel 2	
		E200		E220d E4				E400d	
Drivetrain Type	-	ICEV		ICEV		ICEV		ICEV	
Performance Class	-	Entry/Medium	E	ntry/Medium	P	erforma	nce	Performance	
Drive type	-	2WD		2WD		4WD		4WD	
Engine Type	-	R		R		V		V	
Fuel and Charging Type	-	Gas Supercharged	Diese	el Supercharged	Gas	Superch	narged	Diesel Supercharged	
Power	kW	135		143		235		250	
Torque	Nm	300		400		480		700	
Battery Type	-				-				
Gearbox Type	-	Automatic		Automatic	,	Automa	lic	Automatic	
Cooling System Type	-	-		Fullface		-		-	
Headlight Type	-			Halo	ogen				
Red. Curb Weight	kg	1500	1500 1640 1745 1830						
Load Capacity	kg	640	635 640 640						
Trailer Load	kg	1500		1500		2100		2100	
Maximum Velocity	km/h	240		240		250		250	
Acceleration Time	s	8.1		7.3	5.2			4.9	

Table E.9: Vehicle Data of the Mercedes-Benz E-Class

Renault Zoe, MY2012									
Body type	-			Low-G	Ground				
Basic Price	€			32.	990				
E	Exterior Di	imensions			Discrete	Optimi	zation Par	ameters	
Front Overhang	mm	836	Tire Type			-		Normal Load	
Prestige Measure	mm	400		Lower Stiffener		-		With	
Wheelbase	mm	2588	Hood Material			-		Steel	
Vehicle Width	mm	1730		Hood Mechanis	m	-		Passive	
H30-Measure	mm	359							
Turning Circle	m	10.6							
Rim Size	"	17							
Vehicle Variants									
		Regular 1		Regular 2 Maximum 1			Maximum 2		
Vehicle Variant		Fuel 1		Fuel 2 Fuel				Fuel 2	
		<u>Q90 (22kWh)</u>							
Drivetrain Type	-	BEV							
Performance Class	-	Entry							
Drive type	-	2WD							
Engine Type	-	SSM							
Fuel and Charging Type	-	-							
Power	kW	43 (Nom.)							
Torque	N m	145 (Nom.)							
Battery Type	-			Po	uch				
Gearbox Type	-	Axially Parallel							
Cooling System Type	-	Fullface							
Headlight Type	-			Xe	non				
Red. Curb Weight	kg	1427							
Load Capacity	kg	463							
Trailer Load	kg	0							
Maximum Velocity	km/h	135							
Acceleration Time	s	13.2							

Table E.10: Vehicle Data of the Renault Zoe

*Evaluation as PSM, which is the only implemented synchronous machine type.

Volkswagen Golf, MY2013									
Body type	-			Low-G	Ground				
Basic Price	€			18.	075				
E	Exterior Di	imensions			Discrete	Optim	ization Par	ameters	
Front Overhang	mm	850		Tire Type		-		Normal Load	
Prestige Measure	mm	445		Lower Stiffener		-		With	
Wheelbase	mm	2620		Hood Material		-		Steel	
Vehicle Width	mm	1799		Hood Mechanisr	m	-		Passive	
H30-Measure	mm	264							
Turning Circle	m	10.9							
Rim Size	"	19							
Vehicle Variants									
		Regular 1		Regular 2	Maximum 2				
Vehicle Variant		Fuel 1		Fuel 2 Fuel 1				Fuel 2	
		<u>1.4 TSI</u>		2.0 TDI 2			1	2.0 GTD	
Drivetrain Type	-	ICEV		ICEV		ICEV		ICEV	
Performance Class	-	Entry/Medium	E	ntry/Medium	P	erforma	nce	Performance	
Drive type	-	2WD		2WD		2WD		2WD	
Engine Type	-	R		R		R		R	
Fuel and Charging Type	-	Gas Supercharged	Diese	el Supercharged	Gas	Superch	narged	Diesel Supercharged	
Power	kW	103		110		169		135	
Torque	N m	250		340		350		380	
Battery Type	-				-				
Gearbox Type	-	Manual/Double-Clutch	Manua	al/Double-Clutch	Manua	al/Doubl	e-Clutch	Manual/Double-Clutch	
Cooling System Type	-	Fullface		-		-		-	
Headlight Type	-			Halo	ogen				
Red. Curb Weight	kg	1193		1279		1289		1302	
Load Capacity	kg	512	506 486 473						
Trailer Load	kg	1700		1700		1800		1800	
Maximum Velocity	km/h	212		216	250			230	
Acceleration Time	s	8.4		8.6	6.4			7.5	

Table E.11: Vehicle Data of the Volkswagen Golf

Volkswagen e-Golf, MY2013									
Body type	-			Low-G	Ground				
Basic Price	€			34.	900				
E	xterior Di	imensions			Discrete	Optimi	ization Par	ameters	
Front Overhang	mm	850		Tire Type		-		Normal Load	
Prestige Measure	mm	445		Lower Stiffener		-		With	
Wheelbase	mm	2620		Hood Material		-	Steel		
Vehicle Width	mm	1799		Hood Mechanis	m	-		Passive	
H30-Measure	mm	264							
Turning Circle	m	10.9							
Rim Size	"	19							
Vehicle Variants									
		Regular 1		Regular 2	м	laximun	n 1	Maximum 2	
Vehicle Variant		Fuel 1		Fuel 2		Fuel 1		Fassive	
		<u>e-Golf (24 kWh)</u>							
Drivetrain Type	-	BEV							
Performance Class	-	Entry							
Drive type	-	2WD							
Engine Type	-	PSM							
Fuel and Charging Type	-	-							
Power	kW	50 (Nom.)							
Torque	N m	147 (Nom.)							
Battery Type	-				-				
Gearbox Type	-	Axially Parallel							
Cooling System Type	-	Fullface							
Headlight Type	-			Halo	ogen				
Red. Curb Weight	kg	1510							
Load Capacity	kg	375							
Trailer Load	kg	0							
Maximum Velocity	km/h	140							
Acceleration Time	s	10.4							

Table E.12: Vehicle Data of the Volkswagen e-Golf

Volkswagen Passat, MY2014									
Body type	-			Low-G	Ground				
Basic Price	€			31.	674				
E	xterior Di	imensions			Discrete	Optim	ization Par	ameters	
Front Overhang	mm	879		Tire Type		-		Normal Load	
Prestige Measure	mm	433		Lower Stiffener		-		With	
Wheelbase	mm	2786		Hood Material		-		Steel	
Vehicle Width	mm	1832		Hood Mechanisr	n	-		Passive	
H30-Measure	mm	261							
Turning Circle	m	11.7							
Rim Size	"	19							
Vehicle Variants									
		Regular 1		Regular 2	Maximum 2				
Vehicle Variant		Fuel 1		Fuel 2 Fuel 1			Fuel 2		
		1.8 TSI		2.0 TDI 2.0 TS			I	<u>2.0 TDI</u>	
Drivetrain Type	-	ICEV		ICEV		ICEV		ICEV	
Performance Class	-	Entry/Medium	E	ntry/Medium	P	erforma	nce	Performance	
Drive type	-	2WD		2WD		4WD		4WD	
Engine Type	-	R		R		R		R	
Fuel and Charging Type	-	Gas Supercharged	Diese	l Supercharged	Gas	Superch	narged	Diesel Supercharged	
Power	kW	132		110		206		176	
Torque	N m	250		340		350		500	
Battery Type	-				-				
Gearbox Type	-	Manual/Double-Clutch	Manua	al/Double-Clutch	Do	uble-Cl	utch	Double-Clutch	
Cooling System Type	-	-		-		-		Fullface	
Headlight Type	-			Halo	ogen				
Red. Curb Weight	kg	1430		1465		1599		1660	
Load Capacity	kg	585	600 576 575						
Trailer Load	kg	2000		2000		2200		2200	
Maximum Velocity	km/h	230		211		250		238	
Acceleration Time	s	8.1		8.9		5.7		6.3	

Table E.13: Vehicle Data of the Volkswagen Passat

Volkswagen Tiguan, MY2016										
Body type	-	High-Ground								
Basic Price	€	26.975								
Exterior Dimensions				Discrete Optimization Parameters						
Front Overhang	mm	896	Tire Type	-		Normal Load				
Prestige Measure	mm	437	Lower Stiffener	-	With					
Wheelbase	mm	2677		Hood Material	-	Steel				
Vehicle Width	mm	1839	Hood Mechanisr	-	Active					
H30-Measure	mm	344								
Turning Circle	m	11.5								
Rim Size	"	19								
Vehicle Variants										
		Regular 1		Regular 2	M	Maximum 1		Maximum 2		
Vehicle Variant		Fuel 1		Fuel 2		Fuel 1		Fuel 2		
		1.4 TSI		<u>2.0 TDI</u>		2.0 TS	I	2.0 TDI		
Drivetrain Type	-	ICEV		ICEV		ICEV		ICEV		
Performance Class	-	Entry/Medium	E	ntry/Medium	Performance			Performance		
Drive type	-	4WD		4WD	4WD			4WD		
Engine Type	-	R		R		R		R		
Fuel and Charging Type	-	Gas Supercharged	Diese	el Supercharged	Gas Supercharged			Diesel Supercharged		
Power	kW	110		110		162		176		
Torque	N m	250		340	350			500		
Battery Type	-									
Gearbox Type	-	Manual/Double-Clutch	Manua	al/Double-Clutch	Double-Clutch			Double-Clutch		
Cooling System Type	-	-		Fullface	-			-		
Headlight Type	-	LED								
Red. Curb Weight	kg	1495		1590	1680			1805		
Load Capacity	kg	600		645	605			550		
Trailer Load	kg	2200		2200	2500			2500		
Maximum Velocity	km/h	200		201	223			228		
Acceleration Time	s	9.4		9.3	6.8			6.7		

Table E.14: Vehicle Data of the Volkswagen Tiguan

Appendix F LDS Results

				Regular-Variants				Maximum-Variants					
			Fuel 1		Fuel 2		Fuel 1		Fuel 2				
		Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic				
ICEV													
AUDI A4	Δ Max. Engine Power in %	18	18	-5	-5	-	0	-	11				
	Δ Max. Engine Torque in %	0	0	-2	-2	-	0	-	0				
AUDI A6	Δ Max. Engine Power in %	-	8	-	-10	-	4	-	-10				
	Δ Max. Engine Torque in %	-	1	-	1	-	0	-	-8				
AUDI A8	Δ Max. Engine Power in %	-	4	-	-5	-	-8	-	-6				
	Δ Max. Engine Torque in %	-	0	-	0	-	-1	-	0				
BMW 7 Series	Δ Max. Engine Power in %	-	11	-	3	-	2	-	-13				
	Δ Max. Engine Torque in %	-	1	-	-3	-	-1	-	1				
вмw хз	Δ Max. Engine Power in %	-	11	-	7	-	0	-	5				
	Δ Max. Engine Torque in %	-	-1	-	12	-	2	-	-1				
MB C-Class	Δ Max. Engine Power in %	13	13	0	0	-	2	-	-8				
	Δ Max. Engine Torque in %	0	0	-9	-9	-	0	-	-1				
MB E-Class	Δ Max. Engine Power in %	-	15	-	15	-	2	-	-6				
	Δ Max. Engine Torque in %	-	-1	-	24	-	0	-	1				
VW Golf	Δ Max. Engine Power in %	26	26	5	5	7	7	-7	-7				
	Δ Max. Engine Torque in %	0	0	1	1	-1	-1	-1	-1				
VW Passat	Δ Max. Engine Power in %	-2	-2	0	0	-	-8	-	-6				
	Δ Max. Engine Torque in %	0	0	-3	-3	-	4	-	-1				
	Δ Max. Engine Power in %	14	14	5	5	-	11	-	-6				
VW Tiguan	Δ Max. Engine Torque in %	-4	-4	1	1	-	-1	-	-4				
	ŀ	IEV											
BMW 5 Series	Δ Max. Engine Power in %	-	4	-	-	-	-6	-	-4				
	Δ Max. Engine Torque in %	-	-7	-	-	-	0	-	-1				
	Δ Nom. Machine Power in %	-	-28	-	-	-	-	-	-				
	Δ Nom. Machine Torque in %	-	3	-	-	-	-	-	-				
Hyundai loniq	Δ Max. Engine Power in %	-	-35	-	-	-	-	-	-				
	Δ Max. Engine Torque in %	-	-18	-	-	-	-	-	-				
	Δ Nom. Machine Power in %	-	11	-	-	-	-	-	-				
	Δ Nom. Machine Torque in %	-	26	-	-	-	-	-	-				
BEV													
Renault Zoe	Δ Nom. Machine Power in %	-	-13	-	-	-	-	-	-				
	Δ Nom. Machine Torque in %	-	-22	-	-	-	-	-	-				
VW e-Golf	Δ Nom. Machine Power in %	-	-2	-	-	-	-	-	-				
	Δ Nom. Machine Torque in %	-	0	-	-	-	-	-	-				

Figure F.1: Deviation between the calculated and the actual engine power and torque (Fuel Type 1: Gas or Gas Hybrid; Fuel Type 2: Diesel or Diesel Hybrid)









Figure G.2: Deviations between the calculated and the actual wheel house dimensions


Distance between License Plate and Bumper BeamDistance between Bumper Beam and Cooling System

Figure G.3: Deviations between the calculated and the actual distances in front and behind the bumper beam

Appendix H Architecture Results



Figure H.1: Figure caption for the following architecture results

								AUD	I A4	– Sta	ge 1					
					F	Regula	ar					М	aximu	ım		
					ICEV		/ 11-1	ПΕV	BEV						ПЕV	BEV
	Ν	ISM	Ċ	Gas	ļ	Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric		Gas	- C	Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
ont	McPh	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
Frc	-Link	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
	lerson	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
kear	McPh	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
Ř	-Link	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			

								AUD	I A4	– Sta	ge 2					
					F	Regula	ar					М	aximu	ım		
	MSM			Ĺ	ICEV		/ 14		BEV							BEV
	Ν	ISM	Ċ	Gas	- i	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric		Gas	- C	Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
ont	McPh	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
Fro	-Link	Longitudinal	X	~	~	>					~		<			
	Multi	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
	lerson	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
ear	McPh	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
Å	i-Link	Longitudinal	\checkmark	~	~	~					~		×			
	Multi	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			

Figure H.2: Resulting vehicle architectures for the AUDI A4

								AUD	I A6	– Sta	ige 1					
					F	Regula	ar					Μ	aximu	ım		
					ICEV		/ \	НΕΛ	BEV			ICEV			НЕV	BEV
	N	ISM		Gās	- i	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric	¢	Gas	- i	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
ont	McPh	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
Fre	-Link	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
	lerson	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
ear	McPh	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
Re	-Link	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal		×		×					×		×			

								AUD	01 A6	– Sta	ge 2					
					F	Regula	ar					М	aximu	ım		
							/ 11-1	НΕΛ	BEV					/ 11-1	ПΕΛ	BEV
	Ν	ISM	(Gas	- i	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric		Gas	- C	Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
ont	McPh	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
Fro	-Link	Longitudinal		>		~					X		>			
	Multi	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
	erson	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
ar	McPh	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
Re	-Link	Longitudinal		~		~					~		×			
	Multi	Transversal		×		×					×		×			



								AUD	8A 10	– Sta	ge 1					
					F	Regula	ar					М	aximu	Im		
					ICEV			ПΕΛ	BEV			ICEV			ΠΕΛ	BEV
	Ν	ISM	Ċ	Gas	- i	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric		Gas	ļ	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric
	E Longitudinal		Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
ont	McPh	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
Fre	-Link	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
	lerson	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
ear	McPh	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
Re	-Link	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal		×		×					×		×			

								AUD	91 A8	– Sta	ge 2					
					F	Regula	ar					М	aximu	ım		
	MSM				20		/ 1-1-1	ПΕΛ	BEV					/ 111	ЧЕV	BEV
	Ν	ISM	(Gas	- i	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric		Gas	- C	Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
ont	McPh	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
Fre	-Link	Longitudinal		X		>					>		>			
	Multi	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
	erson	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
ear	McPh	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
Re	-Link	Longitudinal		~		×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal		×		×					×		×			

Figure H.4: Resulting vehicle architectures for the AUDI A8

								BM	W 5 -	- Stag	ge 1					
					F	Regula	ar					Μ	aximu	ım		
	MSM				ICEV				BEV		, L C			/ _! !	HEV	BEV
	Ν	ISM	Ċ	പ്രദ	- C	Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric		Gas	- i	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal					×				×		×			
prt	McPh	Transversal					×				×		×			
Fro	-Link	Longitudinal					×				×		×			
	Multi	Transversal					×				×		×			
	erson	Longitudinal					×				×		×			
ar	McPh	Transversal					×				×		×			
Re	-Link	Longitudinal					×				×		×			
	Multi	Transversal					×				×		×			

								BM	W 5 -	- Stag	je 2					
					F	Regula	ar					М	aximu	Im		
					20			ПΕΛ	BEV					/ 11	ЧЕV	BEV
	Ν	ISM		പ്രദ		Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric		Gas	- C	Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric
	Longitudinal Transversal		Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal					×				×		×			
ont	McPh	Transversal					×				×		×			
Fro	-Link	Longitudinal					×				×		×			
	Multi-	Transversal					×				×		×			
	erson	Longitudinal					×				×		×			
ar	McPh	Transversal					×				×		×			
Re	i-Link	Longitudinal					X				~		~			
	Multi	Transversal					×				×		×			

Figure H.5: Resulting vehicle architectures for the BMW 5 Series

								BM	W 7 -	- Sta	ge 1					
					F	Regula	ar					М	aximu	Im		
					ICEV		רובא	ЛЕЛ	BEV					/ 14		BEV
	Ν	ISM	Ċ	Gas	- C	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric		Gas	- C	Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal		×		×					×		X			
ont	McPh	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
Fre	-Link	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
	lerson	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
ear	McPh	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
Re	-Link	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal		×		×					×		×			

								BM	W 7 -	- Stag	je 2					
					F	Regula	ar					М	aximu	ım		
	MSM				20		/ 14		BEV			20		/ _! !	НΕΛ	BEV
	Ν	ISM	(as ت	- i	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric		Gas	Ċ	Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
ont	McPh	Transversal		×		X					×		×			
Fre	-Link	Longitudinal		×		>					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
	erson	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
ear	McPh	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
Re	-Link	Longitudinal		~		X					~		~			
	Multi	Transversal		×		×					×		×			

Figure H.6: Resulting vehicle architectures for the BMW 7 Series

								BMV	V X3	– Sta	ge 1					
					F	Regula	ar					М	aximu	Im		
					20		/ 14		BEV					/ 14		BEV
	Ν	ISM	(Gas	- i	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric		Gas	ļ	Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal		~		×					×		×			
ont	McPh	Transversal		>		>					>		×			
Frc	-Link	Longitudinal		>		×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
	lerson	Longitudinal		>		X					>		>			
ear	McPh	Transversal		~		~					>		~			
Å	i-Link	Longitudinal		~		~					~		~			
	Multi	Transversal		×		×					×		×			

Figure H.7: Resulting vehicle architectures for the BMW X3

							Hy	yunda	ai lon	iq – S	Stage	e 1				
					F	Regula	ar					М	aximu	ım		
								ПΠ	BEV			ICEV			ΠΕΛ	BEV
	Ν	ISM		പ്പട	-	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric		Gas	ī	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal					×									
pit	McPh	Transversal					×									
Fre	-Link	Longitudinal					×									
	Multi	Transversal					×									
	erson	Longitudinal					×									
ear	McPh	Transversal					×									
Re	-Link	Longitudinal					×									
	Multi	Transversal					X									

							Hy	yunda	ai Ion	iq – S	Stage	2				
					F	Regula	ar					M	aximu	ım		
					20				BEV					/ 1.1		BEV
	Ν	ISM		Gas		nesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric		Gas		Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal					<									
ont	McPh	Transversal					×									
Fre	-Link	Longitudinal					<									
	Multi	Transversal					×									
	erson	Longitudinal					×									
ear	McPh	Transversal					×									
Re	-Link	Longitudinal					×									
	Multi	Transversal					×									

Figure H.8: Resulting vehicle architectures for the Hyundai loniq

							N	ИВС	Clas	s – S	tage	1				
					F	Regula	ar					М	aximu	ım		
					ICEV		/ 1-1-1	ПΕΛ	BEV					/ _!!!	ΠΕΛ	BEV
	Ν	ISM	Ċ	Gas	- i	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric		Gas	- C	Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
out	McPh	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
Fro	-Link	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
	lerson	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
ear	McPh	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
Å	i-Link	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			

							N	ИВС∙	Clas	s – S	tage	2				
					F	Regula	ar					М	aximu	ım		
					ICEV		/ 14		BEV					/ _! !	НΕΛ	BEV
	Ν	ISM	Ċ	as ا	- i	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric		Gas	, C	Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
ont	McPh	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
Fro	-Link	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
	lerson	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
ear	McPh	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
R	i-Link	Longitudinal		~	~	~					~		~			
	Multi	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			

Figure H.9: Resulting vehicle architectures for the Mercedes-Benz C-Class

							N	∕IB E∙	Clas	s – S	tage	1				
					F	Regula	ar					М	aximu	Im		
									BEV			ICEV			ПΕV	BEV
	Ν	ISM	Ċ	Gas	-	Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric		Gas	ļ	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
ont	McPh	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
Fro	-Link	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
	erson	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
ear	McPh	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
Re	i-Link	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal		×		X					×		×			

							I	ΛB E∙	Clas	s – S	tage	2				
					F	Regula	ar					М	aximu	ım		
					20				BEV					/ 14		BEV
	Ν	ISM	(as ت		Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric		242		Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
ont	McPh	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
Fro	-Link	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
	Multi-	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
	erson	Longitudinal		×		×					×		×			
ear	McPh	Transversal		×		×					×		×			
Re	i-Link	Longitudinal		~		X					~		~			
	Multi	Transversal		×		×					×		×			

Figure H.10: Resulting vehicle architectures for the Mercedes-Benz E-Class

							F	Renau	ult Zo	e – S	tage	1				
					F	Regula	ar					M	aximu	ım		
					ICEV				BEV			ICEV				BEV
	Ν	ISM		Gas		Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric		Gas		Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal														
ont	McPh	Transversal							X							
Frc	-Link	Longitudinal														
	Multi	Transversal							×							
	lerson	Longitudinal														
ear	McPh	Transversal														
Å	i-Link	Longitudinal							-							
	Multi	Transversal														

Figure H.11: Resulting vehicle architectures for the Renault Zoe

							Vol	kswa	gen (Golf -	- Stag	ge 1				
					F	Regula	ar					M	aximu	ım		
					ICEV		/ 11-1	НΕΛ	BEV			ICEV		11-11	пεν	BEV
	Ν	ISM	l	പട		Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric		Gas		Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal	\checkmark	×	>	×			-	×	×	×	×			
out	McPh	Transversal	X	×	×	×			~	~	×	×	×			
Fro	-Link	Longitudinal	~	×	~	×			-	×	×	×	×			
	Multi	Transversal	×	×	×	×			~	×	×	×	×			
	lerson	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×			-	×	×	×	×			
ear	McPh	Transversal	×	×	×	×				×	×	×	×			
Å	-Link	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×				×	×	×	×			
	Multi	Transversal	×	×	×	×				×	×	×	×			

							Vol	kswa	igen (Golf -	- Sta	ge 2				
					F	Regula	ar					M	aximu	ım		
				Î. Î	ICEV		/ 111		BEV					/ 111	ЛЕЛ	BEV
	Ν	ISM	Ċ	as)	- i	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric	Ċ	പട		Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal	~	×	~	×			-	×	×	×	×			
ont	McPh	Transversal	X	~	~	~			~	~	~	~	~			
Fro	-Link	Longitudinal	~	×	~	×				×	×	×	×			
	Multi	Transversal	×	×	×	×			~	×	×	×	×			
	lerson	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×			-	×	×	×	×			
ear	McPh	Transversal	×	×	×	×				×	×	×	×			
Å	-Link	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×			-	×	×	×	×			
	Multi	Transversal	×	×	×	×				×	×	×	×			

Figure H.12: Resulting vehicle architectures for the Volkswagen Golf

							Volk	swag	en P	assat	– Sta	age 1				
					F	Regula	ar					М	aximu	ım		
							/ 1-1-1	ПΕV	BEV					/ _!!!	ΠΕΛ	BEV
	Ν	ISM	Ċ	Gas	-	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric		Gas	ļ	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
ont	McPh	Transversal	~	×	~	×					×		×			
Fro	-Link	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
	lerson	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
ear	McPh	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
Å	-Link	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			

							Volk	swag	en Pa	assat	– Sta	age 2				
					F	Regula	ar					M	aximu	Im		
							/ 14	ПΕΛ	BEV					/ 11	ЛЕЛ	BEV
	Ν	ISM	Ċ	പട		Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric		Gas		Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
ont	McPh	Transversal	>	~	~	~					~		X			
Fre	-Link	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
	lerson	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
ear	McPh	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
Å	i-Link	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			

Figure H.13: Resulting vehicle architectures for the Volkswagen Passat

							Volk	swag	en Ti	guan	– Sta	age 1				
					F	Regula	ar					M	aximu	ım		
					ICEV		/ 11-1	ПΕΛ	BEV			201		11-11	НΕΛ	BEV
	Ν	ISM	Ċ	പട	-	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric		Gas		Diesei	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal	~	~	>	>					>		×			
out	McPh	Transversal	>	~	~	X					~		×			
Fre	-Link	Longitudinal	~	~	>	~					~		×			
	Multi	Transversal	~	×	×	×					×		×			
	lerson	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
ear	McPh	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
Å	i-Link	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			

							Volk	swag	en Ti	guan	– Sta	age 2	:			
					F	Regula	ar					М	aximu	Im		
				Ĺ	ICEV				BEV					/ 14		BEV
	Ν	ISM	Ċ	as ا	, C	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric	Ċ	പട	, C	Diesel	Gas	Diesel	Electric
			Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Manual	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic	Automatic
	erson	Longitudinal	~	~	~	~					~		~			
ont	McPh	Transversal	~	~	~	X					~		~			
Fre	-Link	Longitudinal	~	~	~	>					~		>			
	Multi	Transversal	>	×	×	×					×		×			
	lerson	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
ear	McPh	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
Å	i-Link	Longitudinal	×	×	×	×					×		×			
	Multi	Transversal	×	×	×	×					×		×			

Figure H.14: Resulting vehicle architectures for the Volkswagen Tiguan